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Dedication

I owe much to Father Richard Gregoire, to Alfred McEwan and
to Onufrey Klukewich, all from Meacham, Saskatchewan. With-
out their moral and material support, [ would never have been
able to complete grades nine through twelve, or Normal School,
during those difficult days of the Great Depression. They stood
by me, and to these three **heroes’” I will forever be thankful.

[ was fortunate to have been blessed with an older brother,
John. and an older sister, Doris. who often denied themselves the
meagre comforts they could have enjoyed in order to give me their
hard-carned pennics, which sustained me throughout my school-
ing.

I can never fully express what | feel towards my widowed
mother. She lived only for her children. The father I never knew
inspired me to do all that [ could for the Ukrainian people. Both
of them left me with a legacy which | hope | have at least partially
tulfilled.

Most of all I thank Anne, my wife. As club director of the
ucsa Services Club, she helped to make that chapter of this rem-
iniscence our story, even before we were marricd. Later she
rcturned to Europe with our relief mission to share the burden of
doing all we could to save the displaced. She knows best what we
faced together in those days and since, and she has had to put up
with the most. No man could have been more fortunate in having
a helper and partner as faithful and devoted as she. Without her,
this memoir would never have seen the light of day.

G.R.B.P.
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Preface

Ethnocultural Voices is a collection of reasonably priced publi-
cations, including memoirs, diarics, autobiographies, reminis-
cences and other sources which contribute to our understanding
of the immigrant and ethnic experience in Ontario.

The series is a joint effort of the Multicultural History Soci-
ety of Ontario and the Ontario Heritage Foundation and reflects
our commitment to increase public awareness of the diverse origins
and past of Ontano’s people, encourage scholarly study of eth-
nocultural history and foster an ethos of multiculturalism among
Ontarians of every origin and background.

At first glance, Bohdan Panchuk’s story does not seem rele-
vant to Ontario’s history. He was bomn and raised in the Ukrainian
communities of the western Prairies and spent most of his active
career working in Montreal and Great Britain on behalf of Ukrain-
ian rcfugees and Canadian Ukrainian organizations. However, it
was Bohdan Panchuk, more than any other Canadian Ukrainian,
who alerted his countrymen to the plight of their fellows in Europe.
Thousands of Ontarians of Ukrainian descent and their children
who read these reminiscences will gain new insight into the initi-
atives and agencies which brought them to our province. Others
will understand how Panchuk and his friends turned their sense of
ethnic solidarity and of humanity into deeds which saved many
pps from repatriation to the Soviet Union.

Despite the imperatives of ethnic fellow feeling and human-
itarianism, both the Canadian Ukrainian rescue effort and the
attempts of the Ukrainian refugees to organize their own future
were beset by factionalism and the misunderstandings which nat-
urally arise among people who share ethnicity but not a common
history. The jungle of agencies, political movements, umbrella
organizations and their accompanying acronyms divide Canadian
Ukrainians less today than they once did. but they should be seen
not just as reflecting conflict but as a sign of the vitality and com-



mitment to survival of the ethnic group. Catholic, Orthodox and
leftist free thinker, Canadian and European, men and women from
East Ukraine or from Galicia, Bukovina and the Carpathians,
Waffen ss men and Allied soldiers — it was within such a welter
of conflicting Ukrainian sub-identities and loyalties that Bohdan
Panchuk and his friends worked to save lives, reconstitutc fami-
lies, bring refugees to Canada and find the networks of aid and
goodwill which might forge a new Canadian Ukrainian identity.
The task was formidable and neither all the Canadian Ukrainian
leadership nor those among the pps who saw themselves as
emigrés, or as part of a nation in exile, shared his approach. Pan-
chuk’s reminiscences then are his own.

Others who took an active role in the rescue effort, many of
them mentioned in these pages, should be interviewed, their
thoughts and memories recorded. Only from such a total effort to
reconstitute the past will historians in the future be able to under-
stand this important phase of Canadian and Ukrainian history.
Often when a memoirist gives his version of forgotten events,
there is little documentary material preserved to say him nay or to
confirm his interpretation. That is not so in this case. The Panchuk
reminiscences appear in conjunction with the donation of his mas-
sive collection of archival and historical materials about the period
to the Multicultural History Society of Ontario for deposit in the
Archives of Ontario.

Lubomyr Luciuk, the interviewer of Mr. Panchuk and editor
with him of the tape transcripts, is completing a doctoral disser-
tation in Human Geography at the University of Alberta. He is
himselt an expert on the wave of Ukrainian immigration covered
by these reminiscences and knows the documentation in the Pan-
chuk collection. He has provided the necessary gloss to the text,
but has wisely let the author speak for himself.

Robert F. Harney



Introduction

World War Two precipitated fundamental geopolitical realign-
ments in Europe, which left in their wake just over thirty million
people uprooted and displaced from their homelands. Specialized
international agencies were formed, even before hostilities ended,
to cope with this emerging refugee problem. One of the first was
the United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration
(UNRRA). lts mandate included providing the Displaced Persons
(ops) with foodstuffs, shelter and other emergency supplies, while
working in tandem with those military and occupation administra-
tions being set up in the ruins of the Third Reich whose purpose
it was to ensure an orderly removal of these refugees back to their
countries of origin. At the time it was routinely assumed that repa-
triating these pps was the only viable solution to the immense
refugee problem, that indeed this option was cven in keeping with
the wishes of the people themselves.

Yet, the root causes of any refugee phenomenon are always
of a political nature. UNRRA soon found itself entangled in complex
debates over the fate of those pps who were unwilling to return to
their homelands. In accord with the terms of the Yalta Agreement,
the Soviet Union and its eastern European satellites demanded that
all persons they claimed as their citizens be returned, regardless
of the personal aspirations of the individuals concerned. Most
Western countries. informed by their humane tradition of asylum,
suggested that those refusing repatriation 1o their areas of origin
be offered the prospect of emigration to whatever countries of
resettlement became available.

While the protagonists worked out their differences of inter-
pretation, in the immediate postwar years of 1945, 1946 and even
into early 1947, hundreds of thousands of pps and political refu-
gees suffered the tragic fate of being forcibly repatriated to the
ussk. Eventually, with the establishment of the International Re-
fugee Organization dro) in July 1947, these involuntary popula-

13



tion transfers declined. Resettlement became the more common
solution to the remaining refugee problem. and so, by mid-1947,
thousands of DPs were journeying overseas, to North and South
America and any other lands willing to accept them.

Within the overall pp population of postwar Europe, one esti-
mate placed the total number of Ukrainians at some two million
people. Al least thirty to forty thousand of these were eventually
allowed to settle in Canada. They came from all regions of Ukraine,
a land which, prior to 1939, had been dismembered. then occu-
picd by four powers—Soviet Russia, Poland, Romania and Hun-
gary. Most Ukrainians in the br camps carried passports or other
identity documents which formally assigned them citizenship sta-
tus in one of these four states—or else they were labelled *‘State-
less’’ or **Unknown.'’ The Ukrainians made it clear, however,
that they wanted to be described and treated as Ukrainians. What
were the UNRRA and later the 1RO tcams to do with a pecople whose
identity and area of origin were debatable—no matter what the
Ukrainian pps might themselves claim—and whose existence as a
nation Western governments were rather reluctant to recognize?
For officialdom the matter grew more complicated when it became
increasingly clear that few of thosc describing themselves as
Ukrainians were willing to return voluntarily to territories under
Soviet hegemony. Since there were likely more Ukrainians within
the overall refugee population in Europe than any other ethnic
group, the question of determining who these Ukrainians were,
what they wanted and what could be done with them took on
considerable importance.

Fortuitously for the Ukrainian pps and political refugees, there
had been some forty thousand Canadian Ukrainians in the Cana-
dian armed forces during World War Two. They had demon-
strated their loyalty to a country where there had been those who
doubted it. so now they demanded to be heard in the council cham-
bers of the West whenever issues having to do with Ukraine arose.
Since many of them had encountered Ukrainian pps even before
the war ended, 1.e., Mr. Panchuk on the beaches of Normandy,
they were well aware of the scale and importance of the Ukrainian
refugee problem, and were not about to ignore it. Publicly, they
insisted that these people were ideal immigrants whom Western
countries should welcome with open arms as settlers of the best
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possible quality. Privately, they hoped that an intlux of Ukrainian
nps would strengthen the somewhat precarious existence of orga-
nized Ukrainian life in countries like Canada. So motivated, these
Canadians began their own refugee relief and resettlement oper-
ations. By presenting the official authorities with a fait accompli
they were able to avoid the censure that such private initiatives
might otherwise have met.

One of thc most prominent of these Canadian Ukrainian ser-
vicemen was Gordon Richard Bohdan Panchuk. The son of
Ukrainian pioneers to Canada, this hardworking and dedicated
activist within the ranks of the Ukrainian Orthodox church move-
ment had been a teacher in rural Saskatchewan before the war. He
had volunteered for service shortly after the outbreak of war in
1939. Once posted to the United Kingdom, he established contact
with the small colony of Ukrainians in Manchester, around whose
Ukrainian Social Club he helped form the Ukrainian Canadian
Servicemen's Association (ucsa). Its London club at 218 Sussex
Gardens became something of a home away from home for the
thousands of Canadian Ukrainian servicemen who were posted
overseas. Subsequently—although not without some friction
developing—Mr. Panchuk used this vcsa core 10 create a new
organization, the Central Ukrainian Relief Bureau (cURB), which
by late 1945 had initiated its refugee relicf operations on the Con-
tinent. Later it would be complimented by the Canadian Relief
Mission for Ukrainian Refugees (cRM—together the (two were
pivotal in ameliorating the often desperate situation in which some
Ukrainian pps found themselves.

The story of Mr. Panchuk’s efforts overseas occupies most
of the account which follows. This is neither Mr. Panchuk's auto-
biography, nor is it a complete story of Canadian Ukrainian ref-
ugee relief work. Only certain episodes and events have been
recalled, providing a skeletal outline of what occurred during these
momentous years. It must be emphasized that this is Mr. Pan-
chuk’s interpretation of these events—different perspectives would
most likely be forthcoming from others active in the etfort, such
as Stanley Frolick, Ann Crapleve, Anthony Yaremovich and Anne
Wasylyshen. The immediate postwar years were turbulent and
there were contentious moments—some of these have been all but
forgotten, others have yet to be forgiven. It is to Mr. Panchuk’s
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credit that he has not attempted to avoid discussing these prob-
lems, for by so doing he has provided grist for many scholars’
mills. Very possibly the publication of this, his own views on the
immediate postwar period, will prompt some of the others involved
in those events to offer their own descriptions. If this occurs, the
present book will have accomplished much for Canadian Ukrain-
ian history.

What follows are the edited transcripts of interviews | held
with Mr. Panchuk over the past three years. during the course of
my doctoral research. Since these reminiscences are largely self-
explanatory, only brief and occasional footnotes have been added.
I have not altered Mr. Panchuk's version of the events here
described even when my own research has led me to different
conclusions. The selection of documents and photographs was
done with a view to illustrating some of the activities Mr. Panchuk
refers to, while adding substance to his assertions.

These recollections serve at least one further purpose. Mr.
Panchuk, aware of the fact that may students of the Canadian
Ukrainian experience have been hampered in their inquiries
because of the inaccessibility of primary source materials, entered
into an agreement with the Multicultural History Society of Ontario
in December 1980. Through the good offices of this organization,
he arranged to have his voluminous private collection of archival
material—memoranda, reports, correspondence, organizational
records and minutes of meetings, photographs, even film—trans-
ferred to the Archives of Ontario in Toronto. A preliminary find-
ing aid for this, **The Gordon R. Bohdan Panchuk Collection,™
was prepared in October 1982 by Messrs. Jurij Serhijczuk and
Zenowij Zwarycz. Scholars are likely to discover that this archival
material constitutes one of the most significant deposits of mate-
rial pertaining to the Ukrainian Dp experience in existence.

Following the May 29, 1946 meeting of the Senate Standing
Committec on Immigration and Labour, the Canadian govern-
ment decided to alter its policy and allow Ukrainian pps to immi-
grate into this country. Dr. Vladimir Kaye (Kisilewsky), a prom-
inent Canadian Ukrainian historian, wrote o his friend, Tracy
Philipps (an enigmatic Englishman who did much to force the
crcation of a Ukrainian Canadian Committee in 1940) that Mr.
Panchuk's role in prompting this change had earned him the right
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to be considered **the hero of the day.’” When Mr. Panchuk was
reminded of this letter, he immediately insisted that such praise
was not for him alone—that it befitted alf those Canadian Ukrain-
ians who tried to help the Ukrainian pps, both during and after
World War Two. From that observation came the title for this
book.

A few words of gratitude. My original contact with Mr. Pan-
chuk came through Mrs. Rozalia Charitoniuk of Kingston, Ontario.
When she first mentioned Mr. Panchuk to me, | had little idea of
what his role in Canadian Ukrainian history had been. After I met
him. and many of the others who had been involved in CURB, CRM
and affiliated groups, it became apparent that a major episode in
Canadian Ukrainian history had been all but ignored.

Many others helped see this project through to completion. |
wish to thank: Andriy Bandera, Bill Daly, Mr. T. Danyliw. Mr.
S.W. Frolick, Qc¢. Dr. O. Fundak, Dr. Michael Kapusta, Profes-
sor Leszek Kosinski, Miss Helen Kozicky, Martin LaVoie, Jacques
and Debbie Litalien, Dr. Michael Lucyk. Dr. Manoly Lupul, Dave
Mason, Bernie and Margaret Mullen, Stephen Pawluk. General
Joseph Romanow, George Salsky. Rev. S. Sawchuk. Mrs. Ann
Smith, sM, Dr. Peter Smylski, Megan Stephenson, Mrs. Anne
Wasylyshen. Anthony Yaremovich and Stephan Yaworsky.

I would also like to thank Professor Robert F. Harney of the
Multicultural History Society of Ontario, who originally urged me
to pursue this effort; Annc McCarthy, the Society's associate edi-
tor, who brought order to my interview transcripts; and Yurij
Luhovy, who assisted in preparing the photographic material. My
own support was provided for by a Social Sciences and Humani-
ties Research Council of Canada Doctoral Fellowship and the
Samuel P. Woloshyn Memorial Award from the St. John's Insti-
tute in Edmonton.

Finally, I wish to thank Mr. and Mrs. Panchuk. It is fitting
that the son of two Ukrainian refugees of the post-World War Two
years should have played a small role in helping Mr. Panchuk tell
his story. 1 hope that by doing so [ have given him an indication
of the thanks that many undoubtedly feel is due him for his labours
and dedication.

L.ubomyr Y. Luciuk
Daoctoral Candidate
University of Alberta






Abbreviations

AlLGB
AULC
BUC
CCG
CRM

CURB
CUYA
Dyviziia
Halvchvna
EVW
FUGB
IGCR

IRO

LVU
ODUM
OUN
OUNT

OUNS

PCIRO

Plast
SEP
SHAEF
SUM
SUZERO

ucce

UCRE
UCSA
UCVA

Association of Ukrainians in Great Britain

Association ot United Ukrainian Canadians

Brotherhood of Ukrainian Catholics

Control Commission for Germany

Canadian Relief Mission for Ukrainian Refugees (also known
as Canadian Relief Mission for Ukrainian Victims of War)
Central Ukrainian Reliet Burcau

Canadian Ukrainian Youth Association

The Ukrainian Division **Galicia™

European Volunteer Worker

Federation of Ukrainians in Great Britain
Intergovernmental Committee on Refugees

International Refugee Organization

Canadian Leaguc for the Liberation of Ukraine
Organization of Democratic Ukrainian Youth

Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists

Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists—Revolutionarics
(also known as the Banderivisi, or followers of the OUN of
Stc pan Bandcra)

Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists—Solidarists (also
known as the Melnvkivesi, or followers of the ouN of Col.
A. Melnyk)

Preparatory Commission for the International Refugee
Organization

Ukrainian Youth Association—Plast

Surrendered Enemy Personnel

Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force
Ukrainian Youth Association

Ukrainian Association of Victims of Russian Communist
Terror

Ukrainian Canadian Committee

Ukrainian Canadian Relief Fund

Ukrainian Canadian Servicemen's Association

Ukrainian Canadian Veterans' Association
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LCYO
LHO
UHVR
ULFTA

UNDO
UNF-
UNRRA
UNRada
UPA
URDP
USRL
UUARC
UwWlL,
UWVA
YUN

WBA

Ukrainian Catholic Youth Organization

United Hetman Organization (also known as the Hetmantsi)
Supreme Ukrainian Liberation Council

Ukrainian Labour and Farmer Temple Association (later
ALUCQ)

Ukrainian National Democratic Alliance

Ukrainian National Federation

United Nations Rclict and Rchabilitation Administration
Ukrainian National Council

Ukrainian Insurgent Army

Ukrainian Revolutionary Democratic Party

Ukrainian Self Reliance League

United Ukrainian American Relief Committee

Ukrainian Workers™ League

Ukrainian War Veterans™ Association

Young Ukrainian Nationalists (later Ukrainian National
Youth Federation)

Workers' Benevolent Association



Reminiscences

The Roots of My Involvement

My story really begins with my father Michael Panchuk. He was
born in 1862 in Torhowytsia, a village in the Horodenka area of
West Ukraine. I never really knew him. He died on June 24,
1915—1less than five months after [ was born—of asthma I think.
My mother's maiden name was Maria Bowkowa. Both of them
emigrated (o Canada before World War One—he in 1913, she in
1914. He came here first (o establish a homestead, build a little
hut for his wife and children. After he made a little money he sent
it back to them so that they could join him in Saskatchewan—my
mother, my elder brother John and my elder sister Doris (she was
the oldest in the family). They came to Canada in the fall of 1914,
just prior to the outbreak of the war.

My father meant to farm here, but he was never really a
farmer. He was an intellectual. He was the kind of person who
studied and supported Mychajlo Drahomanow' and Ivan Franko®
and their teachings and philosophies. He was involved with the
radical movement which had dedicated itself to the cultural and
intellectual revival of Ukraine. In fact. it is probably true to say
that he came here only because he could not continue working for
this cause in Ukraine. He could continue it here. He took a home-
stead near Peterson, Saskatchewan because that was the best way
of establishing himself as a citizen of Canada. But, to be honest,
he was never a farmer, nor did he really have much of a chance

1. Professor Mychajlo Drahomanow, born September 6, 1841, was a Ukrainian
publicist and a leading member of the socialist movement.

2. lvan Franko, publicist and Ukrainian activist. was a founding member of the
Ukrainian Radical Party in 1891,
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to become one here. He was an educated man, for that period of
time, one of those who had been in the SITCH in West Ukraine. As
[ say, his ctforts were all dedicated towards trying to improve the
lot of the Ukrainian people in the homeland. The sitTCH movement
was headed by Dr. Kyrylo Trylowsky.' It was my father’s exam-
ple that later inspired me to do all I could for the Ukrainian cause.

My mother was uneducated. She could neither read nor write.
(Up until her death, she still signed her name with her mark +.)
Spiritually, however, she was totally devoted to my father. He did
all he could to teach and inspire her to learn more. She lcarned
parts tfrom Ukrainian plays and operas that she could not read but
that he taught her. She certainly tried hard to educate herself in
Canada, and she used us, her children, to help her. She did a
wonderful job educating herself and us and instilling in us respect
tfor education.

Two children came with my mother to Canada. 1 was born
after they arrived, and five months after my birth my father died.
It was a hard life in Saskatchewan, and my mother had to make
ends meet somehow. She had to run the family, she now had three
children to care for. Somehow or other—I"m not aware of the
details—she was contacted, or she met a man who had come from
a neighbouring village in western Ukraine—John Badyk from
Toporiwtsi, not far from where my parents were born and reared.
So my mother re-married—in common law since there were no
priests or churches at that time in our part of Saskatchewan. Badyk
was alone, she was alone—and so they came together in common
law. As a result of that, we had two brothers and two sisters added
to our family. There were four Badyks—Anne, Fred, William
(Bill) and the last, Paulinc. As far as we were concerned. they
were blood relations, and we got along very well as one family,
and still do. For a while they became Panchuks, but as grew up
they wanted to revert back to Badyk. And we agreed with them.
So now when [ visit my brother, Bill, or Fred, I'm a Panchuk,
and they’re Badyks, but we are brothers.

I. Dr. iyrylo Trylowsky founded the paramilitary SITCH organization in 1900,
which formed a core around which Ukrainian military forces were built up
during World War One, He was also a correspondent for Sveboda (Freedom).
He died in 1941,
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John Badyk was also a farmer. He moved from his first
homestead in the Colonsay area to another right next 1o ours. A
time came when he and my mother couldn’t see eye-to-eye. So
each had their own farm there in Saskatchewan, side by side. We
had my father’s original homestead—the registration of which
was transferred to my mother—so when they separated, my mother
had a placc of her own to go to. The children went with her. My
stepfather was Killed in an accident about 1936, kicked to death
by a horse. So my half-brothers and half-sisters know almost as
little of their father as | know of my own. Again my mother was
left a widow, only now with seven children. carrying the load for
both husbands. Somchow she made do. She died on December 3,
1956 and was buricd in Saskatoon.

As for religion, well, my father was probably an agnostic.
Originally in the old country, both my parents were Greek Cath-
olics (Uniate), but they had become radical already in West
Ukraine. My mother less so because she was not literatc. Both
tended to accept the “‘anti-clerical™* stance taken by the radicals
of that period. When they first came to Canada the strongest reli-
gious group in that part of Saskatchcwan was the Independant
Orthodox Church movement.' The farm my stepfather bought next
to ours was orniginally settled by Reverend Zazulak, one of that
church’s ministers. In fact. their first church was to have been
built on our farm, but because of registration difficulties and delays,
it was built on a neighbouring farm. now owned by John Polis-
chuk. ncxt to where the first cemetery was, now abandoned. (That
is where both my father, Michael Panchuk, and my stepfather are
buricd.) Of course, there was also a tremendously strong Protes-
tant missionary drive among Ukrainians, right across Canada,
especially in western Canada. They set up all kinds of first insti-
tutions—churches, schools and community centres—supposedly
to salvage Christian and cultural lives. Some Ukrainians resisted
them. They felt this drive was assimilating them too much.

I. Bishop Scraphim organized an Independent Orthodox Church in Canada in
1903, with the aid of the Presbyterians. His activities were considered to be
tendentious within Ukrainian church circles in Canada.
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Our Area
My district in Saskatchewan was almost entircly Ukrainian,
although by convention and conviction there were different types
or subgroups within this Ukrainian population. Differences among
them developed further as time went on. In the beginning though,
when Ukrainians first started settling in Canada after 1891, they
took the first piece of land that was available, as long as it was the
closest to a brother. a sister, or an aunt, or some relative. That
was the way people settled. All they wanted to do was be close to
a neighbour who was also Ukrainian and. if possible, from the
same village. That's all they wanted.

The first thing that I recall was, of course, going to school.
My eldest sister took me to school. | didn't have any idea what to
expect. And the name of the school was **Drahomanow.”" Now
why that school was named Drahomanow, I didn’t know until
much later. I don’t think my sister knew either. Likely my father
had a say in that. Our community of Ukrainians appreciated the
three great intellectual leaders of the Ukrainian cultural movement
of that time, namely, Drahomanow, Franko and Shevchenko. In
every home, wherever they could, people hung pictures of Dra-
homanow, Franko and Shevchenko,' ans they were followers of
one or the other, or all three. As a result the small Ukrainian
communities in Saskatchewan came together and built schools
and community halls and named them Shevchenko, Franko, or
Drahomanow. Or course, in some locations such halls, commu-
nity centres, or schools were also named after the villages or arcas
of Ukraine from which the locals came. The buildings and their
names reflected these people’s Ukrainian commitment. How
intense these national feclings were, how deep the ideological
differences among them were, | can’t really recall. We children
knew that on onc weekend we would be going to the Franko Hall,
on the next weekend to the Shevchenko Hall and on the next
weekend to the Drahomanow School for a concert. But the ideo-
logical programs for Ukrainians, represented by each name, were
beyond us.

I. Taras Shevchenko (1814-61), known as the **bard of Ukraine,”” was a poct,
writer and painter whose patriotic insights helped revive Ukrainian national
aspirations during the late nincteenth century.
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I became aware of some of the differences early though. as
a child of ten or twelve years, driving to a concert organized in
memory of Shevchenko, naturally being held in the Shevchenko
Hall. We went by horse-drawn bob-sled. We attended a dance
after that—my father and mother were not around, so | went with
my brother and sister. We went on our own. played it by ear,
enjoyed what was good and reflected negatively on what was bad.

The difterences between the three groups are hard to present
now. The Shevchenko people—and this, incidentally, is also
reflected in eastern Canada, such as in Montreal where they also
had Shevchenko, Franko and Drahomanow societies—were
patriotic supporters of the idea of an independent Ukraine. The
Franko group was likely semi-socialist radical. The Drahomanow
group was more socialistic and inclined to see a federal relation-
ship with Russia. Those people who believed that society belongs
to everybody followed the Drahomanow group. There was no
strong religious connection to these things. If anything, and this
is putting it mildly. the Shevchenko were more religious—either
Ukrainian Orthodox or Catholic—while the radicals were agnos-
tic, and the Drahomanow group was probably disintcrested in reli-
gious qucstions.

The local Drahomanow School 1 attended had been orga-
nized by Ukrainian settlers in 1911, and they insisted that when
they got their permit from the government, they would run the
show. So it was that the school was run by them. | do not think
there has ever been a teacher in the Drahomanow School who was
not a Ukrainian. All teaching was in English during regular hours,
but there was extra Ukrainian-language teaching after hours.
**After four™ they called it. Of course, it was a regular, official
Saskatchewan Department of Education school. And the teachers
had to do their instruction in English or be reprimanded. But the
school board insisted that, if a teacher was hired, he would have
to do Ukrainian instruction after hours. In our school then there
were no non-Ukrainians. So the teacher had to be fluent in Ukrain-
1an. It was about the only way he could communicate. He would
often have 10 speak in Ukrainian even while giving an official
lesson, just to get a point across. One teacher [ remember was
Paul Syraishka, another was Andrew GG. Pawlik, who still resides
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in Winnipeg and is now president of the Trident Publishing Com-
pany, which publishes Ukrainski Holos (Ukrainian Voice) and
Kanadiiskyi Farmer (Canadian Farmer). He was my teacher when
[ was in grade six. There were many others, all of whom [ dont
now recall except for N.F. Calmuskey, C. Nowalkowsky and
Michael Stolabisky. Teachers often changed every few months.
So that in 1926, for instance, we had three different teachers. the
last being Mr. Pawlik.

There was no outside world for us. Our own world was very
closed—it was the only one we knew. We were so removed! This
was the early twenties—our world was Ukrainian. We did what
we did in our own way, in the way we felt like doing it. We were
all the same, basically one single Ukrainian community, joined
together by the bonds of national identity and especially by a shared
language. We lived Ukrainian. We played ball and hockey and
cheered in Ukrainian. The language kept us together more than
anything else. We sang folk-songs together we had all learned in
the same language, and during the holidays we sang Christmas or
Easter carols. Everything we did in daily life was permeated with
this sense of being Ukrainian, even though we were living in Can-
ada.

The outside, non-Ukrainian world crept in only in the mid
1930s when such newspapers as the Winnipeg Free Press. the
Prairie Farmer, the Western Producer and the Eaton’s and Simp-
son’s catalogues became more commonly available; those, in
effect, became the **bibles’ for the people who could read Eng-
lish. That is when we really became more fully aware that there
was an outside world that was very different from our own. We,
the young people, read the letters to the cditor published in these
papers. and especially the comic strips, also in such papers as the
Chicago Herald and Tribune and Examiner. Our parents didn’t
care. So as far as we were concerned—as | was—the comic strips,
letters ans short stories were the most interesting. There were no
radios around at that time in our area. I was a teenager when |
listened to my first crystal set. Most of the news we already got
from Ukrainian newspapers. In our area, at that time, the majority
read Ukrainski Holos, perhaps before that Kanadiiskyi Farmer.
After that there were two or three publications put out by the
Ukrainian communists in Winnipeg—Farmerske Zhvttia (Farm-
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er's Lite), Robitnychi Visti (Worker's News) and Robitnyisia
(Female Worker) came regularly. The first two were weekly
newspapers and the women’s magazine was a monthly. They must
have been free. for I never recall our family paying subscriptions.
We were much too poor to be able to subscribe to any kind of
ncwspaper. These left-wing publications were the most common
in our area without any doubt. The local people were mostly peas-
ants, farmers and workers, and they were mostly leftist. I think
that if things had gone differently, if my father had lived, he would
have moved farther in that direction, towards the left-wing in
Canadian Ukrainian politics. I had an uncle, Ivan Panchuk, in
Saskatoon whom I met ten or fifteen years afterwards when [ went
to Normal School there, and he was as left as you can make them.

At the time there were no regular Ukrainian church services
in our area because there were no churches. (Our neighbour, Rev-
erend Zazulak of the Independent Orthodox Church, christened
me. The church itself lasted only a few years. It was sold by the
lumber yard owner in Dana to pay the debt on the lumber the
people bought on credit to build the church.) There were only
irregular Protestant, I think they were Methodist. sermons given
by occasional itinerant missionaries. No Ukrainian Orthodox or
Catholic churches existed—one would have to look into our church
history in Canada. There were a few followers of Bishop Sera-
phim around: there seemed to be so many movements after the
souls of people then, it is now impossible to analyse them all. But
certainly. in our case, there was no national Ukrainian church. Up
until I left high school I had never been inside a church.

In my rural arca it depended on whose neighbour you were
whether you called yourself a Ruthenian or Ukrainian.' Qur next-
door neighbour, Polischuk, came from East Ukraine. The family
considered themselves closer to the Russian ethnic group than we
did. We felt more akin to the people of the Carpathian Mountains,
the Hutsul mountaineers. So when we would meet the Polischuks,
which happened almost every day, we were convinced that they
were Muscovites or Russians. while they considered us Hutsuls.

1. The term **Ruthenian’ was commonly used before World War One to denote
Ukrainians. The latter appellation became more common after the appearance
of Ukrainski Holos, published in Winnipeg from 1910.
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In these interwar years, there were few of us in the community
who had done enough reading and thinking about nationality; most
were, after all, illiterate. People only gradually coalesced under
the name Ukraiman. As we grew up, so did this Ukrainian con-
sciousness.

I have gone back to my home town since the war, and many
of the people are still as parochial and obstinant as their parents
were when I was growing up there. One of my contemporaries
later became the principal of the Drahomanow School, but noth-
ing changed. He's still there. Intermarriages occurred and helped
to iron out what differences there were and make people more
conscious of their common Ukrainian identity. But, you see, the
tragedy of Canada and of our Ukrainian cause here was that many
of our people left the rural districts and moved into the cities. We
lost most of our roots on the land. As this happened. the bloc
settlements disappcared and with them the social, cultural and
economic bases of our Ukrainian way of life here. The new urban
environment where most Ukrainians now live is so different from
that in which I was raised. Now, of course. everyone is conscious
of being a Ukrainian—no one calls himself a Ruthenian anymore.
Yet | wonder what etfect there will be in the long run on Ukrain-
lans in Canada who no longer live side by side, bur are dispersed
throughout the cities? Our Ukrainian landscape in Canada is all
but gone now.

School Days

I went to school eight miles south of Meacham, Drahomanow
School, District #2501. It was in the year 1928, roughly, when |
left grade six. Grades seven and eight were senior grades, but by
that time my sister Doris was working as a maid in a hotel in
Saskatoon. She took me to the city and shared her quarters with
me. So I did grades seven and cight there. I went to the Princess
Alexandra School, a public city school. My sister also arranged
for me to take violin lessons. We all learned to play various instru-
ments and had our own family orchestra. The Ukrainians there
were by tar in a minority, only two or three per cent. In the country
schools we were well prepared. so 1 went through both grades in
one year. | wasn’t too shocked by the switch from rural to urban
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living, although it was a completely different environment. I was
always a dreamer. I just took it in my stride.

After finishing both grades 1 went back home. My sister had
her own life and couldn’t keep me. She was the adult of the family
and helped by sending money back home. Our family was being
run by my mother, aided by my elder sister Doris and. to some
extent, by my brother John. So I went back (o the farm. But they
were convinced that [ should keep on going to school. We all
couldn’t go. We couldn’t afford it. 1 was chosen to continue with
my schooling. The family decided on this. They made arrange-
ments for me to go to school in Meacham. It was the only place
to go, being the nearest high school. So I did my post-elementary
in Meacham High School—grades nine, ten and eleven. My
teacher throughout those years was Mr. Bert Walsh. He taught all
four grades (eight to eleven), averaging a total of about twenty to
thirty students.

We survived away from the farm by working at anything and
through the help of other people, living wherever we could. We
did all sorts of things. It was very difficult during the Great
Depression, but we coped as best we could. In the summers my
brother John and I went out to work, cutting bush, building high-
ways, shooting gophers. There was a seven-cent bounty for cach
rodent destroyed, you had to bring in the tail as proof. We hunted
crows and collected their eggs. The bounty on crows was two
cents an egg, or five cents a leg. So you would wait for the eggs
to hatch, then sell their new-born legs to get the extra amount. We
collected empty beer bottles along Highway 2, which ran past our
farm, and sold them for five cents each. You did anything you
could because it was the only way to get the money to get the coal-
oil to keep the house lamps lit, or buy sugar for the Kitchen table
and contribute to the flour that my mother would have to buy once
a month to keep bread in the house.

No one else of the elders in my family really went to school
much beyond the seventh grade. My older brother went as far as
grade seven; my older sister got to grade five. Of my two younger
half-brothers and -sisters, two finished high school, and one of
these, Anne, became a school teacher with our help. Actually that
was already mostly with my help. When | had become a school
teacher myself, I helped the rest of the tamily get along.
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My last year at Meacham High School was the hardest. [ just
couldn’t find a place to live for free, and we had no money to pay
for accommodation. During my three high school years here. |
lived in about fifteen to twenty homes—in attics. back rooms,
usually sharing a bed with some boy in the family—a few months
here and a few months there, at the Dupchaks®. the Konovaletz”.
the Klukewichs™ and including one spring and autumn on the floor
in an abandoned shack on the Meacham nuisance grounds (where
all the garbage was dumped on the edge of the salt lake). My
family would bring me enough food for a week which [ ate cold.
a bit at a time, until [ finished it or it spoiled. There was no stove
and no washroom there. I washed and had water to drink when |
got to school where I went carly and stayed as long as possible. |
spent the longest time with Father Richard Gregoire at the vicar-
age. The deal was that my brother John would bring the priests
firewood for the winter if they would keep me. Meacham was a
prairic town and our homestead was on the edge of the wood belt.
Ukrainian farmers from the Meacham area used to come to our
place during the winter, cut their firewood—which we sold to
them at three to seven dollars a load on the stump. When Father
Richard was moved by his bishop to Saskatoon, he arranged for
me to remain in the vicarage, and | lived for a while with Fathers
Mulcahy, Jolly, Lemaire and Ash—rectors of St. Edward’s Roman
Catholic Church. I was **inherited’” by cach, like the furniture. |
lived with the priests and worked with Mr. McEwan in his lumber
yard.

After finishing grade eleven in Meacham in 1931, | went
back to Saskatoon. To get there my mother and [ travelled by
horse and buggy. I'll always remember that trip, travelling during
the day and sleeping in the open ficlds by the side of the road at
night. It took us four days to get to Saskatoon so that we could
make arrangements for me to take my grade twelve there. Grade
twelve was not oftered in Meacham. But during grades nine, ten
and eleven, | had made friends with people in Meacham. One of
them. at that time, was a most important citizen in Meacham—a
town of about 150-200 or so people—thc manager of the local
lumber yard, Mr. Alfred E. McEwan for whom [ had worked. He
had moved to Saskatoon where he became the proofreader for the
Saskatoon Star Phoenix. Because he was there and we had already
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become friends in Meacham, I had decided that I could count on
his help to put me through grade twelve.

When my mother and I got to Saskatoon, she went to her
friends to sleep overnight, and she did her business and I did mine.
[ went to the McEwans’ to see if I could live with them free of
charge if [ came back to do grade twelve. I really had no place to
sleep over that night, and I was too proud to ask the McEwans if
[ could spend the night with them, so | went back to the livery
barn where we had stabled our horse. But the barn was locked so
I crawled into the cylinder of an old steam engine where | spent
half the night. It was cold and windy, and about two or three
o'clock I had to get out and walk around. But | was scared the
police would arrest me for prowling as a horse thief, so I sneaked
into the railway yard where there were many boxcars. One was
slightly open and seemed o be half ftull of sawdust. I crawled in
and went to sleep on the sawdust, which proved to have blocks of
ice under it. I nearly froze!

‘The McEwans agreed to my boarding with them while at
school 1t I would be willing to help wash the floors, clean the
dishes and the like, which I was. And that’s how | went to grade
twelve and cventually to Normal School. living both years with
the McEwans. [ had an oral agreement with the McEwans that
once | got my first teaching job, I would repay them, at $25 per
month, for all the time I had lived with them during my schooling,
1932-33, at grade twelve, and 1934-35 at Normal School, which
was i teacher-training school, the nearest road to employment and
earmning moncey so [ could start paying back my debts and helping
my family. I took a year off in between 1933 and 1935 and worked
for Mr. Onufrey Klukewich, who owned a garage service station
and hardware store in Meacham, in order to make cnough money
to go to Normal School. I was eightecn then, [ slept in a little
cubby storage room where he kept oil drums. There was just room
enough for a cot and a chair. | used the public town toilet and fed
myself. During harvest | went out stooking and threshing with
local farmers—KIukewich's friends whom he conned into hiring
me as “‘a good young boy who is trying hard to go to school and
get ahead on his own because his mother is a widow and has a
large family to feed.”” I never properly repaid in cash my debts to
Father Richard, Mr. McEwan, or Mr. Klukewich, but later during
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World War Two and after, | did what they would have liked to
have done and what I am sure they expected me to do.

While in Saskatoon [ couldn’t keep away from organized
Ukrainian community life. Since childhood. my mother, more
than anybody else. had imbued us children with a sense of being
Ukrainians—this was our link with the past. you might say, with
my own father’s beliefs and efforts. All the time — from grades
nine to eleven—I would dream about the day | would get involved
in Ukrainian community activity and do something. My mother
was very conscious of the fact that we should be involved. So
even while living with the McEwan family. [ became an activist
for the Ukrainian youth movement. We had a choir at the Normal
School, and I helped to run it. I worked with Ukrainian students
living at the P. Mohyla Institute. since the majority of the Ukrain-
ian students at the Normal School were from the institute. '

Organizational Ties

More by accident, [ think, than by choice. I became involved with
the Ukrainian Self Reliance League (UsrL). | was exposed to other
Canadian Ukrainian organizations, such as the Ukrainian Labour
Farmer Temple Association (CLFTA) and also slightly to the
Ukrainian National Federation Nk, The oldest, strongest and
most cstablished political and cultural groups active among
Ukrainians in the early twenties were the ULFTA—a socialist and
pro-Soviet movement now known as the Association of United
Ukrainian Canadians (aAtucr—and the pro-Canadian. democratic
Ukrainian Self Reliance League—which became closely aligned
with the Ukrainian Orthodox Church of Canada.* The Ukrainian
Catholics were slowly getting organized around their parishes, but
were slower in getting active in cultural work. The Ukrainian
National Federation. most of whose members were Ukrainian
Catholics, was a post-World War One creation organized by vet-

I. The Petro Mohyla Institute, established in Saskatoon in 1915, was the cradle
of the Ukrainian Greek Orthodox Church in Canada, and an educational and
social centre for the affiliated secular movement which became the Ukrainiun
Self Reliance League.

. For a history of this church, see Paul Yuzyk's The Ukrainian Greek Orthodox
Church in Canada, 1918-1957 (University of Ottawa Press, 1981).
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erans from the UKrainian armies of the liberation struggle, 1917-
21." The UNF was founded in 1932 in Edmonton although the real
roots g0 back to Saskatoon and the formation of its predecessor,
in 1929, the Ukrainian War Veterans® Association (Ukrainska
Striletska Hromada). Saskatoon was also the birthplace of their
newspaper Nouyi Shiiakh (New Pathway) and for many years was
th seat of their headquarters. The UNE was incorporated in 1950.

I was aware of these various groups, but by choice I accepted
the tenets of the uske. I felt closer to it probably because of my
involvement with the P. Mohyla Institute. My elder brother had
also attended the institute when he was in grade seven, for half a
year, while | was a junior still in grade five. He didn’t finish the
year because we had no money to pay for his keep there. The
Saskatchewan teachers who taught at Drahomanow and neigh-
bouring schools were invariably from the Mohyla Institute. It was
really a force in the early years of Canadian Ukrainian life. That
attracted me. The Orthodox movement was patriotic yet new. It
would change the lives of our people in Canada for the better, |
felt sure of that.

So I joined the Self Reliance League and the Ukrainian
Orthodox Church of Canada—both founded more or less at the
same time. It was all part of the growing segmentation and polar-
ization of the Ukrainian community in Canada, brought about in
part by thc move to cities and by a new post-World War One
immigration which brought in new ideas regarding Ukraine. If
anything. it was more by our mother’s design, I think, that we
children went in that direction. She was illiterate, but she had
great intuition. That’s why she sent my brother to the Mohyla
Institute. She sold her last cow to send him there. She had an
instinct which none of us at that time could fully appreciate. My
connections with the Ukrainian Orthodox church 1 should also
credit to my mother. Certainly, it was because of her that | went
to high school in Meacham where I began my connections with
the Orthodox and USRL. movements.

The gencral policy of USRL was, and is. that we should not
belittle the needs of Ukraine, or the aspirations of the Ukrainians

I. For material on the 1917-21 Ukrainian liberation struggle, sce ‘Taras Hun-
czak. The Ukraine, 1917-1921. A Study in Revolution (Harvard Ukrainian
Research Institute, 1977).,
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in the old country. Indced we should do everything we can to help,
but we can do most as Canadian citizens—as citizens of an already
established country which has its own interests and intellectual
influences. This would ensure that we were not treated as *‘enemy
aliens’" in the event of some international conflagration, as hap-
pened during World War One here in Canada, when there were
thousands of Ukrainians interned because of their suspected dis-
loyalty to Canada.' And I think that this is where we differed most
from the other Ukrainian organizations here—while we felt we
should be devoted to helping solve the Ukrainian problem of lack-
ing an independent homeland, we kept maintaining that the only
way 1o serve it was, first of all, to be good Canadians. By being
a loyal Canadian, we said, you could influence other Canadians
and the Canadian government into policies supporting the libera-
tion of Ukraine, which we all believed was necessary. But you
cannot do it on a tangent all on your own. And [ think that this is
what inspired our generation, at least my circle, of young Cana-
dians. We had to be Canadians first, good Canadians first, and
only after everyone else appreciated this could we also act as good
Ukrainians. Lord Tweedsmuir. who was Governor General of
Canada at the time, used just such an idea when he spoke before
an audience in Frazerwood, Manitoba in 1936. And that idea
inspired many of us. To be a good Canadian, be a good Ukrainian.
Both could be combined and worked out together. We have con-
sistently tried to do so.

I Start My Teaching Career

I finished Normal School in June 1935, went back to Meacham
and started looking for a job as a teacher. Mr. Klukewich said,
“*Well, I'm going to help you get a job.”” He's the man who, after
[ had made many applications. drove me down to Yellow Creek
and delivered me to the school there in September 1935. They had
accepted my application. He told the school board, **1'm bringing

I. For analyses of the Canadian internment operations 1914-20, see L. Luciuk.
“Internal Sccurity and an Ethnic Minority: the Ukrainians and Internment
Opcerations in Canada, 1914-1920,"" Sigmuem (Journal of Royal Military Col-
lege of Canada) 1V, no. 3; and Francis Swyripa and John H. Thompson,
cds,, Lovalties in Conflict (University of Alberta Press, 1983),



you a young student who'll be your teacher. He has no money.
Give him everything he needs to have on credit. If he doesn’t pay
for something. I'll take care of it."” That was his commitment. |
was left there to teach—my first real job—and he went home. [
signed a contract that my salary would be the government grant—
whatever it was. The first vear's grant was $350, [ believe. And
that’s what [ accepted, thanks to Klukewich, They could only pay
me once a year, after the people harvested and paid their taxes.
after which the provincial government gave each school district
its grant for education.

To be honest, [ wasn’t really equipped to teach anything. All
I could teach was how to be a good human being. I had scratched
the surtace of history. mathematics, English and so on—at high
school level. T could keep ahead of the students. But in a serious
sense Normal School had only just equipped us with the rudiments
for teaching. We were glorified baby-sitters. But in Ukrainian
cultural terms. we had a little more background in music. choir.
folk-dancing (all self-taught), and the people wanted that more
than anything else. They weren't interested in the academic side
of school as much as what you were going to do with the children
after school and on the weekends. The government prescribed
what was taught between 9 a.m. and 4 p.m., after 4 p.m. it was
expected that we'd dedicate ourselves to Ukrainian work.

The first school 1 got had fitty-two students from kindergar-
ten to grade eleven inclusive. and all in a one-room schoolhouse.
I had to teach all the students and all the classes by myself at the
same time. Almost all students were Ukrainian, at least 99 per
cent. | think there was one Hungarian there. | was twenty years
old. There were few people my age in that local area. | had suc-
ceeded a teacher, Mrs. Wasyl Cherewick, who was older and
possibly more capable than | and whose husband was already doing
his Ph.D. for the Department of Agriculture, University of Man-
itoba. They were living there in the teacherage. | claimed the
residence when | accepted the contract. but [ agreed that they
could live with me as long as they wanted. 1 didn’t need the whole
two-room house. so they stayed for three or four months while
they looked for another place. They eventually went back to Win-
nipcg, and [ think she stopped teaching. 1 took over the district.

35



Yellow Creek was a community looking for leadership. for
someone o take it out of the **wilderness.” The inhabitants were
still pioneers. Many of them had originally settled in Manitoba.
and. in some cases, the same people. or their eldest sons, took
new homesteads now in Yellow Creek. In this sense they were all
pioneers for a second time. Anyway. they were looking for direc-
tion. The public school teacher had to provide it. I just happened
to fit the bill, | suppose. My age made no difference to them at
all. They just wanted someone to tell them where to stand, where
to sit. when to do this or that—assign the pitch. alto, soprano and
so on. | taught the small children normal hours. then after hours
the adult community. And the children had to put on a concert
almost every weekend. and we had to produce something on nearly
every commemorative occasion you can imagine—in memory of
Taras Shevchenko, Mother’s Day, and so on—for everything the
community wanted. If you didn't produce these theatrical and
cultural cvents, then you weren't a good citizen or a good teacher.

There was really little or nothing else for the people, cultur-
ally speaking, in Yellow Creek. The community was empty—a
vacuum. As it turned out, the majority of people eventually went
Orthodox. But at the time, there were as many Ukrainian or Uniate
Catholics as Orthodox. 1 think there was even a Ukrainian Cath-
olic church founded there a year or two before the Orthodox one.
There were two church parishes. The Catholic priest was Father
Ryshytylo. He lived with me in my house every time he came to
the community (two or three times a year). as did the Orthodox
priest, Father Mayba. A teacherage had room to put up the priest.
None of the farmers had enough spare room. So. either priest
made his home with the local teacher. When we put on a Ukrain-
ian concert, it was a joint effort—a community effort—and nobody
questioned the religion. or affiliation, or anything, of the perform-
ers as long as they spoke Ukrainian and could sing a song or two.
That's the way it was. And. at that time, there were no Ukrainian
communists of the ULFTA in the Yellow Creek area at all. Ot course.
[ had had some contacts with people in the uLFTA during my school
days, but I don’t think [ had real friends there. It was mostly older
people, ten or twenty years older than I was, who belonged to it.
[ was a member of USRL, in particular, its Canadian Ukrainian
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Youth Association (Cuya). It is probably the first and oldest
Ukrainian youth organization in Canada. (In 1981 it celebrated its
fiftieth anniversary.) We had a very good cuya group in Yellow
Creek in the late 1930s. We travelled around giving concerts and
sO on.

[ was a teacher in Yellow Creek from 1935-39. I can recall
when [ had my first inspector’s report as a teacher, the inspector
was a strong wasp who wrote that [ was a wonderful teacher, but:
a) I spoke with an accent which was non-British, and b) I devoted
too much time to aftairs which were not Canadian—that was his
point of view. The secretary of our school board showed me that
report and said, **Well, let him go fly a kite! We want you. As
long as you're happy. we want you here.’” Qutwardly, I didn’t let
it seem to bother me too much. In my heart, it burnt me up. [ was
doing more for the empire and for Canada than he was; he was an
inspector of schools, driving around in his car. I could not even
afford onc, and I was teaching young children which 1 thought
was good. I thought I was doing a little bit more than he was.
Later | and thousands of other Canadian Ukrainians made sure
that these people knew that we were conscious of the fact that they
didn’t trust us and suspected our loyalty to Canada. We enlisted
en masse during World War Two—relatively more than any other
ethnic group in Canada. Did they contribute to the same extent
that we did? But that inspector’s report is one instance that helped
move me to do some of the things [ did—you know, this annoy-
ance that somebody thought he was more Canadian, or more Brit-
ish that I was, when I thought that I was as Canadian or British as
anybody else was. And I experienced this feeling back in Normal
School when I was becoming a teacher. When we had a big world
map spread out showing the British Empire. | felt that we too were
part ot it, a big thing.

I Volunteer

[ could have stayed on in Yellow Creek for the rest of my life. |
suppose | would have enjoyed it. They wanted me to stay, except
that by nature [ didn't want to when there was a war on. When
war broke out on September 1, 1939, I volunteered. I submitted
my application to the RCAF, and the school board went looking for
areplacement. In three years the school had grown from one class-
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room of eleven grades to four classrooms of many students with
three teachers in addition to myself. | was the principal by then,
with my senior experience. The board hired another teacher, Miss
Ann Hawrysh, who had a B.A. Technically, she and [ felt that she
should be principal for she was ahead of me in education, even if
junior in experience. So we had a final arrangement where | said
that once I resigned they'd obviously appoint her as principal. [t
was a very friendly arrangement. I resigned and she took over and
became principal. I went to Saskatoon to prepare for my forces
training and while waiting for the call-up enrolled at the Univer-
sity of Saskatchewan in an arts program while also taking part in
the campus Canadian Officer Training Corps (cotc.

When | was in the cotc in 1939, the second in command
there was Captain John Charnetski, a Ukrainian. I didn’t realise
at the time that a Ukrainian could ever get as far as being a com-
missioned ofticer. Here was [—just enrolled. a cadet, fresh from
the farm. from Yellow Creck—and here was John Charnetski,
second in command of the cotc at the University of Saskatche-
wan. Hey, | thought, we're getting places, you know! That
impressed me.

When | moved to Saskatoon, | bought a httle house there for
around $370—a little shack with no running water or indoor bath-
room. | completed one year of my arts course and coTc, but only
finished a few months of my second when | was called up. So |
dropped out and went into training for the services. I chose the air
force. I wasn’t interested in anything but Air Crew, but | didn’t
qualify because 1 had weak eyes. But there was a special training
program—the Dominion Provincial Youth Training Program—
that took people like me and gave us background training (mostly
wireless and clectronics) for other ficlds than Air Crew. [ went
into wireless operations—a special course which lasted almost a
year in the Saskatoon Technical Collegiate Institute. They gave
us training in radio operation, repairs and the like. While we were
being taught, we received a basic wage from the government. At
that time | was living in my own home at 1307 Alexandra Avenue
and was also the director of the cultural program at the P. Mohyla
Institute and at the Ukrainian National Home. So almost every
day I had work to do among Ukrainian youth—all this over and
above my military technical training. In addition | taught Ukrain-
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ian school in the Ukrainian National Home on Avenue I, which
was connected with the Orthodox parish in Saskatoon, and I was
a CUYA 1nstructor for their Branch No. 1 in Saskatoon. We had
about fifty people, with a choir, a dancing group, an orchestra, an
amatecur theatre and all kinds of activities. We were Ccuya. and
only as that were we involved in the Ukrainian Sclf Reliance Lea-
gue (USRL). When [ was leaving for overseas, they put on a fare-
well party for me in the Avenue | UKrainian hall and presented
me with a leather suitcase and a gold ring with the cuva Trident
pin mounted on it. [ still have them. To me they are tokens of
reward and inspiration.

My mother was both happy and sad when she learned of my
enlistment. She was happy that [ was doing what I wanted to do,
but a little bit disappointed in that she was counting on me to carry
her through. But we settled that very amicably. | made a commit-
ment that when | joined up she would get half of my service pay—
whatever I got from the rcar. That gave her the security that she
needed. So she moved into my little shack in Saskatoon, and for
the duration of the war she got her allowance (halfl my pay), was
secure and thought that her son had done reasonably well provid-
ing for her. My elder sister, Doris, also went into military service
for a little while, then she joined the National War Services work-
ing in the dockyards. But she couldn’t help maintain my mother.
My older brother was married by then and so he had a wife to look
after. He was also in the service for a few months. So, from the
point of view of mother’s security, I had to provide it and did.
Both my half-brothers and half-sisters also enlisted for longer or
shorter periods. All seven of us served in the forces in one form
or another and for various periods of time, but I alone served for
the duration and overseas.

Canadian Ukrainians and the Ukrainian Question in Europe
The UsrL didn’t have real political connections with the Ukrainian
nationalist groups in Europe. Colonel Evhen Konovalets visited
Canada in 1928."' He wanted to mobilize the Ukrainians in Canada

1. Colonel Evhen Konovalets was a member of the Ukrainian Military Organi-
zation and, after 1929, the leader of the Organization of Ukrainian Nation-
alists. He was assassinated in Rotterdam by a Sovict agent on May 23, 1938,
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o support the Ukrainian Military Organization, which later became
the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists (ouN). He spent many
months living at the P. Mohyla Institute. During this time he had
meetings with people like Wasyl Swystun. the Stechisin brothers
and others in the community. They tricd to work out an arrange-
ment whereby Usrl. would support the Ukrainian nationalists in
the old country financially. morally and materially. The stand of
uskL was, *‘We'll do it. We're willing to do it because we’re all
for it. But it has to be done openly and legally. through a bank
account. We want accounting. We want receipts for monics spent.
We want acknowledgements for monies received and so on. We
want to know where and how the money we collect and give to
the movement is spent.”” Konovalets rejected this approach. oun
was an underground movement; it just could not publicize its
logistical bases. So Konovalcts didn’t reach any accord with the
USRL. Instead ouN came to rely on the Ukrainian National Feder-
ation, or rather its core group, the Ukrainian War Veterans® Asso-
ciation.

Konovalets took a logical attitude, given his plans and the
realities of Europe, but it wasn't logical to our pioneers. They
were so indoctrinated with the attitude that for everything they did
they wanted a piece of paper. receipts, a document, something to
show proper accounting for their hard earned funds. No arrange-
ment with Konovalets could be made. Of course. the financial
aspect was not the only problem. There were other ideological
and philosophical diffcrences which influenced the uski. leaders.
They didn’t want to be seen as part of some European political
organization, lest these ties appear suspect to the Canadian gov-
ernment. Don’t forget, Ukrainians in Canada had endured several
years of internment operations in this country during and just after
World War One becausc many of them were registered as Austri-
ans. Then they had been suspected of having dubious overseas
sympathics and loyalties and were considered enemy aliens. Who
among the uskL leaders would willingly risk bringing down on his
organization’s members more of this type of treatment?

There was another movement here in Canada that aligned
behind Hetman Pavlo Skoropadsky. living in Berlin. During 1937-
38 his son Danylo toured the United States and Canada, visiting
Ukrainian communities in order to mobilize support for this con-
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servative, royalist movement. He was living in England and
remained there throughout World War Two. When the younger
Skoropadsky made his trip to Canada, the same thing happened
as with Konovalets. The different community lcaders met. they
talked. but they didn’t come to any logical conclusion. So when
war broke out in 1939, both the Skoropadsky supporters and the
oUN were already working on their own plans to support the strug-
gle in Ukraine. They had covert and open links to their movements
there that did make them suspect in Canada, and 1 am sure they
must have been monitored by the Canadian government,

In talking of Konovalets® and Skoropadsky’s visits, [ woul!
say that they succeeded in only 25-30 per cent of what they wanted
to do here. The majority of Ukrainians in Canada were not going
to be involved in either movement. But two very serious events
did take place in Ukraine in the thirties—the **Pacification’” in
western Ukraine (1930), initiated by the Poles against Ukrainian
aspirations for autonomy, and the artifically induced Great Famine
1932-33. which decimated the Ukrainian population subjugated
by the Soviets. Over seven million people were starved to death
by Stalin. Both events deeply touched Canadian Ukrainians spir-
itually and emotionally. We had demonstrations, sent protest peti-
tions to Ottawa, delegations, and collected relief funds. Our elders
were very much concemed. but most of our youth were indiffer-
ent. The masses just wanted to be Canadian, to be left alone;
whatever side Canada chose, they would be on that side. Oh, they
hoped. perhaps even drecamed. that Canada would always be on
the side of Ukraine, Ukrainian independence, the struggle for
freedom and so on,

Maybe one in a hundred of my age group in western Canada
even knew about oUN, that they had a network of their own, with
propaganda offices in Geneva, Berlin and London. If one in a
hundred did know. it would still be irrelevant. The average
Ukrainian Canadian in my generation just didn’t care about what
was happening in Europe that much. We accepted the British
Empire, we accepted that every Christmas we would have a mes-
sage from the monarch. We accepted the fact that our flag was the
Union Jack. that our mother country was Britain and the empire,
even though it may be wrong to feel this way. I think even my
mother—and this is hindsight now—if taced with the problem of

41



deciding whether she should be for Canada or Ukraine, would
say, *“Well, Canada gave us bread and butter. We'll stick by Can-
ada.”’ I have that suspicion.

Still, to go back to Ukrainian politics for a moment. my feel-
ing about the accusations against Konovalets and Skoropadsky as
being pro-German is that these were unfounded rumours. Both of
them were patriotic Ukrainians, just as good as [ was, or anybody
else. They, like others. were just looking for a means to free
Ukraine. What relations they had with the Germans before World
War Two were based more on expediency and hope than on any
pro-German convictions. They were certainly never fascists. or
pro-Nazi. This was my feeling. I was convinced that neither
Konovalets, nor Skoropadsky, both of whom had been in Canada
* and gone back to Europe. was any less Ukrainian than [ was. In
fact, I'd say there wasn't that much difference.

Onc of the plans that their supporters came forward with in
Canada. which was very logical and sensible, was to train young
people. So they established military schools, even flying schools
like the UNF's in Oshawa, and more. Both UNF and the United
Hetman Organization (the Hetmantsi) are still very proud of their
cfforts, claiming that they helped train people who then fought for
the benefit of Canada; although they weren’t really thinking of
Canada’s war nceds as much as how they could help Ukraine.
And [ think that these training courses they offered helped them
recruit new members for their own organizations. You know, when
you went out 1o Alberta, Manitoba, or Saskatchewan and said,
“*We're helping Canada in the war, and we have a tlying school
in Oshawa’"—well, that attracted recruits. Later these same young
people. from the youth organizations—yUN (Young Ukrainian
Nationalists). tcyo (Ukrainian Catholic Youth Organization) and
ctya—rallied behind the Canadian war effort, and many volun-
teered for duty. The ULFTA's people. until 1941, didn’t support
Canada—they were pro-Stalin, then allied with Hitler.

Let me explain, in 1939 the uLrra, following Soviet party
thinking, approved of the Molotov-Ribbentrop Non-Aggression
Pact between Nazi Germany and Soviet Russia.' So they did

1. For a discussion of the vLiTA. see John Kolasky. The Shattered Hlusion: the
History of Ukrainian Pro-Communist Organizations in Canada (Toronto:
Peter Martin Associates, 1979).
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everything possible to agitate against Ukrainian Canadians vol-
unteering for Canadian military duty. We volunteered because we
felt we should detend Canada. We were aware of the fact that
there was agilation against joining, but we knew our duty and
were loyal. The majority of the Ukrainian Canadians (say 75 per
cent) who joined the armed forces in the period 1939-June 1941
werc cither directly involved. or, at least influenced by the three
main UKrainian youth organizations of the time (CUYA. ucyo and
vyuNn). Take, for example. the fact that Peter Worobetz, Joe Roma-
now and 1, all of whom are veterans, were each from one of these
organizations (CUYO, YUN, CUYA respectively), which provided
most of the Ukrainian Canadian youth for the armed forces—
directly or indirectly. One of the effects was that returning veter-
ans were much more interested and became involved in Canadian
affairs. especially politics. The first Ukrainian Canadians to he
appointed to the Senate (W, Wall-Liberal and P. Yuzvk-Conserv-
ative) were veterans., Many veterans joined the Canadian civil
service atter the war, Ukrainian professional and businessmen’s
clubs sprang up all across the country, in most cases founded or
spearheaded by veterans,

Of course, there was dissent within the CLFTA over the Mol-
otov-Ribbentrop deal. It was demanding quite a lot of these people
to make them accept this 1939 partnership between Hitler and
Stalin. Dissent arose just as in 1935 when they had fragmented
over the question of the Great Famine of 1932-33 and Russian
behaviour in Ukrainian territories under Soviet rule. As far as the
Canadian authorities were concerned now, the ULFTA's stand was
one that placed them in the enemy camp. If the pact hadn't been
made. I don’t think 1 would ever have been as antagonistic to the
Ukrainian national communist movement, if you can call it that,
But this alliance with Hitler, I thought that was going toc far. And
s0 to me, personally. when the Canadian government confiscated
and closed down the vLFTA halls in 1940, well good for them! It
served them right! Some of these halls were sold to patriotic
Ukrainian Canadian organizations, for example, in Saskatoon the
USRI. got onc. and in Toronto the UNF; in other places, other orga-
nizations or church parishes took advantage. From the point of
view of our UskL. movement—and even from that of the Ukrainian
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Catholics—I think it was good that it happened because many of
these befuddled older Ukrainian communists were so disen-
chanted that they came around to our way of thinking and joined
our organizations, became readers of our newspapers and so on,
Possibly, for Canada it was a good thing also. It helped break the
left.

Then on June 22, 1941 when Germany invaded the Ussk, the
LLFTA had no alternative but again to switch, now to jump on the
bandwagon. crying ‘*We're on the same side! Down with Hitler!™’
It was an interesting metamorphosis. To date. all history being
taught in the Ussr claims that World War Two (The Great Patriotic
War) is dated from 1941-45. not 1939-45. Later. once we had
organized our Ukrainian Canadian Servicemen’s Association (UCSA)
Club in England, one of the fitteen or twenty founding members
was from the tLFrA crowd in Winnipeg. He was just as diligent
aboul scrubbing the floors, washing the dishes and doing every-
thing we needed done in the club as anyone else because we were
now on the same side. Quite a few of these leftists joined us in
London and became ardent in their support of uCsa and its club.

Going Overseas

My preparatory military training in Saskatoon to be a wireless
electrical mechanic was not very long—about six months with pay
but still as a civilian. [ had a few months in RCAF basic training at
No. | Manning Depot in Toronto (where, in our off hours. some
of us helped out with the cuya branch at St. Vladimir's Ukrainian
Orthodox Church, 404 Bathurst Strect). There then followed
almost a year at RCAF No. 1 Wireless School in Montreal (Queen
Mary Road) where 1 first graduated as a wireless operator ground
(woe) aircraftsman first class (AC1), remustered as a wireless clec-
trical mechanic (WgEM), was promoted to leading aircraftsman (LACO)
and in December 1941 was posted overseas.

We went overseas on the ss Stratheden, spending three or
four days in Bournemouth, England before being posted to Ire-
land. There were all together about fifteen Canadians posted to
Ireland and attached to the rRaF. Three of us were Ukrainians.
There was Steve Kalin, who joined us in Toronto. a school tcacher
from Krydor. Saskatchewan; Walter Weslowski, originally from
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Ukraina, Manitoba; and myself. We were on the same ship going
overseas. (While in Montreal at No. | Wireless School there were
four of us Ukrainian Canadians who stuck together all the time,
training together and visiting the cuva together at St. Sophie
Ukrainian Orthodox Church on De Lorimer Avenue, when off
duty: Steve Kalin: John Magus, another school teacher from Haf-
ford. Saskatchewan; Max Strilchuk. a high school graduate from
Arran. Saskatchewan; and myself. Of the four, Steve Kalin and |
were posted overseas upon graduation. Max Strilchuk and John
Magus were posted to RCAF units in Canada. Max got an overseas
posting later. John never got overseas. Walter Weslowski did No. |
Wireless School in Montreal before us, but was on the same over-
seas draft as Steve Kalin and [, and we met for the first time on
the ss Stratheden.) As far as 1 know, Steve, Walter and myself
were the only three Ukrainian Canadians stationed in Ulster, and
the three of us toured—hitch-hiked—around the country in our
off-duty time. In a way, we were the founders of the Ukrainian
Canadian Servicemen's Association (UCsA) because it was then
that the idea for the association was born (later formally founded
on January 7, 1943 in Manchester. England).

We wanted to have a club for cultural and social reasons. We
wanted to be able to meet at Ukrainian Christmas and Easter. How
else could we do it overseas? We had met other Ukrainians in the
forces and become friends in Montreal while in training at the
No. | Wircless School. We also had friends in Toronto at the
Manning Depot, and we had friends who had gone into other
branches of the Canadian armed forces. We knew this was a very
important time in Ukrainian affairs—after all, independent
Ukrainian states had been formed between 1917-21. There were
many of us in the service. Since Kalin, Weslowski and myself
were all cuya members, we realised we would have to get youth
from other organizations. other Ukrainians, involved. So we said.
“*Somehow or other we have to do something about getting all
Ukrainian Canadians together, regardless of what their affiliations
might have been in Canada." " Soldiers have to stick together to be
effective.

Up until then I had been writing a regular weekly column for
Ukrainski Holos called **cuya Pathway.'" As a teached I had lots
of CUYA experience as an organizer in the years prior (o enlistment
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(1935-40). From 1935-41 I used every moment of my free time
(weekends, holidays. summer vacations) organizing cuya branches
and jamborees in Saskatchewan. There is hardly a district or com-
munity that [ didn’t visit in the province. As a result, [ had an
extensive circle of friends. many of whom were also joining up.
It seemed a most natural thing to get them organized again, once
in the forces, to promote common cultural and social ends and
interests. So. already on the Stratheden the three of us decided
that something should be done. We made a pact then that we'd
kcep in touch. that we'd maintain contact all the time. never let it
drop. And the other thing we decided was who was **Joe.™ | was
to be Joc. responsible for taking the initiative. In Ireland Walter
Weslowski got stuck with servicing seaplanes flying trans-Atlan-
tic missions. Steve and | were with Spitfires—radar (vHF) work.
But we kept in touch all the time, and we got together whenever
we could to do all kinds of things. I established and maintained a
large correspondence with Ukrainians in Canada and gradually
with those who joined the forces and were posted overseas. But
there was no Ukrainian community there in Ulster.

Discovering the Ukrainians of Manchester

In the meantime, however. we found out about Ukrainians living
in Manchester in England, and each of us tried to plan a holiday
in Britain where we would somechow or other get in touch with
them. We eventually—all three—got posted to Britain. I think |
was the first of us three to contact the Ukrainian community in
Manchester. But other Ukrainian Canadians had already visited
there. One of them was Michael Cannon (Kalyniuk) from Ham-
ilton. We had not heard of him before, none of us. But he got in
touch with the Manchester Ukrainian community and even mar-
ricd the daughter of one of the community members—Olga Les-
niowsky, daughter of Joseph Lesniowsky, the secretary of the
Ukrainian Social Club at 188 Cheetham Hill Road, Manchester.
Another Ukrainian Canadian from Hamilton. in the First Cana-
dian Division to go overseas, was Harry Sluzar. He also married
in Manchester. Shortly after he was killed at Dieppe.

The Ukrainians in Manchester were there by accident. They
were originally coming to Canada from Ukraine and got stuck
there. When we met them we found that they were people com-

46



pletely devoted to the Ukrainian cause and happy to see Canadian
Ukrainians. Prior to the war little was known in Canada, if any-
thing. about this small Manchester Ukrainian community. There
were some fifteen to twenty families living a very insular social
and cultural lite centred around their Ukrainian Social Club. With-
out this community, there might have been no Ukrainian Canadian
Servicemen's Association (¢sa). They provided us with our first
**home away trom home."" For them we provided a window to
the outside world. Their greatest contribution to our association
at the beginning was providing premises and people (two girls,
Olga Lesniowsky and Pauline Tamowski) who volunteered to look
after our first ucsa office there.

Creating the Ukrainian Canadian Servicemen’s Association

ucsa was tformally constituted in Manchester, January 7, 1943. |
still have the original minutes of our first meeting as recorded by
the late Alex Kreptul, at that time elected as our first secretary.
We published the story of **How It Began'' in our first promo-
tional booklet, UCSA. October 1943, when [ was already sta-
tioned in Digby, Lincolnshire. That's where the booklet was
designed. written and printed. | doubt if any copies can now be
found. Nearly forty Canadians attended this first founding Get-
Together from all across Canada, between Montreal and Edmon-
ton. They are all listed in the vesa booklet, as are the names and
addresses of the Ukrainian familics in Manchester who hosted us.
Apart from constituting the organization itself and drafting its terms
of reterence and future plans and direction, a resolution was made
there and then to hold the second Get-Together at Easter. [n the
interim everybody had homework to do—gather more names and
addresses, write home 1o their respective parents, friends, orga-
nizations. or parishes and submit all gathered material on potential
members to myself, Corporal B. Panchuk, the elected president.
Others on the elected executive were Steve Kalin, Walter Wes-
lowski; Michael Turansky (a YUN and UNF supporter from Saska-
toon) became vice president, and soon after we recruited Helen
Kozicky (a uHO follower from Calgary) as secretary. We had to
have a broad representation. We even had a few people from the
Polish forces—r:0 George Salsky, FL Serhij Nahnybida and 10
Michacl Oparenko—people who were involved with us, but who
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were not eligible for executive posts because LCsA was intended
to be a strictly Canadian affair. These men, at that time, were
there only as observers. We welcomed them as that, but we wanted
to underscore the point that as Canadians and members of the
empire, we were forming this new group, tcsa. We wouldn’t
allow any of the Polish forces to have any say in our doings. We
were going to do it our way.

Things were happening so fast during the war, you just could
not appreciate the difference between a normal, civilian operation
and war. War moved so quickly. Things happened daily that nor-
mally took years. 1 became a regular and frequent visitor to
Manchester and became involved with the community as a teacher
at their Ukrainian school, which [ founded. As [ was in the serv-
ice, the only time I could tcach was on the weekends when |
wasn't on duty. | had to take the train to Manchester from Digby.
But at that time none of these disadvantages mattered to any of
us. As long as we could keep things going, do Ukrainian work,
we felt everything was fine. | would sleep on the train, or board
with one of the Ukrainians in Manchester, teach the children read-
ing and writing in Ukrainian, singing and music—we had a choir
and a mandolin orchestra much as in Yellow Creek before the
war. We were then preparing a Mother's Day concert to be held
at the Easter Get-Together. They were so happy to have me as a
frequent visitor to Manchester that they made me president of their
local Ukrainian Social Club.

The sccond tesa Get-Together was held in Manchester at
Easter, May 2, 1943, as planned, and solidly confirmed the oper-
ation of ucsa at a general meeting held in the school of St. Chad's
Church. Over seventy-five servicemen attended. more than half
of whom were new members. Another booklet was compiled and
published covering the proceedings of this second Get-Together.
Among the decisions made here were (wo basic progress ones—
to hold the next Get-Together as soon as possible in London and
to start looking for premises for a club of our own in London.

By the time the Mother’s Day meeting was held, we had
already culled our own service records (at various stations and
orderly rooms), and any name that we considered to be Ukrianian,
we put on our cardex system. | also wrote and had published in
the Ukrainian-language newspapers in Canada a number of press
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releases appealing to Ukrainian Canadian fathers and mothers to
send us names and addresses of their sons and daughters stationed
in Great Britain. The response was terrific. In a few months we
had over 1,000 names and addresses. As a result, we had sent out
invitations to them for this May Second meeting. We didn’t know
who these people were. all we had were names, units and regi-
mental numbers. Many were from the three Ukrainian youth orga-
nizations I have named, but many were ex-CLFTA, ULFTA and just
voung Ukrainians never before atfiliated.

Among the most ardent was Andrij Nykoluk. He had been
leftist ex-ULFTA originally from Winnipeg, later Toronto. He was
elderly but a terrific fellow (later a key organizer for our first
Rome Get-Together). All the people we had represented a broad
cross-section of Ukrainians from Canada, completely impartially
organized. It had nothing to do with numbers of people in Canada.
[t was all based on the initiative of these people themselves in
response to our appeals in the Canadian Ukrainian press and
through ucsa circular letter and newsletter. We were too young to
be disturbed by the community factionalism that was so charac-
teristic of interwar Canadian Ukrainian life. Our second secretary,
Helen Kozicky, was a supporter of the Hetman movement. Nobody
then even knew or cared. ‘To have a nationalist from UNE, a mem-
ber of UHO and a Catholic operating alongside people from uskL
and the Orthodox groups was rcally unheard of before we started
Lcsa. The war was the thing that linked us together—the uniform,
the Canadian badges. the camaraderie of men and women in war-
time. At our first Get-Together in Manchester our Canadianism
created such a bond that half the time we didn’t know who the
other guy was, but we didn’t care too much. Only afterwards did
we often find out where people came from or fitted in, their past
background, or their affiliations, if any. Back in Canada by
November 1940, the war had also brought all Ukrainians together,
and a united Ukrainian Canadian Committee (ucc) was formed to
support the war effort. It soon achieved a harmonious spirit of
cooperation, which we had tirst managed to develop in UCSA. UCSA
had provided vcc with a reason to exist. Qurs was a really unique
and genuine unity; in our Canadian Ukrainian history [ doubt if
you can tind such inter-organizational cooperation before, or, for
that matter, since.
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At our first meeting we had also had present Lieutenant John
Swystun. He was the first commissioned officer to come to UCSA.
We were so proud of him that we put him right on top of our list
of elected club officers, in the executive without election. All
these first people in tcsa were just *‘buck privates’” scrubbing
floors, peeling potatoes. doing all the lowly jobs. but they were
all good people. John V. Swystun was the son of Wasyl Swystun,
one of the founders of Uskrl. and one of those who had helped
establish the Ukrainian Orthodox church in Canada. He would
later switch to supporting UNF, and from then further left to sup-
porting atuc. John Swystun, his son, had helped to bring in many
more commissioned officers to tcsa. By October we had about a
dozen members who were commissioned officers. When the war
cnded ucsa had between 500 and 1,000 commissioned officers.
Two of our early vcsa members reached the rank of brigadier-
general—Romanow and Andrunyk.

The Ukrainian Canadian Committee’s Role

As I've said. the tcc had just barely organized at that time; their
first Congress wasn't held until June 22-24, 1943 in Winnipeg.
And they were very weak in those early years. They did massively
support our tcsa Club in London for the whole time we were
operating. That was one of their greatest contributions to the war
effort. Bringing the ucc together was no easy matter. Non-
Ukrainians played a major role. Professors George Simpson and
Watson Kirkconnell were very involved—as was the rather mys-
terious Tracy Philipps. whom Lord Halifax. the British forcign
secretary, apparently sent over to Canada-—in the founding of
Ukrainian Canadian organizations.! There was a third clement,

I. Tracy Philipps had this to say about the tormation of the Ukrainian Canadian
Committee;
Unification of New Canadians and elimination of their discords. In con-
structive diplomacy as in bone ailments there are two main methods. The
first method is the most spectacular, prompt and popular. It often requires
other operations to follow, 1t is rapid, drastic and aggressive, One attacks
the foreign element which has entered the body politic. In the realm of
diplomacy it takes the form of threat and direct action. It is a regrettable
wartime technigue extended to the realm of the civilian, This, in effect,
is the only method which, in the time allowed, could be used 1o unite the
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however. the common cause of the Ukrainians themselves. namely
that we have got to stick together whatever happens. There was a
war to be won, after all.

Before vcc was formed between November 7-9, 1940 in
Winnipeg. there were two Canadian Ukrainian committees, the
Central and the Representative. The basic difference was politi-
cal. One. the Central, was formed out of members of UHO, USRL
and Ukrainian Workers™ League «iwny; the other, the Represent-
ative. of people from UNF and the Brotherhood of Ukrainian Cath-
olics BUC)." The UNF was then considered to be pro-German, as
were the Hetman followers. The others—USRL, UWL, BUC—were
not suspect insofar as the Canadian authorities were concerned.
Only after 1941 did their anti-Soviet sentiments arouse some ofti-
cial worry. My own commission in the Rcal was delayed because
I had spoken up somewhere in the barracks against the ussk—at
that time our ally.

Tracy Philipps had a major role in the formation of vcc and
later helped us with vcsa and cURB.? He was persona grata in
official Canadian circles and in Britain. | think the fact that he
was married (o a Ukrainian, the pianist Lubka Kolassa, and had

halt dozen discordant groups of Ukrainians in Canada. This is the least
satisfactory method. In these cases the permancnce of the cure depends
on the period and quality of subsequent nursing. Itis by this less desirable
method that the Ukrainians of Canada were got united within a week of
the writers first contact with them.

1. The Ukrainian Canadian Committee was formed in November 1940 after
Professors George Simpsen and Watson Kirkconnell, aided by ‘Tracy Phi-
lipps. persuaded the Representative and Central Committees that existed within
the Canadian Ukrainian population to coalesce. Precisely how this was
accomplished is unclear.

2. Tracy Philipps arrived in Canada at the outbreak of World War Two. Describ-
ing himself as a **soldier on special service™” he actively involved himself in
Canadian Ukrainian affairs on behalf of Britain, arguing that since at least
one-half of the war was going to be won in the mines. shipyards and factorics
of North America—where Ukrainians and other Slavs provided most of the
hcavy labour—the loyalty of these people had to be secured against fifth
columnists of the Nazi-Soviet allegiance. He performed special tasks for the
rReMpe, worked with the Department of National War Services and played an
influential, if not determinative, role in forcing the creation of a Ukrainian
Canadian Committee in 1940, His activitics remain largely unexplored.
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actually worked in Ukraine had a lot to do with that. Apart from
that, Tracy Philipps had what seemed to be a natural sympathy
for Ukrainians. regardless of who they were. He had a tremendous
effect on our policies and on our decisions in Canada. Both he
and Dr. Kisilewsky (Kaye) played a very positive role in persuad-
ing Ukrainians in Canada to unitc. While | never met Philipps in
Canada before [ left, I met him later overscas through correspond-
ence, and often in person. He remained a supporter of our work
until his death after World War Two.

Why did he play such a role in forming vce? Well, [ think
that, by accident or by design. Tracy Philipps. as an available, yet
retired. diplomat who knew Ukraine because he had served in
post-World War One Ukraine with the Nansen International Office
for Refugees, was used by the British to help bring in the Ukrain-
tan Canadian population solidly behind the war effort. For a while
Britain stood virtually alonc in the war. They were very worried
about fifth columns and subversion. And for them the only sure
source of real material support was our Dominion. And in Can-
ada. | think. they were convinced—and I'm glad they were—that
the Ukrainian element was strong and would be supportive of their
cffort. In the first two vears of the war we had given about 13 per
cent of our Ukrainian Canadian population as voluntary recruits.
So the governments—British and Canadian—were, | think at that
time, convinced that they had to make a special effort to take an
interest in the half million strong Ukrainian community in Can-
ada. to make sure that it continued supporting the Allied war effort.

When he spoke to me and whenever he wrote to me, Philipps
was always the man who promoted Dr. Kaye (Kisilewsky). He
sponsored Kaye to England before the war because Kaye wanted
to get a Ph.D. trom an English university. Kaye was an historian,
he wanted to do rescarch. Kaye was also involved. | think seri-
ously interested. in the Ukrainian liberation movement. [ think
Philipps helped him because Philipps was his “*guardian.™ But it
wasn’t a coincidence that Kaye came to Canada and got a job in
the Department of National War Services. He wasn’t even Cana-
dian. he was nothing in Canada. But he had a lot of security clear-
ance and moral support from England, having the backing of peo-
ple like Tracy Philipps. plus God knows who.
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Philipps got involved and continued being involved even after
the ucc was established. He went on a speaking tour during the
war. trying to rally support for vcc and so on. He has a lot of
support in the Ukrainian community in Canada in the beginning,
and then the support faded. He was complaining bitterly about
that, by 1943-44, that he was being ignored and not taken seri-
ously. I think he became disenchanted with government circles
too. Then he went back to Britain. He was very interested all the
time in the Ukrainian cause. But | don’t think there was anything
more for him to do. [ don’t know what more he could have done.
The only thing that would frustrate him. even more than [ was
frustrated, was the slow. unorthodox and somchow unrealistic
approach of many of our pecople to getting things done. He was
anxious to get things donc at once. And the ucc in Winnipeg was
slow and laborious—a peasant type of machine that never could
make decisions or take action quickly it seemed, always narrow
and short in its vision. You could never set Winnipeg on fire. At
that time it frustrated him. and later it frustrated us very much
when we formed CURB on our own initiative because of the urgency
and magnitude of the retfugee problem.

UCSA Establishes a Headquarters in L.ondon

Once established, I wrote to tce and asked that we be admitted
as a member organization. Now uce was so young that it did not
know how to deal with organizations who wanted to become
members. UCC secretary was John Ruryk, a USRL man, ex-Cunard
Line and CNR or PR immigration and land settlement officer. When
ucsA was organized we had dealings with John Ruryk first and
later his successor. Tony Yaremovich, a young teacher from the
Krydor, Saskatchewan district. Andrij Zaharychuk (from the tHO)
became secretary after Mr. Yaremovich joined up. It took consid-
erable *‘lobbying’ in Winnipeg before ucc decided to support
financially vcsa and its Services” Club. We were considered
young, immature and likely not dependable or serious enough to
run an organization and operate a club. After all, the average age
of all the first members of ucsa was about twenty-four. Qur own
Lcsa members came from every Ukrainian community in Canada.
Many had no organizational background. Since we needed all the
help we could get, we tried to keep all our Canadian Ukrainian
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organizations posted on what we were doing through our com-
muniques to the Canadian Ukrainian press and our JCSA News-
letter. That helped generate enthusiasm back home for LCsA.

Once we decided to move ucsa to London, we had some
trouble with the Manchester people because they had wanted us
to keep our base there only and resented our move. They would
have preferred Manchester to remain the central point of Ukrain-
1an Canadian operations. We, on the other hand, felt that because
so many Canadians were stationed close to London that we really
should move the responsibilities of the Ukrainian Canadian oper-
ation to London. We did finally move in the summer of 1943,
(The decision to open a tcsa Services Club in London was col-
lectively made at our second Get-Together held in Manchester
May 1943. The executive was also asked to call the next Get-
Together in London. which was held July 31-August |, 1943 ai
the Canadian Legion Services Club in Cartwright Gardens. ) Since
my scrvice obligations took me to various parts of England and,
after the invasion of Normandy, into France, Belgium, Holland
and Germany, | visited London on weckends or my holidays only.,
We got the club organized by mail combined with the good will
and voluntary work of those in the forces actually stationed in
London or very near. Steve Kalin and | took lists of available
propertics from real estate agents and travelled from street (o street
looking for a permanent residence for tcsa. Eventually we found
the Vicarage at 218 Sussex Gardens in Paddington. | called some
members of the executive to London to see it, and we rented the
building beginning in June 1943. | cabled vce in Winnipeg:
"*Building for Services Club leased. Please cable $500 immedi-
ately for rent.”” John Ruryk claims to be the one who persuaded
Dr. Kushnir and the vece presidium to accept responsibility for
rental of the Vicarage, but it wasn't casy. The ucc helped pay the
rent. It was the best location we could find.

The military services weren’t too happy with me at first.
They checked up on me: what was | doing, where was I going.
To do anything Ukrainian was considered politically suspect. |
Icarned later that the Service Polish-Securily often travelled to
Manchester on the same trains | took—and back. In Digby I was
twice called on the carpet by my superiors not for my organiza-
tional involvement in vcsa and the Social Club in Manchester,
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but for **publishing names and locations of military units*" in cir-
cular letters. which I inadvertently had done to help members visit
one another. Canada was at war with Germany and here was a
fellow organizing soldiers and airmen into an association based
on a national or ethnic identity. Remember before the war in Can-
ada there had been false rumours about the loyalty of the Ukrain-
ians there. We proved these wrong by our enlistment, but some
suspicions remained. So setting up a Ukrainian club was a bit

tricky.

The Ukrainians of LLondon

In London by 1941 (well after the fall of Czechoslovakia in 1939),
there was an organization of Carpatho-Ukrainian refugees. How
long it had cxisted I don’t know for sure. But I have records of
our contact with them. This group persisted until around 1947,
The great thing that we got from these Ukrainians of Czech citi-
zenship was a secretary for vcsa, Mrs. Maria Kowalska, who
became secretary to our Central Ukrainian Relief Burcau (CURB)
later on.

We found in London, incidentally. as we had in Manchester,
an old Ukrainian community which became a pivot around which
we operated. the remnants of the three other Ukrainian bureaux.
Steve Davidovich, who had been director of the Ukrainian National
Information Burcau in London, financed by nationalist organiza-
tions in North America and Europe, had volunteered for the Cana-
dian armed forces and was employed as a clerk at Canadian Mil-
itary Headquarters. He had married an English girl in London,
and they had a home there, which they opened to Canadian serv-
icemen. Of course, he became a member of our association. He
was a corporal by then, a high rank at that time. So that was a bit
of a nucleus. We also found Danylo Skoropadsky and his Hetman
organization in London. He had a circle of English friends whom
he brought to our club. For him it was a good front. It was good
to be seen with Canadians while his father was living in Berlin.
But I'm convinced that in his heart he was consciously and sin-
cerely on our side. So we had him and his entourage. including
Vladimir de Korostovetz. one-time Minister of External Affairs
for Hetman Pavlo Skoropadsky. There was also the Ukrainian
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bureau that had been run by Dr. Kaye¢ and financed by Mr. Mako-
hon. another rathcr mysterious character.

[ gather that Makohon had lived somewhere or other in Man-
itoba, near Winnipeg. Prior to the war around 1937 or 1938, he
apparently married a very rich American. They opened a Ukrain-
1an Information Office in Geneva and hired one of the World War
One refugees. Evhen Bachinsky (ex-Ukrainian Red Cross) to run
it. They opened another office in London and persuaded Dr. Kaye
to look after that. He was in London then to do his Ph.D. In
Geneva there was also another office run by Yaremijiv—a man
who had been in the post-World War One Ukrainian National
Republic’s diplomatic corps. Both these gentlemen, Bachinsky
and Yaremijiv, | met in Geneva after World War Two when |
hcaded the Central Ukrainian Relief Bureau and did the Ukrainian
Canadian Relief Fund's work in Europe. I used them as a nucleus
around which to set up an affiliated Ukrainian Relief Committee
in Switzerland, which operated tfrom 1946-48.

The Nature of Our Club

Perhaps the strongest benefit of the vcsa was that it helped liter-
ally thousands of young men and women find or become more
awarce of their own Ukrainian identity. The key men and women
in our organization, throughout the war and later in the relief mis-
sion, were people like myself who had come up through the ranks
of the Ukrainian youth organizations in Canada. These organiza-
tion people were, however, a minority. The number of young
people from farms and towns who had joined the forces was much
greater. Many of them could not speak or read Ukrainian, and
many werce not surec whether they were Orthodox or Catholic—
thousands of them. But they gradually became aware and more
consciously identified with being Ukrainian. They became part of
the club, attended the alternating Orthodox/Catholic services.
strengthening our fellowship there and maturing personally all the
while. Literally hundreds began asking whether we had any lit-
erature about Ukraine and about Ukrainians in Canada. If you go
through our files and archives and see the letters we wrote to ucc,
we kept hammering away, *‘Send us litcraturc. Send us books!™’
We established a library in London, a large library, which our
servicemen were using extensively. All the Ukrainian publica-
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tions were being received—Svoboda (Freedom). Ukrainski Holos
(Ukrainian Voice), Nouyi Shliakh (New Pathway), Ukrainski Visti
(Ukrainian News). Kanadiiskyi Farmer (Canadian Farmer). etc.
Our reading-room was full of newspapers. You could find any-
thing you wanted almost. And that had a tremendous etfect on the
servicemen (Canadian. American and even Polish and Czechoslo-
vakian) that visited the club. They came and learned.

[ think it is very often overlooked that about 75 per cent of
these people were between eighteen and twenty-five years of age.
They were all young. practically all single. only a few were mid-
dle aged. We had a number of weddings that took place at the
London club, people meeting there for the first time and so on. |
met my own wife, Anne Cherniawsky. there. We found that, as
far as the members were concerned. it was only there that most of
them began to find out about the history and geography of Ukraine,
or Ukrainians in Canada. We would meet someone and ask them
where they were from. *‘Innisfree. Alberta,”’ thcy would say.
“*Where was that?'* Nobody had ever heard of it before—or Mea-
cham. or Hafford. or Krydor, Saskatchewan. Now those things
mean something to all of us. But at that time we were all young
people finding our common roots, together—the only thing we
had otherwise to share was that we were in the Canadian armed
forces, on the same side. Now the fact that somewhere back there
we did have a common origin began Lo take up more of our atten-
tion. What roots there were was a rather vague matter for many
before they discovered the club.

For those who came form the three Ukrainian Canadian youth
associations, there was less to become aware of. But for those
who came from the streets or farms, they were learning about their
roots for the first time. They became some of our best workers
once they were attracted and pitched in. For instance, in the Lon-
don club we had absolutely no hired staft. We couldn't afford to
hire anybody. but even if we could, there was no one available.
The British were totally involved in the war. You couldn't find
anyone to work in a private civilian job. The first more or less
“permanent’’ caretaker we found was Thomas Zulak who man-
aged to get himself released from the Polish forces. Later we got
Teodor Turko the same way. But we did everything by ourselves!
We drew up a schedule, we had a plan of operation. We had a
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duty club director, a duty secretary, a duty cleaner, etc.. whatever
you wanted. And whoever came to the club, whoever would be
senior among them. would say to the others who came after him,
“‘For the next two days this is your job.™”" And everybody pitched
in regardless of rank. | drew up a manual of standing orders and
guidelines or instructions, from duty president to duty caretaker,
much like an orderly officer or orderly non-commissioned otficer
in the service. Every job was written up to specifications with the
maximum opportunity for personal initiative, and everyone had
to write up his report after his tour of duty expired (which was
generally twenty-four or forty-eight hours). It often happened that
a private or corporal would be duty president or duty club director,
while a captain—the rank automatically given to our dentists and
doctors when they joined up—would be duty cook responsible for
peeling potatoes. And next weekend positions and ranks could be
reversed with the same or different personnel, all voluntary, based
on honour and good will. It was a unique social setting.

Of course, one of the reasons they liked to come to the club
was because they felt a kinship. a Kindred spirit with others of
Canadian Ukrainian background. But there was another reason,
and I don't think it is something to be ashamed of: we didn’t
charge for anything. They slept at the club for nothing. They
received cigarettes for nothing. They had coffee or snacks for
nothing. The only contribution they had to make was to do some
work. And because of this. | think people appreciated our service.
We had a number of softball teams—tournaments in Hyde Park—
we had a dance orchestra. a choir, and all of this was voluntary.
It was a cheerful place to be, as even the Winnipeg Free Press
called it, **A Homey Overseas Meeting Place™ (19 April 1944).

And then there was this family. I don’t know whether we
found them, or they found us. Their name was Pankiw. They had
been Canadians. living in Winnipeg in the 1930s. communists.
Somewhere in 1937-38 just prior to the war, they decided to leave
Canada and return to Ukraine—to the promised land, a Soviet
paradise, that’s what they expected—atter having lived in Canada
for many, many years. They had three girls. all born in Canada |
think. They went to the Soviet Ukraine, thinking that since they
were leftists and communists from Canada in this tremendously
beautiful haven of newly established Soviet Ukraine, they would
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be gods, you see. Well, they found out very soon that they were
prisoners. Their trunks were rifled. When they went to work
somebody would invade the privacy of their home. Soviet security
police. the NKVD, were always calling them in for interviews and
so on. They were being treated as if they were Canadian and
Western-planted spies or something. The regime made their lives
so miscrable there that the family got in touch with Wasyl Swys-
tun, who was at that time still a patriotic Ukrainian, a lawyer in
Winnipeg. and they begged him to get them out. He had settled
their legal matters previously, for he was one of the early Ukrain-
ian lawyers in Canada. They got in touch with him and said,
“*Help save us or we've had it.”” He was a good contact, a good
lawyer. and since they were still Canadian citizens., they could be
protected by Canada. So in 1939, just before the outbreak of the
war, they managed to get to Riga. and from there they got on one
of the last boats to London. By that time the war was on tull blast,
and they could not get any further than London. So they stayed
there, waiting for the war to end and hoping to get back to Canada.
We found them and established contact.

They were so happy to see us they threw their home open to
us—another home away from home. We were Canadians and they
had been, only now they had been enlightened by personal Soviet
experience. They were lonely for Canada. Mr. Pankiw was work-
ing somewhere in some National Service job as area warden or
something. He was also a very good carpenter, | believe. Mrs.
Pankiw and the girls were regular visitors to the club and helped
us tremendously. Mrs. Pankiw was a mother to all of us. One of
the girls joined the Auxiliary Territorial Service (ats). Every Sun-
day we would always have a formal dinner where they would be
the chief cooks and bottle-washers. With our own girls, service
people and so on. they worked like beavers. For they were people
who could provide continuity. When the war ended they went
back to Canada, to Vancouver. But at that time they were a tre-
mendous help to us.

The others helping out at the club were all local service per-
sonnel. Anne Cherniawsky was employed by RCAF headquarters
in London in the Pay Accounts Department. That was a permanent
job for her, and she was living in private billets. Emily Winarski
was another girl employed there. When we eventually found them,
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through contacts in Canada who wrote to them urging them to
visit the club, we persuaded them to give up their private quarters
and move into the club. They didn’t have to pay anything at our
place. They had a private room that they shared. But the condition
was that they would help in looking after the place during their
oft-duty time. So in a very short while, Anne Chemiawsky became
director of the club and Emily Winarski became an assistant sec-
retary. Their presence plus our luck in getting the Pawsey family
(an English family) to move in and live in the basement flat as
caretakers assured the survival of the club. At Canadian Military
Headquarters. there was Ann Crapleve. who came to us as a cor-
poral, but who was soon commissioned a lieutenant in adminis-
tration and was a tremendous asset in operating the club. She
became our treasurer. Soon we had ten to fifteen officers who
were regularly helping around the club. That also helped our sta-
tus.

Chaplains for UCSA
One of the initial things we did when vcsa was first organized in
1943 was to petition the military authorities for our own chaplains
from the Ukrainian Catholic (Uniate) and Ukrainian Orthodox
faiths. In this matter we sent special memoranda to Canada House,
to Canadian Military Headquarters, to RCAF headquarters and to
the Department of National War Services in Ottawa. Ottawa heeded
our pleas. especially since they were supported by tcc. both
Ukrainian churches and all the Ukrainian organizations at home.
You see, when war broke out and heavy recruiting and mobiliza-
tion started there were only two recognized religious categories
for all Canadians—either you were Protestant (P, or you were
Roman Catholic re). We Ukrainians were neither. But Canadian
history had not yet discovered that Canada was more than English
Py and French (rRC). So every recruit was asked, **Are you Cath-
olic?"" If he said yes, he was labelled **rc,"” if he said no, he was
tabbed *'p.”" So Ukrainian Catholics and Ukrainian Orthodox
believers, Jews, Muslims, what have you, were left out, or inac-
curatcly labelled. It is different now. We are much wiser.

So Ukrainian priests came over in the summer of 1944—
Father Semen Sawchuk (Ukrainian Orthodox) and Father Michael
Horoshko (Ukrainian Catholic) as military chaplains with the rank
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of Honorary Captain. That helped. They visited the military units
stationed in the United Kingdom and persuaded Ukrainian service
personnel to come and visit our club. At the end of the war when
we had our last Get-Together in London, November 10-11, 1945,
we must have had close to a thousand servicemen parade up and
down London. We couldn’t have a church service in our club
because 1t was much 0o small. So all the Ukrainian Catholics
went off to a Roman Catholic church (St. Edward's Convent)
while we Orthodox went to St. James® next door.

The Emerging Problem of Ukrainian Displaced Persons and
Refugees

Many of us who were deeply involved in the club were also com-
mitted to active military operations in Europe. | happened to be
one of those who was with the Second Tactical Air Force and
went to Normandy with the 126th wing of the RCAF in 1944, |
went with the advance D-Day military invasion forces and was
one of the first two Canadian air force officers to land in Nor-
mandy. Our Second Tactical Air Force had fighter squadrons—
Spitfires—three squadrons per wing. Our job was to support the
invading troops, Montgomery’s Second Army, of which the
Canadian Corps was a part. You couldn’t find a Canadian fighting
unit in which there weren’t some Ukrainians. In fact, by that time,
the legend in Europe among the Ukrainian Displaced Persons (Dps)
was that marching alongside the Canadian forces there was a
Ukrainian army coming to *‘liberate’" them.

We. on the other hand, had hcard by that time of the Ukrain-
tan Division **Galicia™ through Allied intelligence.' One of the
first dead youths I found in Normandy was a young Ukrainian lad
in German uniform—I still have the documents somewhere. The
Germans used Ukrainians as slave workers and young teenagers

1. For additional material on the Ukrainian Division **Galicia,” see Roger James
Bender and Hugh Page Taylor, Uniforms, Organization and History of the
Waffen-SS 4 (San Jose, 1975); Wasyl Vervha, Dorohamy Druhoyi Svitovovi
Vivay (Toronto: New Pathway Publishers, 1980); or General Pavlo Shandruk.
Arms of Valor (New York, 1959).
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were forced to man anti-aircraft units in defence of the **Atlantic
Wall. " To build their fortifications. the Nazis also exploited slave
labour which they mobilized into their Todt Organization. These
were Ukrainians from central or East Ukraine. Since most German
males were in the Wehrmacht, or it unfit for military service at
home running the farms, they imported millions of these foreign
labourers. Ukrainians from Poland were made to wear **p"" badges.
From Soviet Ukraine the labourers wore an **Ost™’ badge. They
were the Ost-arbeiters (East Workers). Western Europe was full
of these people. That is how 1 first got in contact with Ukrainian
refugees and began to realize the dimensions of the refugee prob-
lem. Canadian Ukrainians were still largely unaware of what was
coming or happening in Europe. All our links to Ukrainians there
had been cut off by the war.

From that time on I was on active duty in Europe up until the
middle of 1946, except for my leaves. But I kept running the club
by remote control, through correspondence. writing circular let-
ters to the executive and the membership. I would write letters,
instructions. issue directives. They went to the people who were
in London, the club director and any executive or commitiee
members left in the England. At that time the UCSA vice presidents
for the United Kingdom were Capt. Peter Smylski and Capt.
Michael Lucyk (both dentists). They got to England towards the
end of the war and were stationed in the south. Michael Lucyk
took the job of editing our UCSA Newsletter. Peter acted as my
deputy and would make decisions for me: they worked as a tcam,
looking after the details. All I did was issue directives in the form
of Executive Circulars. They sent me regular reports and every
holiday or leave | had, | went to London.

By that time, once the Allies had breached Hitler’s **Fortress
Europe.”” uvcsa members began thinking about having Get-
Togethers not only in London, but elsewhere. For example. Bill
Kereliuk and the boys in the Mediterranean Theatre organized a
social Get-Together in Rome for Christmas 1945, which Bishop
Ivan Buchko helped sponsor and attended. They even set up a
ucsa Services nucleus there. We also had a Get-Together in Paris,
and two in Brussels. Father Maxim Hermaniuk (now Metropoli-
tan) celebrated mass for our first Brussels Get-Together. He was
then just an ordinary Redemptorist Catholic priest and a rcfugee
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in Belgium. For the first Get-Together we organized in Brussels
November 25-26, 1945, three priests celebrated Mass for the
Ukrainians in the liberation forces and their own community, of
course. Our servicemen did the **chanting.”” Mykola Hrab was
president of the Ukrainian community organization in Belgium.
He had been living there since before the war. Around his people
we eventually built up a Ukrainian Relief Committee in Belgium,
which also allied itself later with curs. We also opened a ucsa
Services Club in Brussels.

The turther Allied forces advanced into Holland and Ger-
many. the more our own eftforts grew. We did the same thing
wherever we went. Wherever we found Ukrainians, we got them
together and organized committees. We told them, **Come on,
we'll help you but you've got to stand on your own two feet."’
Betore we came they had no organized relief committees amongst
themselves. Nothing. Every relief committee that was organized
on the Continent was organized by us. directly or indirectly. We
would mail out instructions, or physically bring people together
whenever we could. In Holland it went slowly. Most Ukrainians
there drifted into Belgium where there were established (now
revived) organizations. Eventually Ukrainian organizations did
get started in Holland. In Germany Ukrainian organizations were
set up in each occupation zone. In Austria it was the same. The
zones were established as soon as the Allies came in and these
territories were liberated. Of course, Allied service personnel had
no access to the Soviet Zone, but as far as the other three went
(French. British and American), we did. So we immediately
established contacts with whatever Ukrainian retfugees we could
find. By that time they were looking for us, so contact was easy.
In France there were two Ukrainian committees: one headed by
Father Perridon, the other by Father Brenzan, the Orthodox priest.
Eventually we married the two committees together under Father
Perridon.

Everywhere [ was stationed | was getting visitors and dele-
gations practically on a daily basis. The news had spread through
the refugee and displaced persons’ grapevine. Nobody could con-
trol these pp movements, there was always a certain amount of
chaos. So | was getting delegations in Germany, already. from
the Ukrainian government-in-exile. 1 had a delegation from Bishop
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Ivan Buchko, who was in Rome and morally felt that the Roman
Catholic church was responsible for Ukrainian Catholics now in
the pp camps in western Europe. [ also met a delegation in Munich
who came from Mctropolitan Polikarp, head of the Synod of Bish-
ops of the Orthodox church. They were bringing me letters and
reports about the state of the refugee situation where they were
located, and | was sending all this information back to ucc in
Winnipeg and to the United Ukrainian American Relief Commit-
tece (ULUARC) in Philadelphia, all through military channels. The
forces of occupation were the only channel of communication for
almost a year. The mail service in Germany was disrupted, and
they couldn’t send letters to Canada or the United States. We (the
Ukrainian Canadians in the occupation forces) were the only means
of communication in 1945-46. That perhaps was our greatest
immediate emergency contribution as western territories were lib-
erated, that and saving refugees from forcible repatriation.

Rev. Kushnir Visits Europe

[ was stationed at Utersen near Hamburg when Rev. Dr. Kushnir,
the president of vcc, came overseas on his fact-finding tour of
Europe. He was present at our eleventh vcsa Get-Together,
Ukrainian Christmas 1946, and at my wedding, February 2. 1946.
He really came to supervise the closing of our club. It took us over
a month to get permission for him to visit some pp camps in Ger-
many. | took him on the first lap of the journey through the British
Zone.

Kushnir's greatest contribution to our work and efforts was
his positive support, as president of ucc, which resulted in finan-
cial assistance tirst for tcsa, then for the Central Ukrainian Relief
Burcau. [ was convinced of that right from the first day | met him
on his arrival in England. W¢ had had correspondence. and so on,
but [ never knew him before. But I knew of him when | was still
teaching in Yellow Creek. I knew of him when negotiations for
forming ucc started in 1938. He represented the whole Catholic
movement. And he was the president of Buc at that time. And he
was sort of an irreplaceable president of Bu.C. Nobody else in that
organization scemed to be very interested in what was happening
to the Ukrainians. except Kushnir. In some of our own USKL files,
our organizational reports and so on, over and over and over again
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comes this business of Kushnir being a wheeler and dealer. Kos-
sar, of course, was just the same, only in UNF, but these were one-
man shows. And Kushnir was, perhaps, a force within Buc.

When Kushnir came 0 England, he took special time off
from tcC and his church. He didn’t really do anything concrete
all the time he was there, except he put on a good front. He was
a good representative. His greatest contribution was that we had
a president of vee. We could say. **This is the president of tcc,
he represents the whole Ukrainian Canadian community.”” And
the president of vcc does that. But he couldn’t talk to all people.
First of all. his English was poor, he could hardly speak English.
We had to pave the way for him, and I took him around. Once he
was amongst Ukrainians, then. of course. he was at home. We
couldn’t really do things on our own. We had to knock on doors,
we weren'teven a strong lobby. But we needed a lobby and people
like Kushnir couldn’t lobby. We could do a certain amount if we
had the right person at the right place at the right time. When the
first bps met Kushnir, many of them honestly believed that we
had the potential of raising an army. that I was a commander—
even if it was a secret commander—that there was an army of
Ukrainians coming from Canada to save. that is liberate, Ukrainc.
It was a legend for a while. They felt just because a person had a
uniform—I was an RCAF intelligence officer. and my job was to
brief pilots. to tell them where to go. what their targets were, and
when they came back to interview them and report to higher com-
mand on whether the mission was carricd out or not. That's all.
They thought [ was in espionage, and God knows what and where.
So the same fiction, | think, grew up around Kushnir. It would be
interesting to know what happened to Kushnir's archives and files,
if anything.

Solely through us at the beginning, tcc was made aware of
what was going on.' I'm sure that many must have foreseen there
would be a refugee problem, but nobody appreciated the magni-
tude of it—not thousands or tens or hundreds of thousands of
people, but millions of refugees. What could vce do? The only

I. The first Ukrainian Canadian Committee Congress was held in Winnipeg,
between June 22-24, 1943, In the published proceedings of this national
meeting, there is only onc minor reference to the problem of Ukrainian nps.

65



thing was write to us and say, "*Look up somebody," or **Give
us more information on this or that,”” or **What do you think about
that?"* To me many of those problems at that time were new prob-
lems. There were new names to learn, the history of the political
and social movements in Ukraine to learn about—luckily I lcarned
quickly. But there was little about this then that tcc or the Amer-
ican Ukrainians could do immediately.

The displaced persons were of various Kinds and categories:
“'p"* workers, Ost-arbeiters, voluntary workers, families of work-
ers, or Ukrainians in German uniforms, slave workers in the Todt
engineering organization, the political refugees of OUN and genu-
ine refugees fleeing the Red Army returning to Ukraine. We found
them, in many cases in groups or clusters, already living in large
German establishments that were left vacant at the end of the
war—factories, warchouses, military barracks and the like. These
later became the nuclei of the pp camps which were merged
together or moved as became necessary. At the very beginning in
Germany, that is in June 1945, I found ncar Hamburg, for instance,
about fifty Ukrainian girls in a munitions factory. They asked,
**What do we do?"" All I could say was, *‘Just stay here. Some-
how somebody is going to take care of you.™

Encounters with DPs

At first few people were concerned about these pps—they were
nobody’s responsibility. not even the Germans! As soon as the
Allied military government was set up, it had to look after them.
There were also thousands of people who were on the move at the
end of the war, fleeing ahead or alongside the Germans, retreating
westward from the Soviet East—refugees. Germany and Austria
were filled with such unfortunates. They were people who were
running away. escaping from the advancing Soviet armies, sal-
vaging what they could. In many cases they had no papers or
documents of any kind at all. They would just settle down in a
group, and the military government would have to do something
about them. Otherwise they'd block the roads. clog transport sys-
tems and impede our troops’ freedom of movement. There were
alrcady a lot of refugees before the war ended. people our armies
freed as they moved deeper into the Third Reich. With those ref-

66



ugees. in particular, one of the big problems was establishing who
they were. Many of them had no documents; they had lost them,
or destroyed them on purposc. Those who were in Germany and
who had been there for a year or two had something. But those
who had just come in had nothing.

There were links between the small community of emigré
Ukrainians from post-World War One days in Geneva— Yaremi-
jiv, Bachinsky—plus some new refugees like Metropolitan llar-
ion, Warsaw Mp Milena Rudnitska—and the Ukrainian commu-
nity in Paris. Bachinsky had worked in the 1920s with the Ukrain-
ian Red Cross. In that capacity. he had been associated with the
Intermational Red Cross in Geneva. Milena Rudnitska. a former
member of the Polish Sejm (Parliament), managed to get into
Switzerland very quickly, perhaps even before hostilities ceased.
They were aware of the fact that establishing identities would be
one of the major postwar problems. So they printed Ukrainian
Red Cross identity cards. They sent a few emissaries into Ger-
many and Austria with loads of these cards to issue to people who
needed one. One of the people came to me because by that time
everybody knew that Panchuk **a Canadian officer’” was there,
and there were still legends about our Canadian Ukrainian effort
circulating—that | had **thousands of people’” under my **com-
mand’’ and so on. They brought me a stack of these cards, so we
issued them.

We organized meetings in forests. bushes and camps. [ had
a portable typewriter and a military jeep, and people like r.L Jerry
Burianyk, an engineering officer in my unit, would come with
mc. And these refugees would line up and we issued these Red
Cross cards to them. I'd sign my own name as authorization. We
must have issued three, four, or maybe five thousand of those
spurious Ukrainian Red Cross cards until the authorities caught
up with the fact that these cards were not really legitimate. Later
on the British military authorities arrested some of the fellows
who were distributing these identity documents. Dr. Homzin was
one of them. We had to bail them out. [ had to go to the British
authorities and explain that in such a crisis. an emergency, there
was a need for some sort of personal identity document. It was a
question of saving lives. Generally speaking, the British authori-
lies were very understanding and receptive to these things.
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Saving lives, yes. You have to understand how much that
meant. Just after the war there was a **big hunt’* on by the Soviets
at about the same time as the United Nations Relief and Rehabil-
itation Administration (UNRRA) was initiating its operations. The
UNRRA was the result of international deliberations like the Atlan-
tic Conterence, San Francisco Conference and, above all, the Yalta
Agreement of February 1945, between Churchill, Roosevelt and
Stalin. One of the most important Soviet aims, of which the West
was, on the whole, ignorant, was to get as many of these Ukrain-
ian, Russian, Baltic and other eastern European refugees back to
their side of the Iron Curtain as quickly as possible. And that was
done on the basis of the Yalta Agreement: each Allied country
would repatriate its own nationals immediately after they were
liberated and hostilities ceased, and each would help the other in
this matter. Few servicemen in the West were even aware of the
Yalta Agrecement and what it was really all about. But the Soviets
knew. And they insisted that the West send these **Soviet citi-
zens™' back. Repatriating people to their areas of origin became
one of the postwar problems—then called relief and rehabilita-
tion. The Soviets had helped set up the UNRRA and were on its
executive councils, so they had great influence.

UNRRA was committed to assist in the repatriation of Soviet
citizens. and anyone they decreed to be a Soviet citizen was sup-
posed to go back. We thought, at first, when we leamed about it
that this was a voluntary thing. But the Soviets demanded that it
be compulsory, that people had to go back regardless of their
wishes. In fact, in many places where they (the Soviet repatriation
officers) were free to roam. they would stop a civilian in the street,
and if they found a Ukrainian. they would very often load him
into a jeep or vehicle and that was it. | was reading in my diary
about an incident in 1945 when four Soviet officers came and
picked up the leader of a Ukrainian group. Olya. Next time | came
lo visit the group, she was gone. A Soviet jeep had called on them
with a Ukrainian-speaking Red Army licutenant. They had taken
her to the Soviet **Welcome Home'” Repatriation Camp nearby—
Folingbostle. We tried to rescue her. The trail took us to the camp,
but stopped there. We were refused entry and they claimed to have
no information about Olya. She just disappeared.
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People were forcibly repatriated. No doubt about it. We tried
to follow it up, Fi. Stewart and I, but there was regular daily train
transport operating from the repatriation camp straight across the
Soviet border. Olya was gone. Thousands of others went the same
way before anybody realized what was happening. Forcible repa-
triation became quite an issue in 1945-46. 1 was stationed near
Hamburg at the time. Major Michael Syrotiuk (from Edmonton),
a Canadian Ukrainian officer in the military government, was near
Copenhagen. 1 got a telegram from him, **Do something imme-
diately! 365 Ukrainians are going to be shipped off to the Soviet
Union tomorrow.'” What could | do except send a telegram to
Winnipeg and the same to Philadelphia. And they. in turn, sent
telegrams of protest to Ottawa and Washington. Sometimes these
helped block such shipments, sometimes not. We did what we
could. Still hundreds and thousands were sent back against their
will.

How many actually were forced and how many went back
willingly. it is hard (o say. There are no statistics on that. [ have
a sneaking suspicion that more went back to Ukraine voluntarily
than were forced, but that's only a suspicion. For many of the
ordinary working peasants. who were in Germany or Austria as
slave labourers, | think that the Soviet propaganda was strong
enough to say ‘*Come home.”" and they would go back. Home-
sickness, their bad experiences in the West under German rule,
the uncertainty ol the refugee period—all that would militate in
favour of people going back—uand some were just naive. UNRRA
and later on the International Reliet Organization (1rRO) objected
very much to the activities of those Ukrainians who were a little
bit more intelligent. like [van Bahrianyi, who was conscious of
the communist situation in East Ukraine and agitated against the
pps return there.! Such activists did go around to the pp camps and
try to explain to people that, **Look, you're going back out of the
frying pan into the fire.”” And the Soviets. of course. picked that
up and that’s what created difficulties for Canadian Ukrainian

I. Ivan Bahrianyi, Why I Do Not Want To Go *'Home'" (1947) (first published
in The Ukrainian Quarteriy u, no. 3 (1946)) was highly influential in explain-
ing to the Allies why many Ukrainians refused to return to the ussk. Bahrianyi
was an East Ukrainian publicist and founding member of the Ukrainian Rev-
olutionary Democratic Party.
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refugee rclief efforts. UNRRA and 1Ro said, **We allow these Cana-
dian UKkrainians to visit Dp camps.’” The Soviets countered, “*How
do we know that these ‘representatives’ aren’t coming to start
‘agitating’ against repatriation?’” We insisted that the pes should
get Ukrainian newspapers from Canada, that they should be
allowed to distribute these. But the occupation authorities wor-
ried—what news did these papers contain? What outlook did they
promote? Were they anti-Sovict, anti-repatriation, inflammatory?
So for some time they banned newspapers from Canada and the
United States because of their **agitation.” Communists and fel-
low travellers often working as *“officers™ in UNRRA were largely
responsible for this. A lot of the people had good intentions, but
our involvement complicated things for them—agitation on both
sides, for staying and for returning.

I would imagine not only that the naive, poor, peasant, East
Ukrainian, who was homesick and wanted to go back to his vil-
lage, but also large numbers. who were not acclimatized to the
West, also went back to Ukraine. Apart from these who went
voluntarily for legitimate. emotional reasons, I wouldn’t be sur-
prised that some went buck to see if they couldn’t tuke the oppor-
tunity to get back into the countryside and get in touch with the
underground (Ukrainian Insurgent Army—utea) still there. The
ouN and Supreme Ukrainian Liberation Council (vnvr) had their
couriers between western Europe and Ukraine until the late 1940s,
if not beyond. There remained a limited and difficult circulation
between the refugees and the homeland., but it did exist.

The ucc could not do much by itself. The Canadian govemn-
ment was still too afraid of any Canadian Ukrainian activities that
had any political tinge to them. tcc had a political—anti-Soviet—
colouration. So it was suggested. and the federal government
accepted this, that a separate relief body or organization be set up
to help the Ukrainian pps. The same people who were executive
officers of the ucc became executive officers in the Ukrainian
Canadian Relief Fund. a totally separate purely relief organization
theoretically. For a while it was registered with the Canadian Red
Cross and affiliated with it. In fact, in their first few months. or
maybe year of operation. their letterhead said **Ukrainian Cana-
dian Relief Fund (Ucrr), affiliated with the Canadian Red Cross. ™’
That's formally how our efforts were organized. But the UCRF
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headquarters was in Winnipeg while the pp problems were in
Europe. especially in Germany. Austria and ltaly. People had to
be there to be effective helpers. Eventually the Canadian Red Cross
people got too embarrassed to keep up the link with CCRF—it had
too political a quality. So it then took on an independent existence.,
Nevertheless, the Canadian Red Cross formally made us Red Cross
members and representatives in 1946 for operations in Europe.

The United Ukrainian American Relief Committee

In the United States at almost the same time as LCC was established
in Canada, the Ukrainian American Congress Committee was being
formed. The two committees kept communicating with each other.
The first Congress in Canada was held in Winnipeg in June 1943,
ucsa was already in existence, active, and had held two large Get-
Togethers in Manchester. We even sent grectings to the Congress.
Aid for the ucsa (Active Service Overseas) Services Club in Lon-
don was a major item in ucc plans during the war years. In the
United States it was also foreseen that some relief to refugees in
Europe would be needed. The American Ukrainians, we found,
seemed to be able to foresee the acute need for aid and welfare for
Ukrainian war victims and pps, but neither Ukrainians in the United
States, nor our own people in Canada could really appreciate the
urgency and the magnitude of the bp problem in the immediate
postwar years.

In the United States there was a Ukrainian relief commilttee
formed in Philadelphia and another in Detroit. I am not surc which
came first. One of the key men in Philadelphia was Dr. Walter
Gallan, a World War One Ukrainian veteran and immigrant. One
of the key men in Detroit was a lawyer. John Panchuk, Canadian-
born (but no relation). Later these two committees united to form
the United Ukrainian American Relief Committee. John Panchuk
became the president and Walter Gallan the executive director.

Various Ukrainian-language ncwspapers arrived at the Lon-
don club from both Canada and the United States. so we were able
to follow these North American events. Whenever problems arose
overseas, now at least, we had addresses from the newspapers to
write back home to—these were our first contacts. We based all
our hopes on subsequent cooperation from both Philadelphia and
Winnipeg. They, in turn, authorized me personally to become
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their on-the-spot reliet mission. Eventually our initiative helped
form relief committees in Turkey, Norway, Sweden, Argentina,
Brazil, Paraguay, Uruguay. Peru and almost every country in
western Europe.

How Best to Help?

All of this work for the Ukrainian pps didn't go unnoticed. Some
of my colleagues in the Canadian forces were perturbed because
I was so involved in refugee affairs by 1945-46. Even Father
Michael Horoshko was also getting worried. Therefore. while |
was on the Continent, a special Lcsa meeting was called in Lon-
don, in February 1945, in my absence at which | was criticized
for my actions and activities—they were considered to be too
political and might bring sanctions upon tcsa from the Allied
military authoritics. | couldn’t accept that. I believed it was our
moral duty and obligation to try to help these Ukrainian victims
of war to the maximum of our abilities. We were doing humani-
tarian work—we were still serving as Canadian servicemen—who
could deny us our relief work? But others disagreed. So I sent in
my resignation as UCsA president. Father M. Horoshko. 1 believe,
was the leader of this revolt. When my resignation was received
the tcsa executive still in London called another meeting and
formally turned down my resignation and gave me a total and
unanimous vote of confidence. F:L William Kereliuk was then act-
ing sccretary and it was he who helped re-establish stability in
UCSA at this time.

UCSA Transformed: the Central Ukrainian Relief Bureau

Still, just as the period of transition from UCSA to CURB activities
was taking place, it was touch-and-go whether we would **stick
together’; when there was a fear that we were getting over-
involved and that it all might get very embarrassing. especially
because there were moments when, perhaps under a different
regime, | might have been court-martialled—for affairs, like that
of the Ukrainian Red Cross identity cards incident—several Cana-
dian Ukrainians backed away trom refugee relief work. Perhaps
they should not be overly faulted. We all had military duties to
perform, yet here we were interterring with people who were being
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arrested and put into the klink—Ilike Doroshenko in Brussels,
Dmytro Donsow in London and others, some of whom were
accused of being war collaborators and criminals. As soon as the
Germans were out of Belgium, it was a common thing for one
Belgian to point a finger at another and claim, **She's a collabo-
rator. Yesterday she was sleeping with a German.™™ It was easy
for any forcigner in Belgium and France to get into trouble. He
had to keep his mouth shut and stay inside. Foreigners were very
easily suspect. Ukrainian pps had to be careful. Let me give you
an example.

Mykola Hrab came to me one day in Brussels and said, **Look
you've got to help. About fifteen Ukrainians were arrested. picked
up off the street yesterday by the Belgians and interned in that
school building.’' They were there in a gymnasium, sleeping on
straw. God knows what for. [ couldn’t even speak French. but
Hrab could. And [ just said to the authorities, **I'm a Canadian
officer and these are Ukrainians and I've spoken with them and
know who they are. I'll take responsibility for them.'" And they
were released. 1 had no business doing that! No right at all. That
was how we commonly had to operate. People were coming to
me all the time with such requests. 1'd be in the officers™ mess
and a phone call would come in from the guard at the main gate,
“*Flight Lieutenant Panchuk. there’s someone here at the gate to
see you. " I'd go out and there’s a delegation with requests that
had nothing to do with our military operations in Germany. But
wc'd have to do something. We cared, and so we worked.

Getting in Touch with Our Ukrainian Division ‘‘Galicia®’

Up until that time, few Canadian Ukrainians knew of the Ukrain-
ian Division **Galicia.”" Delegations came to see us with infor-
mation about this military formation. I had some access to litera-
ture so we knew they had laid down their arms before the British
in Austria and had been sent, route march. across the Alps to
camps near Rimini, [taly. Refugees who were in Germany had
brought me information and news about them, which I sent on to
tcee in Winnipeg and utarc in Philadelphia. Some we translated
into English for the British and American authorities. We did all
we could to familiarize the West with the background of the Divi-
sion, who they were, where they were and so on. We wanted to
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make certain that they were not unjustly treated as war criminals
of Nazis. since we knew quite a bit about them.

There was one very interesting incident relating to them when
they were already in Rimini. We were in London in 1946. Flight
Lieutenant Joseph Romanow, an RCAF pilot and an excellent ucsa
officer, had been posted back to England after flying in the China-
India-Burma Theatre. He was there preparatory to returning to
Canada for discharge. While in England he was flying service
trips to Paris, Brussels, Frankfurt—the main European cities—
carrying vips. His job was to pilot a bc3-Dakota. One day he came
to the club and said, **Look, I'm going to Rome tomorrow. Any-
body want to come along?"’ I said, **Well, [ can’t go. I'm tied up
and returning to Germany."' But Capt. Peter Smylski, who had a
whole week off, said. “*I'll go, but how do we do ut?** Well Joe
said. "1 know the route blindfolded. I fly it all the time. So I don"t
need an Observer Navigator. My navigator is going to appreciate
having a few extra days of holiday here in London., so his uniform
is available.”” So Peter Smylski, a dentist. became an RCAF uni-
formed officer with an Observer’s badge and Flight Licutenant in
rank. He sat in the navigator’s seat beside Joe Romanow and off
they went to Rome.

Our purpose was to take advantage of this rare opportunity
to establish direct contact with the Ukrainian Catholic Bishop Ivan
Buchko. who chaired the Ukrainian Reliet Committee in Rome.,
and through him with the Division, who, as [ have said, were
being held in Rimini as SEp (Surrendered Enemy Personnel). We
had already received certain mail from Canada and the United
States that we wanted to pass on to these people, which we couldn’t
do directlly. And we knew from Bishop Buchko that there was
mail there that had to go to Canada and the United States. The
other purpose was a desire for first-hand information and contact.
So Romanow and Smylski met with Bishop Buchko. He had to
send his emissaries to Rimini to get the material we wanted, and
Joe Romanow had to stall his return to England by claiming incle-
ment weather en route. The next day. even though the weather
was beautiful in Rome, Romanow told the waiting vips, *‘Look.
the weather is pretty bad. | guess we'd better stay a day or two
longer."" So they stayed three days in Rome in order to complete
their mission. The people they took down there had to stay longer
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than they expected, but our team had performed its mission. We
got direct links set up with Rimini. That was how we eventually
helped move them to England during mid to late 1947. By late
1948 most were civilianized there.

Later we received much more information about the Division
through messages and contacts in Germany—pecople like Profes-
sor Kubijovych, who had been one of those who had helped set
up this formation in Lviv during the war. He could give us all the
relevant details. Anything more we needed we could get because
between the pps in Germany and the Rimini group there was an
underground courier system circulating information all the time,
The British authorities in London didn’t really know what we
were doing. Those at the military bases where we were stationed
didn’t mind. Most military men were very friendly to the Ukrain-
ians. At Rimini there were two officers, a Bntish colonel and a
captain, who were in charge of our Ukrainian skps. They were
very friendly men, they liked their charges. These British officers
heard directly from the Division’s men why the Division was
formed and who it fought. They knew that in the Canadian armed
forces there were thousands and thousands of Ukrainians. We
were loyal Canadians and we were helping those in Rimini, so,
they reasoned. their prisoners must be decent men. You know our
strong position with the British and Canadian authoritics, and later
on with the Americans, rested on this fact—that we had such a
large number of active servicemen, Canadian Ukrainians who had
voluntarily supported the Allied war eftort. The Allied authorities
exchanged communications. We were always in touch with Can-
ada House. Everyone knew that Canadian Ukrainians had fully
carned a say in Western affairs by dint of their sacrifices. So that,
shortly after the war’s end. when we had all this information and
I was still in uniform, the War Office in London called me in and
made me a tirm offer. ‘*Look, we'd like you to be our advisor,
our consultant on Ukrainian affairs.™

I agreed. And they in turn agreed not to do anything on
Ukrainian matters, especially the Ukrainian Division *‘Galicia,”
without my advice. **You're in touch with the Ukrainian com-
munity in Canada and the authorities there. The Canadian author-
ities in Ottawa will listen more to the Ukrainian Canadians who
arc there and who have their people at home growing Canada’s:
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wheat, than to Canada House or to us here. So it’s up to you.™
And a lot of the information about Ukrainian pps was channelled
through me back to Canada and to British and American officials.
When the question arose of moving the Division from Rimini to
the United Kingdom between May and October 1947, [ was con-
sulted on it. I went down to ltaly and helped close up the camp. |
even made a film of the closing of the camp. I put the Ukrainians
aboard a train with British officers en route to the ships. The latter
then turned over to me all the money they had taken from censor-
ing the letters received by the internees from the United States and
Canada—thousands of dollars—I put it in my car and smuggled
it across the Alps to England. When they arrived in England [ met
them in Shetficld, greeting them as they disembarked. I organized
them into various committees for the different camps and hostels
where they were being sent to around Britain. The British War
Office permitted me to take some of these soldiers to London to
work at CURB., which was formed by now—they couldn’t sleep in
town since technically they were all now prisoners of war. so they
were posted to a former pow camp for Germans located near Lon-
don and given bus passes to commute to our oftices. These men
were very helpful to me—they distributed moncy back to the
rightful owners, compiled statistics on who was where, visited
camps to see what welfare help was needed and generally kept us
fully informed on the affairs of these relocated soldiers now that
they were in Britain.

The Association of Ukrainians in Great Britain Develops

CURB also engaged people like Steve Yaworsky, formerly of the
Polish air force. On January 19, 1946 we had helped establish a
fairly strong and viable Association of Ukrainians in Great Britain
(AUGB). Initially there had been formed an Association of Ukrain-
ian Soldiers in the Polish Armed Forces—it consisted almost
entirely of Ukrainians serving in the Polish forces under British
command during the war and the civilians who had come with
them to Britain. We literally compelled these Ukrainians, and
there were hundreds of them. to get organized. And we gave them
the use of ucsa facilities at 218 Sussex Gardens. They could come
there, live there, just as our own UCsAa members had done. They
had keys to the place. They set up their own press and newspaper,
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Nasha Meta (Our Aim). But that was only for the Ukrainians in
the Polish forces. As soon as we had the Division’s men in Eng.
land in 1947. we could not fit in or cope with European Voluntary
Workers and others arriving from the pp camps as well in just a
servicemen’s organization. So we put on a larger hat. We reor-
ganized and changed the name to AUGB, to which everyone could
belong. We knew that our time in England was limited, that it
would eventually be up to them once the Canadian Ukrainians
went back home. So we got all of the Ukrainians arriving in Eng-
land to organize and stand up on their own strength and resources.
We were helping create in England the infrastructure for an orga-
nized British Ukrainian life—something that had been all but non-
existent before the war.

I was only a shadow president at first. The AUGB’S first pres-
ident was Mr. Mykyta Bura, now living in Toronto. He was an
ex-member of the Polish Sejm, not a soldier. but a diplomat, a
solid character with time on his hands. His sons were in the Polish
forces. actually with the RAF Polish wing. George Jenkala, a
Ukrainian soldier in the Polish army. became the AUGB secretary.,
Others who were in England at this time were 0 M. Oparenko,
F0 G. Salsky and FL S. Nahnyhda—all three Polish air force
officers, serving with the rRAF, came to work for AUGB.

Now that the war was over, the problem of political involve-
ment by service personnel didn’t exist to the same degree. Most
of the vcsa executive, voluntary workers and all of my friends
were back in Canada. There were only some latecomers to Eng-
land left in London. who had little priority for repatriation. and
we started leaning on them very heavily—Bill Byblow. Mike Kry-
sowaty and others. | applied to the RCAF headquarters for an exten-
sion of my service overseas. This was granted and | was posted:
once again to Germany to serve another year with the occupation
forces.

We had a meeting of all people lett at 218 Sussex Gardens—
among them Capt. Smylski. L Romanov, Capt. Father
Horoshko—and [ said, **Okay, if working for our Ukrainian ref-
ugees is a delicate thing, how do we go about it? Couldn’t we
form a separate relief bureau?’’ It was the only answer. So we just
there and then called into being the Central Ukrainian Relief Burcau
(«cURB). That's all. There was no justification. There was no
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authority. There was no request. Nobody yet knew anything about
it. We just got together there, talked, then said. ‘*As of now we
are CURB. [ts operational records begin on September 15, 1945,
although, tormally, we only started on December 31, 1945. For
a while tcsa and CURB existed side by side as parallel but separate
organizations, and 1 headed both.

We were going to bombard vcc in Winnipeg hard, confront
vuaRrc in Philadelphia and tell all our Ukrainians in North America
that we had created CURB and that they nust be our sponsors. Our
resources were too limited. I had been appointed by tce to be
director of CURR and to be responsible for all relief work on behalf
of both the Ukrainian Canadian Relief Fund and the United
Ukrainian American Relief Committee Limited, but I was still on
active service overseas. We were trying to meet the Ukrainian
refugees” urgent needs. My general instructions from ucc in Win-
nipcg when they appointed me were, *‘Do whatever you think
must be done.”” Quite a vague mandate, but also one that permit-
ted great flexibility.,

A Strictly Canadian Affair: CURB’s Operations

The day we decided to form cURrB there were no American Ukrain-
ians at the meeting. It was strictly a Canadian Ukrainian affair.
And Canadians. in fact, carried the load for almost a year—from
the end of 1945 through 1946—before the American Ukrainians
really got involved. They gave us some money after CLRB was
established and after vcc in Winnipeg pressured them into doing
s0. Formally, utArc agreed to share the budget, fifty-fifty, with
ucc. But at the start it was strictly Canadian Ukrainian efforts that
got things going. And it was the same people, more or less, who
had set up and run t:csa’s London club, the same facilities and the
same executive personnel.

By this time things were happening quite fast in Europe.
Military government, as foreseen by the Allies, was supposed to
be a short transition period. It was followed by four-power zones
of occupation, with the idea that as soon as possible the local
civilian population would be allowed to take over their own man-
agement. It happened within a few short months in France, Bel-
gium and Holland. But in Germany and Austria it couldn’t happen
that way. They had been the enemy. So there the Allies estab-
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lished the ccaG, the Control Commission for Germany. After the
armies relinguished control, the ccG took over. This was taking
place towards the end of 1946.

Stanley Frolick Arrives

Some time before Lcsa disbanded in London there was a knock
at the door and a fellow came in dressed in khaki—Captain Stan-
ley W. Frolick. He had come over to London from Canada en
route to taking a position with the ccG and had further training to
do in London. Indeed two Canadian Ukrainians came over to work
with ¢cG among the thousands of others attached to this new orga-
nization. Many of them were soldiers. people who resigned from
the military government to stay with the ccG. They were happy in
Europe and didn’t want to go home. You could do that. You could
apply and be discharged overseas. I could have taken my dis-
charge from the RCAF overseas and joined the €CG or UNRRA. Any
of us could have done that because they were recruiting all the
time and needed people with experience in Europe. Service duty
with the forces was a great asset.

The other Ukrainian who came over to work with the ccc
was a fellow who titled himselt as Bishop Urbanovitch, from
Winnipeg. Both he and Frolick came to our club. The bishop
claimed to have at least four or five parishes in his jurisdiction.
He claimed to have several degrees. He was really a bit of a tuke
I think. For instance he pretended to be an army chaplain. Stan
was not like that. Stan was young and very knowledgeable on
Ukrainian matters. Before war broke out in 1939 he had been a
student in West Ukraine, then occupied by Poland. There he had
become active in the Ukrainian nationalist underground, the OuN,
I understand that he just made it out of the Soviet Union before
the Germans invaded. Unless I'm mistaken he made it out via
Japan. Anyway, back in Canada during the war, he was linked to
UNF and worked in Ottawa for the government. After the war he
came overseas to be in the ccG. He wore a uniform, with the rank
of Captain—cca personnel had the appearance of military men in
order to make the German population feel that this was a conti-
nuity of the authority that had just defeated them and now ruled
over them. So Stan Frolick came to England. He was to take
further training as a translator and specialist in castern European
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and Soviet affairs in London, as was Urbanovitch. Then they were
both to go on to Germany. So his intention was to finish his course,
mostly a Russian-language course, I believe, taught by the School
of Slavonic and East European Studies, University of London.
But they were almost daily visitors at vcsa. At first they lived in
the club. but later this became inconvenient, so they moved to
private quarters.

So when all this stuff with the Ukrainian refugees was begin-
ning to mount and we got together and founded curp with Stan
Frolick's participation and I became the director, Stan the secre-
tary and Peter Smylski became deputy director, we said, **Who's
going (o do the work here on the spot?’ I was going back to
Germany. So we said Stan Frolick was the man. He knew the
Ukrainian language perfectly, he worked well with us as a friend
and as part of a team. So we persuaded Stan to abandon his ¢cG
work and to work for us full-time. He was interested. So he became
the gencral secretary for cURB. We let him live in our building
now and tried to get LCC to give us additional funds so we could
pay him a small salary. All this was minimal. We wanted him to
stay there and act as a pivot and pillar for curs. (It must be re-
cognized and appreciated, and [ want to be the first to do so. that
Stan Frolick’s voluntary resignation from CCG. giving up an inter-
national military career tor the very insecure. uncertain and low
paying position he got in CURB. was an act of truc devotion to the
Ukrainian causec. After all, the rest of us had each completed a
period of military service which, regardless of how long or how
glorious or insignificant, was, nevertheless, acknowledged with a
certificate of honourable service and medals of recognition. He
would get none of this. Instead he was being asked to give up a
career. after only a few short months overseas. It was an act of
sacrifice on his part which should be recorded.)

We took one of the rooms in our Sussex Gardens building
and just put a sign on the door—cUrRB—so that we wouldn’t mix
ucsa with curRB. We organized a new set of files for curs. The
relief work was growing and growing fast. We needed daily cler-
ical help. So we hired an English girl to do our English typing,
and we found a Mrs. Kowakska who could do our Ukrainian typ-
ing. | found a Ukrainian typewriter in a second-hand store which
[ bought and we already had an English typewriter from ucsa, so
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we were bilingual. We started doing all sorts of things. Stan came
in daily. By then UNRRA had established its teams on the Conti-
nent. International relief work was moving apace very quickly.
How rapidly could we deploy to take care of our Ukrainian nps?

One of the first big jobs we tackled was a monumental thing
really. It was a stupid thing looking at it now with hindsight, but
we did it and it served its purpose. We drew up a small question-
naire, and we thought we could register every Ukrainian refugee
or bp in western Europe. Monumental! We thought that there would
be thousands. perhaps five 10 ten thousand. Actually it turned out
that there were more than a million. Nobody at that time, when
the war ended, really realised how many Ukrainians there were, |
don’t think we still do. But now I think there must have been about
2> million—at least one million of whom were repatriated or who
went back voluntarily to Ukraine, and about 35,000-40,000 of
whom eventually ended up as immigrants to Canada. Other
hundreds of thousands went to the United States and God knows
where. all over the free world.! These are just off-the-cuff esti-
mates, but | think pretty close to the truth.

Much was happening. Everyone was running around and so
were we. Sending memoranda in defence of these Ukrainian nps
everywhere, running protests against torcible repatriation, getting
Mrs. Roosevelt involved in saving our pes, all while setting up
the AUGB and continental Ukrainian relief committees. All these
activities centred around our London office. So 218 Sussex Gar-
dens was humming again. And | was the communications channel
on the Continent. as were others. Sergeant George Lucky) was
with the British Army of Occupation on the Rhine. He was one
of our links there. All our contacts meant that we could monitor
developments quickly, report back on them to North America and
do whatever we could to ameliorate conditions on the spot. We
were kept very busy!

The Ukrainian Canadian Veterans’ Association

But our concerns were not solely tied to the Ukrainian pps. We
were thinking of what the future of our tcsa would be in Canada.
Could we keep that wartime camaraderie and unity going there?

1. Scholarly descriptions of the post-World War Two refugee problem are pro-
vided in Malcolm Proudfoot. European Refugees, 1939-1952: a Study in
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To try. we started the Ukrainian Canadian Veterans® Association
evaearly in 1945, An appointed committee. consisting of repa-
triated vCsA members or executive officers—like Ludwig Woijci-
chowsky (Kaye). John Yuzyk, Steve Kalin and John Karasev-
ich—formed it. Because Capt. Karasevich lived in Winnipeg, he
became our key man in ucva and represented us to vec. These
UCVA representatives’ job was to set up a Canadian Ukrainian vel-
erans” organization which would help look after the welfare, repa-
triation and rehabilitation of our own soldiers back home. We
were all young men and women going back—some to school,
others to work, some were cripples and needed help and so on.
This was a problem which the older generation of Ukrainians in
Canada hadn’t foreseen or taced up to earlier, They were more
interested in Ukraine and in the liberation of Ukraine and the re-
fugees. But who cared about the fellows who were returning from
service overseas? Yet we had been the oncs who had proven to
Canada and the empire that our pecople were loyal citizens of this
country.

Under pressure from us, vcc formed an additional committee
in Winnipeg—a veterans’ rehabilitation committee. The head of
that committee was a lawyer, now judge. John R. Solomon. That
was the beginning of tcva. This transplanting of ucsa from Eng-
land to Canada, there to be known as Lcva, was a gradual process
from early 1945 through 1946. It was a funnelling of people from
the one to the other and a restructuring of their organizational
affiliations. Eventually we even sent all our vcsa documents and
files to Canada.

ucvA started publishing a magazine called Opinion—a con-
tinuation of our UCSA Newsletter—and for a while it worked, but
it started to flounder. The only reason that Lcva was functioning
at all was because there was a bunch of veterans in Winnipeg,
who were still collecting postwar benefits. They were getting paid
for jobs. They were setting up businesses, going to school, some
of them were setting up Canadian Legion branches. A group of
them. for instance, got together and organized a delivery mail
service called Spitfire Service. They were running around Win-

Forced Population Movement (London: Faber and Faber Ltd, 1957); and in
Jacques Vernant. The Refugee in the Post-War World (New Haven, Conn.:
Yale University Press, 1953).
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nipeg on motorcycles. They were still young. But to get to solid
things. to organize the grass roots. to form branches of ucva and
so on in the field, therc was no one. vcc did not keep its end of
the bargain. They stopped financing vcva field workers, and the
organization of our veterans in Canada came to a halt by mid-
1946. Instead several Ukrainian branches of the Royal Canadian
Legion were formed. registered and chartered in Montreal,
Toronto, Hamilton, St. Catharines. Winnipeg and Edmonton. One
tcva branch was registered and chartered in Windsor. vcva cells
were formed, but not registered anywhere formally (except, of
course. with ucva hecadquarters) in Ottawa, Oshawa. Sudbury,
London. Niagara Falls, Kingston. Dauphin. Saskatoon. Prince
Albert, Lethbridge. Calgary, Vegreville. Vancouver and a few
other places. Nothing more happened until [ came back from Eng-
land later in 1946.

So while curB was growing in London, ucva was setting up
in Winnipeg and ucsa was gradually petering out—all in this tran-
sition period. 1945-46. curs. meanwhile. was taking under its
wing both European Ukrainian relief committees and various
Ukrainian groups in places like Argentina and Brazil. Every relief
committee which existed or which we thought should exist we put
on our cURB letterhcad. And as soon as they were formed. or in
the process of being formed. we'd give them a letter signed by
Frolick and myself saying, for example, **This is to certity that
the Ukrainian Reliet Committee in Belgium is affiliated with curs
and any assistance and cooperation that you can provide them with
would be sincerely appreciated.”” We did that in Rome with Bishop
Buchko. in Paris, anywhere and with anybody who wanted to
form a relief committee. Anybody who wanted CURB's help was
welcome to it. And by that time. we saw that we also needed a
body in England at least on paper. So I made a trip to Manchester
and we founded a relief committee in Britain. Michael Cannon
became the president, Lesniowsky was the secretary. | don’t think
that during its period of existence they wrote more than ten letters,
if that. At this time the Division was still in Rimini and there were
Evws coming into England under the **Westward Ho™ schemes
and the ALGB was running its own show. So the old community in
Manchester and their social club became somewhat redundant and
unnecessary. But in the transition we nceded them on paper.
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All this time | was travelling around Europe visiting the np
camps. I saw them grow from small groups of people to camps
with three, four, five thousand people in them. So it is very hard
to generalize about the pp camps. Camp organization and admin-
istration depended very much on which occupation zone it was in.
The Americans, for instance. turned over everything to UNRRA and
gave it a free hand pretty well. The British preferred to keep all
authority and responsibility in the hands of the military govern-
ment. but gave the refugees inside the pbp camps a relatively free
hand.

‘The question of Ukrainian identity was one of the earliest
problems. Who. the authoritics wondered. were these Ukraini-
ans? Were they Soviet citizens who should be repatriated. or Poles
who should be placed in Polish bp camps, or were they a scparate
people? The small camps which sprang up spontaneously gener-
ally in the centres where these people were employed (munitions
factories, military bases, etc.) had to be merged to facilitate the
logistic needs of management and control. Certain camps would
be liquidated, their inhabitants moved about. And what about the
political disturbances becoming so evident? In some cases people
had to be separated. Sometimes even Ukrainians from the differ-
ent regions had to be segregated. Lysenko vp camp, near Han-
nover. was a big problem. It was a political hotbed—West
Ukrainians against East Ukrainians, Orthodox against Catholic,
OUN Revolutionaries (OUNr) versus OUN Solidarists (oUNs) and so
on.

Sometimes a lot of our people started as a sub-camp. a suburb
camp of a Polish one because there were more Poles locally, or
as a sub-camp of a Baltic one. Gradually they wanted to be by
themsclves. It varied. In the camps where there were Ukrainians
in a majority, the largest number of them weren't political emi-
grants, just plain uprooted humanity. The political refugees were
those who claimed that the whole diaspora was a political emigra-
tion, that this was the difference between this one and the interwar
emigration to Canada. The political refugees were largely to be
found in the last stream who came into Germany and Austria from
the East. They were literally moving out of Ukrainc at the last
moment just in front of the Soviets. Some UPA groups even man-
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aged to get out as late as the fall of 1947.' A lot of them were
ardent nationalists and violently anti-communist. But the majority
of those who were in Germany and Austria earlier, were slave
workers and pps, only relatively few of whom were political. Of
this latter type most were those who were emigré politicians from
the World War One years. like Hetman Pavlo Skoropadsky, Prof,
Kubijovych, the Ukrainian Republican government supporters who
had been based in Warsaw. These people had felt that it was nec-
essary to get to the West, there to proclaim the Ukrainian cause,
They ended up in territories overrun by the Germans during World
War Two. Some believed German lies that they would free Ukraine
from the Soviets. Later, of course. other political refugees got out
to the West. I've mentioned the vpa already. There were also the
oUN cadres. Well, there were other groups of theirs who were sent
out as emissarics to Italy in late 1943, and some were sent to Spain
towards the end of the war. For these people, one way or another,
it was possible to travel to other countries via an organized
Ukrainian underground.

One incident | know of is how two upA and UHVR emissaries
got through to Spain. where. unfortunately. the Spanish authori-
ties got suspicious about them. Spain was supposedly neutral. Yet
these Ukrainians, thought to be agents of some power, were
arrested and put in jail in Madrid just at the time the war had
ended. There was a big conference of the Pax Romana organiza-
tion in London, a strong. Catholic international organization. There
were delegations from all of the countries that were free and able
to send somcone, There was a big delegation from Spain. Through
our own network of informants we learned about these two fel-
lows who were arrested in Madrid. So Joe Ramanov, Stan Frolick
and Father Horoshko went'to the Pax Romana conference as **del-
egates from Canada.™" all in uniform. They were to establish con-
tact with the Spanish delegates at the conference, which they did.
They had a conversation and told them. **Do you know that you

1. On October 1. 1947 the Toronto Globe and Mail carried a front-page article
regarding the penetration of the Iron Curtain by vea groups heading from
East to West, vpa carried on active guerilla resistance against Soviet occu-
pation until the mid-1950s.
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are holding two nice Ukrainian Catholics as prisoners, men who
shouldn’t be imprisoned? What are you going to do about it?""
They were surprised. but they agreed to do something. So within
a matter of a week. the two of them were released. One of them
is still living, Karmanin, who marricd Olya Kowbcl, now in
Toronto. He was one of those upa soldiers who was sent out of
Ukraine to establish contact with the West.

CURB’s biggest asset was that we were organized, that we had
an active group of people, that we thought we knew where we
were going, that we were open, sincere and frank. Not only during
the war, but certainly after it and during the entire Canadian
Ukrainian relief operation up until 1952 when 1 came back to
Canada, our cfforts were largely taken up with lobbying. You
know, meeting the right people. trying to persuade them to re-
cognize the unique nature of the Ukrainian pp problem, arguing
that they do something, whether it was to release Ukrainians from
prisons or o straighten out camp arrangements, or o transfer
somebody from one pp camp to another, or to make available
certain supplies to a person in hospital, or, later on, to admit
immigrants. That was CURB’s main job. Let me give you one
example. Australia and New Zealand had never really heard of
Ukrainians before 1945. We went to the doors of their embassies,
met their high commissioners in London, sct up conferences with
their senior officials and tried to sell them on the idea that they
should accept Ukrainian immigrants. Today in Australia and New
Zealand we have twenty to thirty thousand Ukrainian immigrants.
A new community in the Ukrainian diaspora was opened up; the
same thing in Britain where we had twelve to fifteen families to
start with. and where there is now a settlement of over 30,000.
The same is true for South America. We helped place our pps
everywhere possible.

We also got supplies to tpa. We did that in various stages
and in various forms—cigarettes and CARe parcels. 1 can only
speak about those things with which | was closely concerned. but
one thing that [ recall—it was shortly after we had entered Ger-
many and liberated Bergen-Belsen concentration camp in the Brit-
ish Zone, the Germans were retreating quickly. We established
our RCAF air base at Celle near Soltau. Our mission was to go into
Bergen-Belsen and bring in blankets, foodstuffs and medical sup-
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plies. I was one of the officers involved because 1 was in intelli-
gence. There were seven of us. But I was the only Ukrainian and
interested in Ukrainians primarily. Two pecople with whom |
became closely associated were prisoners in this camp—Roman
Spolsky and Kosarenko-Kosarevich, an East Ukrainian and a
Ukrainian National Republic supporter already in his fifties. Spol-
sky had been in the upA. was an ounr follower, a young boy of
twenty-four or twenty-five or so. He told me confidentially that
in the Carpathian Mountains, vpa had a field hospital and they
needed medical supplies. [ believed his plca was genuine. Well,
[ certainly couldn’t give him any official help trom the Cunadian
authoritics or military, but one thing that | could do was give him
all kinds of cigarette parcels from Canada and | could get more
whenever | wanted them from our club in London just on request,
Cigarettes then were worth their weight in gold in Germany. There
were two staples in postwar Europe, worth more than dollars—
cigarettes and soap. You could get anything for these items, do
anything. And so we organized a small operation whereby | handed
over thousands of cigarettes to Spolsky. he sold them for supplies
which then went to uPA. UrA wanted to stay in Ukraine and fight,
hoping their ranks would be re-inforced with help from the West.
That was their hope—of course. the West never really came to
their aid.

The other operation with which we were concerned was about
a year later in 1947, after a LpA contingent broke through to our
side in Germany. 1RO rules prohibited anyone who was a political
activist from being sheltered under the refugee label, or admitted
to a bp camp. So all ura soldiers presented us with a special case.
What to do with them? Certainly 1RO wouldn’t take them. So we
organized our own relief for them, an operation whereby we gave
them CARE parcels. By that time—and this is where the American
Ukrainians were way ahead of us—uUUARC had direct relations with
CARE, and they could get almost unlimited parcels for any specific
purpose that Dr. Gallan, as head. would sanction. CARE would do
it. The Canadian Ukrainians had no link with CARE. There were
many cases in which these American Ukrainians were able to make
arrangements superior to our own; they had good links in their
own zone, for example. And I suppose it had a lot to do with the
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fact that UUARC became such a big operation in Europe. whereas
the Canadian Ukrainian operation was much smaller.

Anyway, we gave these UPA people CARE parcels, then we
distributed them among Ukrainian pbp camps. Finally they were
accorded vp status and were allowed to stay in camps, recognized
as refugees. But before that happened we gave them a lot of par-
cels and carried them for a while as our own responsibility.

1 Return to Canada

The RCAF, by this time, was insisting that | go back to Canada
because they could not keep me in Europe any longer. It was time
to repatriate me to Canada. The alternative—to take my discharge
overseas—I decided I just wouldn't do for many reasons, | was
married and [ had an elderly, widowed mother living alone in
Canada. So | kept on pressing tcc in Winnipeg to send somebody
to take over cURB permanently. and the only reply that I got from
them was “*you stay.”” My wife and | had decided we were going
back to Canada. | must admit. I telt very guilty about leaving the
Ukrainian pps. | would have telt equally perturbed if I had stayed
there. | had to start thinking about having a normal life with my
wife. who was also still in the forces and due for repatriation. It
was a question of being repatriated at some later date to Canada,
but at our own expense, Or returning now al government expense.
We did not have much money. | was not going to take my dis-
charge overseas, which vcc insisted | do. They pleaded with us
to stay overseas, but if we took our discharge there. who would
pay for the return trip to Canada, whenever that came about? With
my mother alone in Saskatoon, we wanted to take advantage of
the Canadian government's commitment to bring home all its
troops—we were entitled to that. So we talked Stan Frolick into
staying on to look after things in CURB. We promised to support
him in Canada as much as we could and above all to see that more
help was sent to him.

My wife and | came back to Canada in May 1946 on the
Queen Elizaberh. We were among the last troops to be repatriated.
We landed in Quebec and went through the first stage of demo-
bilization in Montreal. Then, on the way back to Saskatoon we
stopped in Toronto, Fort William and Winnipeg, where we were
discharged. Local Ukrainian groups and Ucc put on receptions for
us in all these places because [ was the “‘returning hero.”” so to
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speak. When we got 1o Winnipeg we had a long meeting with the
Ukrainian Canadian Committee. It is all recorded in their minutes,
They said that they were going to do something to continue the
work | had started and done for the Ukrainian war victims in
Europe. that they were going to **call a meeting.”” When they did
they would call me in. In the meantime, 1 persuaded them that
they should send some money to Frolick, serving as CURB’s care-
taker, because the budget was very limited. They sent another
$2.000. We went back to Saskatoon. and I registered at the Uni-
versity of Saskatchcwan for a summer course in history. In the
meantime, kL Joe Romanov had come back. So had Capt. Peter
Smylski. They had done the same thing. They reported to Win-
nipeg. They had meetings with the Ukrainian Canadian Commit-
tee. They insisted on the same thing that [ did. We all were doing
the same thing, pleading for help because we were all members
of the founding group of cURB and knew that ucc had to do some-
thing urgently to help cURB continue. | was resigned to the fact
that this was the end of my overseas work. My heart was in it still,
but [ had a mother and wife to take care of.

UCVA’s Growing Pains

In the meantime vcva was beginning to grow with the number of
returning veterans. and [ pitched in. The vcva executive planned
a Canada-widc tour for me to organize vcva branches and speak
on the refugee problem. So [ went into the tield again. organizing
branches and recruiting members throughout western Canada. We
sent Tony Yaremovich to eastern Canada. Of course. wherever |
went, | also told people about the Ukrainian pps and helped pop-
ularize the issue among Canadian Ukrainians. Many had family
members, relatives and friends in European pp camps. So people
were eager for news. Others were also organizing UCsa—Slteve
Pawluk and others in Toronto; John Yuzyk must have covered all
of Canada at least twice. This was to be a new Ukrainian organi-
zation in Canada. Unfortunately, I think it was secn as a threat to
cvery other already established Canadian Ukrainian organization,
although we never meant it to be. UNE felt it would draw away its
members, so did UskL and BuC. They wanted the returning veter-
ans to come back into the old organizations. They were sure that
when Canadian Ukrainian servicemen came back they would
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immediately return to the organizations of yester-year from which
many ol us had come. | would go back into the Orthodox groups,
men like Romanow would go back to the Catholics and so on. But
we veterans were not thinking that way. Here was a new organi-
zation and the resources the old ones had relied on were being lost
to it. The old organizations never truly welcomed the formation
of tcva, nor did the tce. That hindered veva work and limited
its chances.

I still recall when they put on a reception for us in the
P. Mohyla Institute in Saskatoon very shortly after returning to
Canada—these were all former members of our Ukrainian Ortho-
dox youth movement. There were about eight of us returnces
there—Prociuk. Burianyk. myself and my wife, and a few others,
all officers. I stood up and suggested to the audience that we were
now coming to a new period in Canadian Ukrainian history char-
acterized by two things: 1) that this was an era of unity and that
all Ukrainians would have to pull together much more than before,
developing some kind of modus vivendi for co-existence. and 2)
that anybody who was tifty years old or older shouldn’t run for
office, in other words that this was an era for the young. Well, |
got shot down in tlames later, although in private. All [ said was
heresy. No one should promote such things. You had to be loyal
to the traditions and backgrounds from which you came. There
could be no unity with other Canadian Ukrainians. The problem
of factionalism with Canadian Ukrainian circles was still very
much alive. That depressed me. [ remember writing to Frolick
about it,

While [ was happy in my little house at 1307 Alexandra Ave-
nue in Saskatoon with my wife and mother, | was still troubled
over the tate of our Ukrainian prs. We had some chickens, a little
garden and our house. and my wife and I settled down to life. But
I couldn’t sleep nights thinking of the refugees and the Division
in Europe. Then I got a telegram from tcc around the middle of
August 1946: **Will you come to a meeting?"* So | went to this
mecting in Winnipeg, a lot of our boys were there—among them
Tony Yaremovich, John Karasevich, John Yuzyk and Ann Cra-
pleve—and vcce said to me, **We want you 1o go back overseas. '
They had approached some people. some who had sat out the war
and done nothing, but now had a lot to say in the Ukrainian Cana-
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dian community—people you mect in the streets now and who are
embarrassed about what they did or did not do in the war. But
they couldn't find anybody to send. ucc realized the scale of our
Ukrainian refugee problem—Volodymyr Kossar, Rev. Sawchuk,
Dr. Kushnir and all these people—were astutc cnough that way,
and they knew it had to be dealt with. But who would ucc send
over? Someone who had been there before would obviously be
best suited. Now in part that made sense. People with expericnce
ot Europe, who had been involved, such as those of us who had
formed cURR, knew what to expect and so on. But it didn’t make
sense from the point of view that the same individual or individ-
uals should continue making personal sacrifices.

But it seemed there was no one clse. They said point-blank
to me. **We want you to go over again.”” When they made that
serious request, we asked for an adjournment and we veterans
pulled out and went to a little room by oursclves for a caucus. We
drafted a memorandum to ucc, the first time likely that a Canadian
Ukrainian organization had drafted a memorandum to this umbrella
group—it was our UCVA ‘*Renaissance Plan.’" In this memoran-
dum we said basically that we believed that sending onc person
overseas was pointless. Forget about it, one Panchuk or anybody
else was not enough. The job was too big. it was absolutely impos-
sible. We had to be realistic. If the veterans who had been over
there before were to go, yet again, they should get prepared to
organize a mission, it would have to involve at least four to six or
more staff and field people, depending on how many the com-
munity was willing and able to support. We would go back for
one year. One year was the condition. Also we insisted that tce
spare no efforts herc at home to organize groups of veterans
(branches of ucva). tee had to promise to support that. And we
got a number of our people together. We got Ludwig Kaye, who
had been our ucsa secretary for a short while overseas. We got
Steve Kalin who had been our historian overseas. We arranged
that they go out into the ficld as vcc representatives. They would
serve UCC while also setting up vcva branches. They would help
collect money for the refugee cause, for CURB, but at the same
time they would build up a list of local veterans and organize
them. They would be organizing ucva, while building up ucc.
We thought this was only fair, given what vcc expected from us
overseas.
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[ want to repeat for emphasis why we felt so strongly about
ucva. We were enthused with our experiences in London at the
club where we had joined Ukrainian Catholics and Orthodox.
young and old, right and left, all together. We were carried away
by that ideal situation, and we hoped that this could be put into
practice in Winnipeg, Ottawa. Montreal. Toronto and so on. that
we could establish similar peacetime clubs for our youth across
Canada. We wanted to preserve our wartime unity. what rooted
tcsa together, we wanted Canadian Ukrainian unity to intensify.
We would work as a single Ukrainian Canadian community
because the only thing that jelled the community was what we had
done overseas. Prior to that the Ukrainian community here was
only bickering and infighting. Instead of building more Orthodox
buildings. more UNE halls and more Ukrainian Catholic centres,
we wanted to see built united Ukrainian Canadian community
centres right across the land. It was a philosophy for a new way
of life and the Ukrainian community in Canada. We wished for a
renaissance of Canadian Ukrainian life here. Possibly we were
too idealistic.

But we did make the effort, those were the conditions in our
memorandum to tcc. And they bought it. They agreed. one after
another. And they said they were going to help finance the people
who would go into the field to do this work for us, for tcva. When
they committed themselves, we said we'd go, and so the Canadian
Reliet Mission for Ukrainian War Victims was born.

I have a suspicion, with the wisdom of hindsight, that they
were trying to get rid of us, kill two birds with one stone. Solve
the problem of who to send back by sending us and nip the new
ucvaA organization in the bud. | may be doing them an injustice by
saying this, and [ certainly didn’t think of it at the time, but the
subsequent turn of events secems to indicate that that was the inten-
tion of our elders. That way they could maintain the strength of
UNEF. USRL and BUC. while letting tcva tTounder. Now | don’t know
for surc that this is how it happened. In my heart | don't think
anybody was so Machiavellian as to have planned it all out that
way. The subsequent events were likely coincidental. Yet [ often
wonder if our departure from Canada fitted into some peoples’
plans. Johnny Yuzyk even wrote to me about this once. saying:
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...the older leaders hate to see you getting so popular and also
powerful.... I only want to mention that you do what vou think
best since you know the set in Europe and Canada better than |
ever will, All 1 know is that you are my friend and I'd hate to sce
you get the old run around by some of our scheming friends. |Some
within tcCc may have felt] the best move [was] to keep you in
Europe (sort of out of the way).

Rumours floating around Canada had it that 1 was giving
preference to Orthodox refugees. being Orthodox myself. Pre-
sumably. I would be doling out more relief supplies their way. or
something. Of course. that was nonsense. All of us helped all
Ukrainian refugees, whoever they were. Still, some Ukrainian
Catholics. shortly after our return overseas in 1946, did start their
separate relief work. headed by Bishop Ladyka. Almost simulta-
neously some Catholic veterans in Canada, for unknown reasons,
cooled towards Ucva, except in three legion branches (Toronto,
Winnipeg and Edmonton) where they crawled into their **Cana-
dian™" shell and retreated from anything and everything too
Ukrainian. What could we do about it? Nothing. We just kept
working. But tcva, in Canada, never really made it. We were
abandoned here while some of our best workers were overseas
helping the pps.

The UCC Mistrusts Frolick

The leading people in ucc (Kushnir, Sawchuk. Kossar) were upset
at this time about the news regarding Frolick™s actions as interim
head of cUrB more than I was. I did not know that much. During
that short interval from my return to Saskatoon to my departure
for Europe again. in late 1946, the ucc was getting copies of
correspondence and letters. even from Dr. Gallan. that I only saw
afterwards. The one who was most disturbed in ucc was Kossar,
president of UNF, because he was learning that Frolick was a UHVR
and OUN Revolutionarics supporter, whereas the UNF had sup-
ported the ouN Solidarists of Colonel Melnyk. Kossar was himself
a top Melnvkivisi, and at that time this rift in the OUN was a very,
very hot potato since early 1940. UNF information was that Frolick
was using CURB to run an underground movement for the Bander-
ivtsi. Kossar and Kushnir felt that something had to be done to
stop this urgently. Kossar was anxious that 1 should go back
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because he knew me, my record and that I did not support the oUN
Revolutionaries—I would run cvrB for humanitarian relief pur-
poses and follow vcc policy.

The Canadian Relief Mission for Ukrainian Victims of War

When | was asked to organize the UCRF's mission returning o
England. and to head it, [ agreed. 1 could only do so on the basis
of people who were willing and able to go on a voluntary basis.
Of course, my wife stood beside me. Tony Yaremovich was not
married, so he was willing to have another go at Europe for a year
while postponing his return to university. John Karasevich defi-
nitely was not going to go. He was already registered at the Uni-
versity of Manitoba and finishing his law degree. The Worobetz
boys weren't going. None of quite a few people we contacted were
willing to go back. They were either too settled or too resettled to
again disrupt their lives—they wouldn’t go.

So the only people I could get were my wife, Tony Yare-
movich. Ann Crapleve (still a single girl who had worked like a
beaver in Ucsa and was one of the main pillars of our organization
during the war). The four of us went back. [t was in October 1946.
We were the Canadian Relief Mission for Ukrainian Refugees
(and War Victims). The name was suggested to us by Dr. V.J.
Kaye who was then working in the Department of National War
Services in Ottawa. He saw how government people acted and
reacted to Canadian Ukrainian atfairs in Ottawa. He was very
anxious that we should not make our mission too Ukrainian because
itwould **smell’* of politics. So we covered it as much as possible
in a purely Canadian garb. He even advised that when we were
back in London we should help ¢urB as much as possible, but
keep cUrB and our mission separate and address as much mail as
possible to Canada House. That would appear Canadian and quell
any residual doubts about our intentions. So we had letterhead
printed. and our badges read **Canadian Relief Mission for
Ukrainian Refugees.’ Then when we visited and stayed in mili-
tary barracks, we were there as Canadians, for a special job to
help Ukrainians. We were always having to downplay any overly
Ukrainian connection becausc at this time the West was still very
sensitive to Soviet complaints about Ukrainian agitation—against
repatriation, against the Soviet Union and so on. If we got branded
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as a political mission instead of a welfare group, we'd be ham-
pered in what we could do. Europe was closed to all except those
recognized by the authorities.

After we had agreed on the terms of our mission with tcc,
the question of finances was raised. We were so young, $0 naive,
so unrcalistic that we said, "*We don’t want any pay. we'll go
voluntarily, we have certain grants and benefits that we collected
as a result of having served in the armed forces. That is enough
for us as long as you pay day-to-day expenses—the cost of trans-
portation, food, etc. No salary. Nothing at all.”" The only thing
we asked for ourselves was the minimal amount of $50 each per
month for personal expenditures. We agreed to that and they agreed
to it. and that was that. We left for England.

Stan Frolick was still holding the fort in London, waiting to
see what would happen. Either someone was going to come as
director of the bureau. or somcone was going to send him money
and make him director. He was the only executive member left
there with his two secretarics and George Kluchevsky as treasurer.,
Helping Stan out in his work were Joe Ratushniak. Bill Byblow
and Danylo Skoropadsky. cURB was still actively working. Before
we had left England for Canada. we had found two UKrainian
students, . Martinowsky (later a professor at St. Andrew’s Col-
lege. Winnipeg) and George (Finlay) Kluchevsky, who became
CURR's treasurer when Ann Crapleve first was discharged and
returned to Canada, to help us out; and they were still there pend-
ing reinforcements from Canada.

Frolick’s Activities within CURB: the Controversy

When we returned to London, we found a bit of chaos at 218
Sussex Gardens. As I've said before we left there had been this
Association of Ukrainian Soldiers in the Polish Armed Forces
which had been given a basement room in our building for their
headquarters. Their key man was Petro Pihichyn, a very ardent
oUNr supporter. | didn’t know it at that time, but it seems he was
deeply involved in the Ukrainian nationalist underground. There
were others as well. Some of them had got o England with the
Polish forces, others as Evws, some were on the Continent and
Stan had close contact with them. Between them (Frolick and
Pihichyn)—and I think both (objectively speaking) were acting in
good faith—each thought that he was doing the best thing that
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Cartoon of Panchuk, as drawn by Ukrainian SEP at Rimini for their camp
newspaper Wasp, 13 April 1947
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The ucsa Services Club at 218 Sussex Gardens, London: officially opened
atucsa Ukrainian Easter Get-Together, 15 April 1944; later served as
headquarters for cURB
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Tenth vesa Get-Together in London, 10-11 November 1945 the official closing of the vesa Services Club
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Wedding of Bohdan Panchuk and Anne Cherniawsky, London. 2 Feb-
ruary 1946 (left to right): Capt. S. Davidovich, Capt. A.M. Homik,
Capt. S.W. Frolick, Capt. D. Melnyk, Capt. Walter Grenkow and Capt.
Peter Smylski; Bestman #1. J. Romanow, Maid of Honour Law E. Win-
arski



Some UcsA and curs members in London, 1946 (left to right): F1. Boh-
dan Panchuk, Capt. Peter Smylski, F1 Joseph Romanow, George Kluch-
evsky and S.W. Frolick (Courtesy of S.W. Frolick)



PCIRO meeting in Geneva, 1947; Panchuk (centre) consults with (left to
right) Dr. Waddams and Peter Molson
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Canada was represented at the PCIRO meeting by Ambassador Jean Desy
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Joint Ukrainian Catholic and Ukrainian Orthodox liturgical celebration
in Rimini, 1947
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Panchuk with Metropolitan Polikarp of the Ukrainian Greek Orthodox
Church in Paris, 1947

Belgium'’s Ukrainian Relief Committee (left to right): unidentified man,
Hanka Romanchych (a Canadian), Dmytro Andrievsky and Mykola Hrab
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Capt. Stanley W. Frolick en route to a Military Government detachment
at Aurich near Oldenburg, December 1945 (Courtesy of S.W. Frolick)



Ann Crapleve, BEM, 1945 (Courtesy of Mrs, Ann Smith (Crapleve))



ez

i

|

ngugng
|
1 -

.

1 —
—
-

Ann Crapleve, director of UCRF operations in Germany, greeting Mr.
and Mrs. Eustace Wasylyshen, Bielefeld, 1 April 1949 (Courtesy of
Mrs. Anne Wasylyshen)
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COMITE INTERNATIONAL DE LA CROIX-ROUGE

DELEGATION AU CANADA

ERNEST L MAAG MONTREAL, Ostober 11,1946,
RUGATE 1040 SUN LIFE BURDMNG

IO WHOM IT MAY CONCERNS

The bearer of this, Mr. C.,R,B, Panchuk, M.B.E. Director of the
RELIEF MISSICH T0 UKRAIMIAN REFUGEES and DISPLACED PERSCNS in Burcpe, is
oember of a team sponsored by the UXRAINIAN CANADIAN VETERAKS ASSOCIATIONS,
by the UKRAINTAN CANADIAN COMMITTEE and the UXRAINIAN CANADIAN RELIE? FUND,
coasisting ofy

Himself as Director,

Mr. A.J. Yaremovich, Asst-Directur,

Miss Ann Crapleve, B.F.M. Secretary-treasurer,
Mrs. Anne Panchuk, Welfare Officer.

This team §» intervsted {n the alleviation of the living conditions
of the Displaced Persons of Ukrainian origin and acts on behalf of tre Ukref-
nier. Caradiar Relief Fund which is suthorized in Canada by the Departaent
of the National Yar Services.

The undersigned would perscrally apyreciate any assistance that aay
be given to Mr. Panchuk and the other members of his teas in the axercise
of his relief work amongst Ulrainians in Rurope.

7

Delegnte in Canada of the
INTERNATIONAL COMOTTEE OP THE RED CROSS
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UKRAINIAN CANADIAN SERVICEMEN'S ASSOCIATION

(ACTIVE SErYCE OVERSEAS)
218 SUSSEX GARDENS. PADDINGTON. LONDON, W.2,
CIRCULAR LETTER No. 21 TeL.: PADOINGTON 2029

Dear Servicemen, September 30th 1945
1. ENCLOSURES. '

Enclosed with this Circular are the following :— D 0 N ATE D BY

(a) The latest iseue of cur Newsletter, lssae No. 10

(b) A sample souvenir copy of the U.C.S.A, poﬂcuG_ R. B PA N CH
(c) A sample copy of the U.C.S.A. Xmas card ) UK
With regard to these enclosures, please note that most posteards and Xmag
cards can be obtained from the U.C.S.A. office at threepence each.

With regard to the Newsletter, your attention is particularly diawn to the
Editorial, the atticle on Christian Citizenship Training, and the Messages f1om
our Padies. Your comments, suggestions and cniticisms with regard to the
Newsletter would be sincerelv appreciated
2. UKRAINIAN-CANADIAN VETERANS' COMMITTEE.

As has been announced, an Initiative Committee of our Veterans Association
has already been formed. It 1s the purpose and intention of this Veteians'
Committee to try and lay the foundation of our futute Veterans organization,
which, as is now the case with our Servicemen’s Association, will unite to.
gether all Ukramian Cauadian Veterans of this war. The Commnittee is
working together and in co-operation with the Canadian Legion with all other
Veteran organizations and with all our Ukraiman organizations.

The final constitution will likely be announced at our first large Get-Together
that we will have when we all get back to Canida. In the meantime it is
most vital and important that, we have as complete a list as possible of all those
Ukraiman Canadians who have served in this war.

IRecently there appeared in all the Ukraiman papers wn Canada, an appeal
from our Veterans' Committee addressed to all Veterans and those soon about
to be Veterans. We want to tike this opportunity to endorse this appeal
whole heartedly, and again wish to remind all our members to send their own
names and home addresses, and the names and home addresses of any of their
Ukrainian friends in the forces to the tollowing adidress :-

Ukrainian-Canadians Veterans' Committee,
715 Mcintyre Building, Wianipeg, Man., Canada.
3. HISTORICAL QUESTIONNAIRE No. 3.

The Questionnaire that we sent out with our last Circular Letier s for the
putpose of helping us compile the histary of our umted Ukrainian Canadian
war effoit. A counsiderable numbet of these Questionnares have been filled
and returned, but that is only a small percentage of those we sent out, We
again appeal to one and all of you not only to fill our Questionvaires awd to re-
turn them o us, but also to keep sending us every name that you can possibly
find of Ukramians in the Atmed Foirces. Il you send us the names we will
take all necessary action to contact the mdividuals, 1o send them literature and
to introduce them to our organization, but we must have mote names. At the
sume time, we would also remind all our members that when sending the
Questionnaire, a personkl photo (portrait) is required if at all possible; failing &
photo, even a snapshot is better than nothing at all.

4. CENTRAL UXRAINIAN RELIEF BUREAU. .

« Under the joint auspices of the Ukrainian Canadian Relief Fund, which is
an Auxiliary of the Canadian Red Cross, and the United Ukrainian American
Relief Committee, Incorporated, Authorised by the President’s War Relief
Control Board, there has been opened in the same huilding as our Club, a Ced-
tral Relief Bureau. The purpose of the Bureau in brief is to extend any and
every mora! and material aid possible on behalf of the Sponsoring Committees,

to all Ukrainian Refugees, Displaced Pzrsons and destitute on the Continent.
’.T.O.



could be done for the Ukrainian cause. And I still would never
take that away from them. They started publishing things on our
curB Gestetner machine, news and information, some of which
was not really honest or true. Maybe they had no way of checking
it out. News was planted. | was slightly aware of this, and [ knew
there were dangers. My policy. my intention was, although I'm
interested, let’s not touch the political aspect—not touch anything
that's really deeply political or partisan. Let’s stick to the human-
itarian saving of lives, Otherwise we'll get in trouble with the
authorities, without whose support we can’t really operate. That’s
all we have to do, save one or two million lives, we don’t know
how many. Let's stick to that and do nothing else. The rest will
come in its own time.

[t so happened that after we'd been back about two weeks, |
don’t know how it happened. but by mistake, we got a whole
package of correspondence, which wasn’t intended for us. It was
all pure underground, UPA. UHVR. OUNT material, including orders
to representatives in the field, instructions on what they should do
and so on. We confronted Stan Frolick with it since it was totally
contrary to previous CURB policy of not getting embroiled in
Ukrainian political party work. Later, this was on the 28 of
November 1946, I wrote to Dr. Kaye from London saying, **“When
a thing has rcached such a state that it scares us to think what
might have happened if we had not come when we did. Not only
was he [Stan Frolick] setting up political propaganda, but we have
definite proof now that at the same time when he was holding the
position at the Bureau—to all intents and purposes a civil service
job so far as vcce was concerned—he also accepted a position as
the UK representative of the general secretary of UHVR (Ukrainian
Supreme Liberation Council).”™ This was in that package of mail
we had. and Frolick was giving instructions, he was running the
show in the United Kingdom. | suppose you could call him the
UHVR's resident in England with direct links to Mykola Lebed and
Stepan Bandera.' It was at this time, likely when he got over to
Munich (before | originally left for Canada) that he got the idea

I. Stepan Bandera, leader of the ouN Revolutionaries, headed up this powerful
Ukrainian emigré nationalist movement until his assassination by a Soviet
agent in Munich, on October 15, 1959.
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to eventually publish a newspaper in Canada. Homin Ukrainy
(Echo of Ukraine) can be traced back to these days. '

Anyway, Frolick's sympathies were all with the CHVR and
ouN—that is Bandera movement contacts. At that ime we didn't
know, but that’s the way it turned out. They tounded the Ukrain-
ian Information Bureau, I think they called it. It was all stuff that
was purely UlvR. UPA and narrow party political stuff. Nobody
knew anything else. I only knew what his general feelings were
overseas before I went back to Canada in 1946. It was interesting
because | was learning too. As I've said. Frolick had been near
Lviv when war broke out in 1939, and he got involved with oun,
which I never knew anything about and | wasn’t aware of until
after the war, when these troubles surfaced in CURB.

We told Stan now, *‘This cannot go on. It has to stop.”
Frolick couldn’t buy it. and Pihichyn didn’t have to buy it. But
we offered Frolick the opportunity. We said, "*Join our mission,
There are four of us. You can be the fifth. Let’s work together
and we’ll have five instead of four.”” He was already discharged
and living in England. He took the stand that this was som¢how
an act of distrust, perhaps a show of no confidence in him. 1 don't
know how he took it. About the time that I had returned to Canada
and when deliberations were going on in Winnipeg as to whom to
send over as director of CURR to take my place, Dr. Gallan, the
executive director of CUARC in Philadelphia. which was also help-
ing finance cURB, had arrived in London on a fact-finding visit to
western Europe to see for himself the things he in fact alrcady
knew from our reports.

When it appeared that [ wasn't coming back and Stan felt
that he was in charge, Gallan (there are letters about that) said,
““Well, we cannot operate like this in mid-air. If we are going to
give money, we [the UUARC] are going to have more to say.”” And
I think he appointed Stan Frolick as the director of CURrB. LcC
(Kushnir, Kossar and everybody) felt that Dr. Gallan had over-
stepped his jurisdiction by doing this. The whole reliel program
had been a Canadian Ukrainian thing to start with, although UUARC
was sharing the budget for half a year or so—the reliel work to
this time had been done solely and cxclusively by us Canadians.

Stan insisted that Dr. Gallan had appointed him director of
curB. Dr. Gallan later denied making the appointment to ucc.
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There was always some sort of trouble in Philadelphia right
through. That was one of the contlicts between John Panchuk and
Gallan, which was rooted in the tact that there had been two ref-
ugee relief committees set up in the United States, which only
later came together. Old tensions still existed, much as they did
in tCC. and these were only settled after it was agreed that John
Panchuk would be president of the new United Ukrainian Amer-
ican Relief Committee and Gallan its executive director, in charge
of day-to-day operations.

Walter Gallan was a post-World War One veteran. He was a
nationalist, his heart was in Lviv and so on. Panchuk was Cana-
dian born, but a naturalized American citizen since childhood. by
adoption. Possibly he was more American than Ukrainian, or
maybe equally, but certainly he was not as rabid a nationalist as
Gallan, who may have been oun Solidarists oriented. So while
John Panchuk’s approach to all problems was like ours. totally
North American, Gallan’s was anxiously Ukrainian nationalist.
think John Panchuk in his heart still felt all the time that Gallan
was an immigrant, that this operation should be run by Americans
and not by immigrants. Panchuk had excellent relations with
American government circles, which was a tremendous asset to
the vuArC. He was high up in the Democratic Party. He saw things
our way. and later (this was after my April 1947 letter to UUARC,
which so infuriated Gallan). he supported my viewpoint in many
ways. Anyway. back to this question of Frolick and curs, in
October of 1946.

When we returned as a mission of which 1 was the head,
Frolick felt (and possibly rightly so) that to join our mission as a
member would be a demotion and, therefore. retfused. He said he
wanted 1o return to Canada. [ felt morally indebted and obligated
towards Stan since I had persuaded him to resign from ¢cG and
join CURB. It was my feeling that if he chose not o remain we
should pay his way back to Canada. He shouldn’t have to suffer
that expense, and he certainly didn’t have the resources. 1 don't
think. He also felt that vcc should do it. vce eventually, | think,
recognized that they should and paid his way back to Canada.
And so he went, but he was bitter. Before going back to Canada,
he told us, **When I get back there I'm going to make Kushnir
and all these people in ucc crawl in mud!™" In a way he kept his
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word. Instead of returning to UNF and its youth movement—his
own parent organizations—Stan later became one of the founders
of the Canadian L.eague for the Liberation of Ukraine (Lvuy. This
was the major post-World War Two political refugee organization
in Canada. It got set up in Toronto on May 1., 1949, Before that,
around mid December 1948, its adherents were alrcady reading a
new Ukrainian Canadian newspaper. Homin Ukrainy. Stan was
its publisher. This whole organization was very much OUNT minded,
or became that way soon enough.

Frolick and | were not antagonists, or at least I don’t feel that
way. He believed that our decision to remove him was superim-
posed on us by Rev. Kushnir and company in ucc. [ think now
that since Kushnir. president of vce, had as his right-hand man
Kossar. who was a strick Melnyvkivtsi, ouNs, that it may well have
been that vee wanted to rid itself of Frolick. But we didn’t know
too much about it—their inner deliberations. | certainly didn't
know too much, nor did | think at that time that | was sent back
to get rid of Frolick. But we soon learned all about the split in the
ranks of the oUN, and this became increasingly evident in the pp
camps where they had their own channels of communication and
underground network. Kossar knew about the split long before 1
ever heard of it, or many of us, because Kossar was a strong OUN
man, when it was led by Col. Konovalets and later Col. Melnyk.
The ouN split later spread to Canada, after communication lines
were re-cstablished between ouN cells in Europe and Canada. |
have no sure knowledge of when or how this came about, for |
had no links with this movement. People like Kossar in Winnipeg,
or Prof. Pavlychenko in Saskatoon, or the American Ukrainians
in obvt would know the details, not USRL members. Remember,
our Orthodox movement believed in being loyal to Canada. so we
refused any link to European-based organizations and took no
instructions from abroad. We were independent. self-reliant, as
our title suggests. Other Canadian Ukrainian organizations, like
UNF. were just the opposite, they revelled in thetr OUN connec-
tions. Just as LVU does to this day.

One of the issues on which debate arose when we got back
to England was over cURB's financial records. George Kluchevsky
was CURB treasurer while we were gone and kept Frolick’s books.
I think they balanced. Yet Ann Crapleve. who became our treas-
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urer at that time, checked them. We did a report together, she and
I and Danylo Skoropadsky. We went through all the books. It
wasn't so much that they didn’t balance as that the money was
used in ways that we didn’t think was justified for relief work,
including the publication of this Ukrainian Information Service
literature and these communiqués, ctc., that kind of thing. Frolick
claimed that the books were in a mess when he got them, which
of course was true. You see. we had three accounts: we had a
cURB account, which still wasn’t an incorporated body, we had
our UCSA account, which we were trying to transfer from UCSA 10
cURB (we couldn’t use the tcsa money which was solely service-
men’s money for this kind of thing), and we also had a ucva, or
our veterans’, account. The first $2,000 ucc sent to us (CURB) 0
we could operate—buy paper, hire a secretary, and such—I put
into my own account, so we had three accounts. And | was paying
bills which were purely curs bills. Full records were kept, but
these were confusing, fast-paced times, and that is reflected in the
financial records of the period. No one misappropriated funds,
ever. We all worked for the greater Ukrainian cause, although,
obviously, we went our difterent ways when it came to deciding
on the best means for doing so.

The Mission’s Efforts

Anyway, Frolick went home to Canada by the end of 1946. His
story thereafter he can tell you about. We were joined by Bill
Byblow, a rcal Canadian veteran, who stayed in London and joined
our mission. And so we did become five. Then from out of the
blue there arrived in London Father Jean. Father Jean amrived totally
on the strength of the plans and the organization of the Basilian
Fathers. When he arrived in London and contacted us, we just
opened our arms to him because we needed all the help we could
get. He was a French Canadian, but he had taken a deep interest
in Ukrainian affairs since World War One. Prior to or during that
war, he had been ordained as a Greek (Ukrainian) Catholic. Orig-
inally he was a Roman Catholic. He became a Greek Catholic, |
think, after Metropolitan Sheptytsky s visit to Montreal.! 1 am not

I. Metropolitan Andrey Sheptytsky. Prelate of the Ukrainian Catholic church
in Lviv, West Ukraine. visited Canada in 1910 to firm up links with the
growing Ukrainian Catholic church here.
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exactly sure when. Anyway. Father Jean had become so interested
that he went to Lviv and asked to be reordained in the Greek
(Ukrainian) Catholic rite. And he was. He was of great help to the
Ukrainians at the Brest-Litovsk negotiations and at the Paris con-
ference ncgotiations after World War One because he was the only
onc who knew languages. He could speak French, English and
Ukrainian. He became indispensable to the Ukrainian National
Republic government involved in the Paris Peace Conference and
in many of these affairs. Then he came back to Canada anxious
to help Ukrainians. All at once in 1946 he turned up in London as
a missionary. | suppose that’s what he was. We joined him (o us,
making him the sixth member of our Canadian Relief Mission for
Ukrainian Victims of War. We helped Father Jean do anything he
wanted to do. While the Basilian Fathers could give him some
money for the trip that was about the extent of it. So we took him
in and eventually he became the founder of the Ukrainian Catholic
church in England. He founded the first Ukrainian Catholic parish
in London. At least he was their first pastor. In fact. if Ukrainian
Catholics in Britain have anybody to be grateful to. it’s Father
Jean. He and | had together conducted the service at the first
Ukrainian pe funeral in England for one of the Evw girls who died
in Cornwall. He celebrated the Mass while I was the cantor. These
were the Ukrainian pps—titled European Voluntary Workers—
whom the British were resettling in the United Kingdom, in effect
making use of the pps as a labour pool from which they could
draw. Father Jean made a tremendous contribution to the resettle-
ment and rehabilitation of both the Division and the EvWws in Brit-
ain from 1947-52 and deserves more recognition than he has
received.

My wife became secretary of the mission and manager of the
office in London. our headquarter’s coordinator. [ placed Tony
Yaremovich in the British Zone in Germany. based in L.emgo.
Ann Crapleve was sent in Frankturt, that was in the American
Zone (because the American Ukrainians still couldn’t send anyone
but were willing to fund 50 per cent of our operation until they
could send one of their own people). And that's all we had. We
put no one in the French Zone. Instead we shopped around for
local talent. We realized that we'd have (o rely on local Ukraini-
ans. give them status and protection. So in the French Zone we
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found Dr. Jaroslaw Kalba, who later became executive director
of vcc around 1956 after Mr. Kochan. Dr. Kalba was the man we
appointed as our representative in the French Zone. The Soviet
Zone wc obviously couldn’t touch. In London we hired Bill
Byblow and Steve Yaworsky. who were assisted by Danlyo Sko-
ropadsky and his aide. Vladimir de Korostovetz, all of them work-
ing togcther with augs, the Ukrainian Relief Committee in
Manchester and newly settled Ukrainians in Britain.

Our master plan, on which we insisted and which we carried
through to the end. was that each occupation zone in Germany
should have its central zone committee formed from and by rep-
resentatives from each Ukrainian pp camp with an umbrella com-
mittce for the whole of Austria (Central Ukrainian Relief Com-
mittee for Austria) and Germany (Central Representation of
Ukrainians in Germany) coordinating all local efforts. Ukrainians
in Switzerland, Italy, France, Belgium, Holland, Denmark. Fin-
land, Norway, Sweden, Turkey. even Egypt had their own central
representations or committees. We even formed a group in China
(in the Harbin area) which we tried to and did help. Wasyl Mudryj
became one of CURB's representatives as well, and an active one
at that, in Germany. In Austria things were much simpler. Austria
was reunited much sooner than Germany, so their Allied occu-
pation zones disappeared. Austria was given its autonomy well
before Germany, just after Italy. In Austria Ukrainians were united,
so we didn’t have to worry much about three Western zones. We
didn’t have anyone to sparc, so they managed affairs themselves
as our (CURB) representatives—the Central Ukrainian Relief Com-
mittee, in Innsbruck. Austria. They elected Dr. Myron Rosliak as
their president. He eventually resettled in Edmonton about 1948-
49. His secretary was another Yaroslaw Spolsky., who later reset-
tled in Toronto. As for me, | was rather an ambassador-at-large,
travelling through Europe all the time. trying to get things estab-
lished and set up and trying to join the links together so that we
could have an effective operation.

Since UNRRA, then the Preparatory Commission for the Inter-
national Refugee Organization (pCIRO) and finally k0 were the
specialized international agencies charged with caring for the pps,
I made it a special point to attend their meetings—I even submit-
ted a memorandum on how, after July 1, 1947, ko should be
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constituted. That was at the pCciRo mecting in Geneva. Later, we
helped coordinate our cURB work with 1RO, which well appreciateq
the work of the Voluntary Agencies Coordinating Committee in
which we participated. 1RO, understandably, wanted to deal with
one Ukrainian agency and not a half dozen. I agreed and [ insisted
that there be as much centralization as possible, between the United
Ukrainian American Relief Committce and the Ukrainian Cana-
dian Relief Fund. In the field we could not afford to have two or
three missions. We already had Father Jean overseas working
almost exclusively for the Ukrainian Catholics, then there were
the Protestant Evangelists (Baptist) who sent over Bishop Basil
Kuziw. If there got to be too many Ukrainian relief missions in
Europe, there would be repetition and wasted effort. We were
already mushrooming all over the place, you sce.

1RO signed contracts with cach voluntary relief agency spell-
ing out duties and responsibilitics for each side since much of the
financing of the agencies was done by and through 1rRo. Gallan
outstripped us. Gallan went to this Geneva conference. signed the
contract, and after that we were at their mercy. We had to get
sponsorships for immigration to the United States through the
UUARC, and so on. I was there all the time. [n fact, they even asked
me for plans, idcas and suggestions, which | gave to them through
Ambassador Jean Desy. on paper as (o how to set up IRO $0 as not
to repeat the mistakes of UNRRA.

There had been a relief organization in existence prior to the
formation of the UNRRA in western Europe, which was a descen-
dent of the old, post-World War One Nansen International Office
for Refugees, namely the 1GCR (Inter-Governmental Committee
on Refugees). These two organizations, UNRRA and IGCR, were the
big authorities in all matters which concerned refugees and vic-
tims of war in Europe. Anything you wanted to do had to get their
blessing. We didn’t get too much from UNRRA, although what we
did get was appreciated. But IGCR, possibly because it was a des-
cendant of the Nansen group and probably because it was more
British controlled, or because the people who where involved were
largely ex-servicemen, was very cooperative and we had a perfect
relationship with them. That relationship was kept right up until
July 1947 when 1ro took over refugee work. Many of the ofticers
were ex-army and ex-air force. and we used them tremendously.
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They helped us to emigrate thousands of people to Australia, New
Zealand, places like that, because they were the ones who made
the final decisions. And a lot of those people were very helpful.
We moved thousands and thousands of people only by phoning
someone or having a friend in the right place. w:cDR Innis was one
such IGCR (later PCIRO) man.

It would take hours to detail all the good that they accom-
plished. But one of the things that I know of personally was with
the group of Ukrainians who were stranded in Italy and who were
connected with the Ukrainian Division **Galicia.”* They were not
part of it. however. They were wives, nursing sisters, families.
strays who joined the retreating soldiers. There must have been a
few hundred of them. And we managed to move the whole lot
from ltaly to England towards the end of 1947, without costing us
a single penny. We had no money. only our lobbying effort and
that was all. And so it was only because these people at UNRRA
and 1GCR believed and understood us that these Ukrainian refugees
were saved. Qur sympathizers spoke to the right people and saved
our pps. Many of the Division’s men were reunited with their
families because of this.

Another group that they helped us with was the Ukrainians
who had been stranded in Liechtenstein. We moved all of these
Ukrainians ouf of there without any cost to ourselves other than a
few letters and phone calls—again the efficacy of our lobby could
be seen at work.

Immigration and resettlement of pps after mid 1947 was
processed through and by 1r0. They also helped us with repatria-
tion. The people who were scheduled for repatriation, or who
were not eligible as npps because of old UNRRA regulations. would
have been lost if our friends hadn’t managed to **legitimize”” them
into refugee camps. A concrete example of this was the group of
UpPA soldicrs who escaped in 1947 through Soviet lines to the West.
At first we couldn’t do anything for them, but at least gave them
CARE parcels and cigarettes, which they could sell or trade on the
black market for food. Eventually, they were all legitimized and
put into bp camps. Most of them later emigrated. Today almost
anywhere [ go. I find somcone who remembers me, or knows
about me and our mission, from my visits to the Dp camps between
1945-47.
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When our year of overseas work had expired. we met i
Regensburg, Germany on the occasion of a Ukrainian DP confer-
ence there, and we held a meeting of the mission. | said, **I'm
going to go back to Canada. ['m going to persuade them, some-
how or other, to send another team or replacement, or make some
kind of a decision.” There was still lots to do and the refugee
problem would take much longer than a year to solve. Winnipeg
asked the mission to remain a little longer and for me to come
back alone and be present to help them make new arrangements,
Within a very short time both Ann Crapleve and Tony Yaremov-
ich decided on their own also to return. So the result was that three
of us went back. which meant extra time, money and all of us
would be off the front line. That's where we should have been,
on the front lines. I was hoping that they'd stay behind. carry on.
But they both decided. and I think it was Tony's influence on
Ann, that they wanted to go back too. So my wife was left behind
with our child to hold the fort alone. She was running the bureau
with the help of Bill Byblow, Steve Yaworsky, Dr. Vladimir de
Korostovetz, Danylo Skoropadsky and others left in England. We
already had all these relief committees established on the Conti-
nent—Belgium, Paris, Rome with Bishop Buchko, tow or three
committees in Switzerland, and so on—and they ran things on
their own as usual.

Our Mission Disbands

So the three of us came back to have a meeting with tec and UCRF.
We gave a report 1o a mass rally (Tony Yaremovich and | both
spoke), and we had many meetings with Ukrainians across Can-
ada. At the last meeting Ann and Tony decided that they weren't
going o return to England. They had their own private lives to
consider and so they would stay in Canada and take care of per-
sonal interests. | wanted to do the same thing, but [ couldn’t. I'd
left a wife and child behind in London. So [ said I'd go back alone
and do the best I could without anyone else for at least another
year. So I went back. Within two weeks or so of my returning to
London, however, both Ann and Tony turned up. | was very glad,
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of course, until a letter arrived from ucc telling me that the plan
of operation was now different. We weren't going to be part of a
single, united mission anymore. nor was there to be any central-
ized. London-based organization («CURB) as before. We would be
reporting directly to Winnipeg and each separately. Tony and Ann
were now independent field representatives for the Lckrr. To me
this meant that the mission was disbanded as such. Here were
three. or four, separate representatives sent to Europe. and each
would do work on their own. I'd work with my wife as a team,
but these two would work on their own. I wouldn't necessarily
know what they were doing. nor would they know what things |
was up to.

The real motivation, I suspect, behind the new plan was that
a few people in Winnipeg wanted total control of all European
operations, believing that they could make all relevant decisions
back there in Winnipeg. This, of course, was just a dream and
had no practical basis—decisions had to be made quickly. on the
spot. in the field. and there had to be maximum coordination in
the field so that the left hand knew what the right hund was doing.
Headquarters in Winnipeg could only give general lines of policy
and guidance and provide resources and logistics.

I said to Ann and Tony. **l don't think the new structure is
right. We shouldn't operate separately. What good is it? ['m going
to be here in London, whatever I'm going to do. You're going to
be somewhere else: you'll be sending reports to Winnipeg, Tony
will be sending reports to Winnipeg. All will be sending reports
to Winnipeg. They'll be getting three reports instead of one. It's
bad enough now getting them to make decisions. How can we
operate as a mission in the field if in fact we’re going to have three
missions?”’ So [ said, **We should operate as a team, just as we
did betore.™ There was a lot to do yet. The members of the Divi-
sion were still prisoners, and their future was still doubtful. So I
said that it that was how the new system would be, I'd quit. So |
resigned. 1 sent a telegram to Winnipeg and resigned as head of
CURB. We separated. [ only carried on for another three months as
head of the mission and director of cUrB. In the meantime, it was
obvious that the AuGB was getting on its own feet. They had even
bought a headquarters building at 49 Linden Gardens in London.
Once the Division got transferred to England. the AUGB even got
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stronger. But they were now pows, not skps, and they needed to
be civilianized. 1 just wouldn’t abandon them. Winnipeg, on the
other hand, was insisting that all our efforts be directed to the
Continent. 1 felt we could do both work in Britain and in Europe
with good coordination. So Tony, Ann and I developed a fraternal
agrecment among ourselves. 1'd concentrate on Great Britain. Anp
and Tony would go to the Continent where they had been before,
The only difterence in the operation from before was that [ wag
working locally and independently, no longer as a Winnipeg rep-
resentative.

My Work as President of AUGB

I had been elected president of the AuGB in March 1948, so I would
work with auGs problems and do the best [ could there. This was
my salvation, up to a point, because | had nothing else to fall back
on. The only thing that I had to tide me over personally was my
war service and credits. For income my wife and [ took in boar-
ders, she did laundry. We did all kinds of things to make ends
meet. We managed. I applied for my war veterans' allowance 1o
go back to school and registered at the London University School
of Slavonic and East European Studies.

In the meantime, Tony Yaremovich went to the British Zone,
Ann went for a short while, one or two months, to the American
Zone. By that time the vUARC had sent representatives to their
zone so then she joined Tony in the British Zone. It wasn't long
betore Tony changed his mind again and decided to return to Can-
ada. Ann stayed on in the British Zone as the field representative
of the Ukrainian Canadian Relief Fund (UCRF), reporting directly
to Winnipeg. In the American Zone the American Ukrainians took
over, as well as in the French Zone and in Austria. They were
quite happy. They had much more money and good contacts with
the American government and officials. Roman Smook, a lawyer,
was the first of the American Ukrainians that came over to rep-
resent UUARC as field representative. Their North American head-
quarters was in Philadelphia. Dr. Gallan kept flitting in and out.
But Smook bacame the first permanent director. And after that,
another lawyer (I think), Mr. Rodeck took over. They signed a
contract as a voluntary agency working with IRo. We did the same
with the military government in the British Zone.
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So alone I took on the operation in England. We had in Eng-
land almost a hundred camps and hostels for the pDps. They weren't
camps in the same sense as prisoner-of-war camps, but they were
to some extent concentrations of living quarters where the occu-
pants were all civilians. There were two categories of workers:
gvws, who had come as immigrants under the control of the Brit-
ish Ministry of Labour, and there were the civilianized Division
veterans, controlled jointly by the British War and Home Offices.
They were all equal. But in 75 per cent of the camps usually a
handful of Banderivtsi, but sometimes Melnvkivesi would take over,
you see. They'd seize internal control of these places and make
them centres of political propaganda work. trying to sway other
pps over (o their political positions and worldview. Most of the
immigrants were just people who wanted jobs and to resettle and
start raising a family. They weren't political, nor did most of them
really expect ever to get back to Ukraine. The political refugees
of the OUNr type were opposed to that kind of thinking. They
wanted to mobilize everyone in support of OUN-UHVR.UPA—hope-
fully to somehow force their way back to their homeland. They
had a compulsive need to return home—or to their conception of
the place they had been forced to leave. It was their psychological
condition, which they translated into political action.

‘There were two main operations. One was the civilianization
of these 8,000 Division ex-stps, now rows. And then. by that
time, all the western countries had agreed that they wanted some
of this labour to help in the reconstruction of their war-ravaged
countries. So there was a great movement to get rid of the war
victims, pps, refugees and the like from Germany and Austria,
through various plans (i.e., **Westward Ho") to anywhere they
could be fruitfully employed. France, Holland, Belgium and Great
Britain all took a lot of people. Great Britain took about 20,000
of these Evws. They were brought in under contract to the Ministry
of Labour to do ordinary work in agriculture, the textile industry,
mines and factorics. There wasn’t too much difference between
their status as Evws and as inmates of the German labour system
except that this was under democratic labour conditions—differ-
ences in philosophy, but not too much in methodology. The auGs
published brochures and pamphlets to help instruct them and orga-
nized their welfare and rehabilitation. These people didn’t have
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homes to go to. So they were distributed all across Great Britain—
YMCAS, YWCAS. Salvation Army. Ministry ot Labour. Ministry of
Agriculture and various organizations—all in hostels and camps.
To a large extent they. in fact. replaced the German pow labour
in Britain which had been used throughout the war. The labour
shortage was a common problem in Europe. and it was filled by
these Evws from 1947-50.

One of the most interesting episodes in this period was an
attempt in late 1948 (o repatriate some of the sick and invalid
pows—medical cases of the Division like General Pavlo Krat—to
Germany. The Division, I've said, had been brought in from [taly
as a whole group in mid to late 1947, But once in the United
Kingdom and redistributed among their camps and former pow
camps, the British had complete control over them. [ was the
liaison officer with the War Office. As the AUGB we bacame. in
effect. the welfare organization for all these people. and the Brit-
ish War Office, Home Office, Ministry of Labour. Ministry of
Agriculture, Foreign Office dealt only with me as far as Ukraini-
ans in Britain were concerned. As I've said, these workers were
scattered all over. But only those who could work in the fields,
plowing, milking cows, were worked. There were two categories
who did not have to work extensively. One was the small group
of commissioned officers. They didn't work if they didn’t want
to. They were all in one camp at Wolfox Lodge. They weren’t a
problem. They were all treated as gentlemen. The problem was
with those who were not gentlemen and who were invalids—pri-
vates, a few officers too. There were about three hundred of them.
And we were very worried about them. [ was making practically
daily visits to the War Office, trying to establish what we could
do for them. They were gradually regaining their strength, taking
therapy. but still there were people with T8 among them, ampu-
tees, wounded, even a few with psychological problems.

Somebody, who I'm not sure. although | suspect it was in
the Home Office and came from people who were certainly not
our friends. had persuaded the British Cabinct and Prime Minister
Atlce that England was not responsible for these people. They had
never done anything for England and were a burden, so they should
be dumped back onto the German economy. After all, this source
argued. these Ukrainians had worn German uniforms, so why not
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let the Germans now be responsible for them? The decision was
made during Christmas break when the House of Commons was
not sitting. This happened totally without my knowledge even
though I thought I had this good link with the War Office. |
remember that, at that time. my office was at 64 Ridgemount
Gardens, near the British Museum. I was still the president of the
AUGB. and we got a message from the invalids and sick saying that
they were being shipped off to Germany on the following Friday,
only three days away. It was December 26, 1948, just after we
had all listened to the Queen’s Christmas Message of **Greetings
to the Empire.™

This was a great shock. | called an emergency meeting at the
AUGB office now at 49 Linden Gardens. We decided to call out a
general strike of all the Ukrainians. We would count on the loyalty
and discipline of our own people—the pows. the Evws and the
civilians. We belicved they would listen to us. So | typed up a
special petition and [ got the head of the Ukrainian Catholic mis-
sion in Great Britain at that time, Father Jean, and Father Hubar-
shewsky. the head of the Orthodox one (sent there by Metropoli-
tan Polikarp) to sign it also. In this appeal from the three of us.
led by me as head of the AuGR, we asked our people not to go to
work on the following day. Instead we instructed them to call
meetings of our people. explain to them how the invalids were
being shipped out to be dumped on the German economy without
our knowledge or consent and that we were prepared to look after
them. We asked people to go out on strike to demonstrate that we
were concerned aboult the fate of our Kin.

We sent this petition out to every Ukrainian camp in Britain,
asking that they all be signed and sent to Prime Minister Atlee.
Thank God, I didn’t know how, but it worked. Nearly thirty thou-
sand people around Great Britain refused to go to work. | don’t
know il there were any exceptions. At the same time | wrote a
letter to the Queen and said that | had heard the royal message.
but that our Christmas was now spoiled by Her Majesty's Gov-
emment’s decision to ship these unfortunates off to Germany. |
told her that our Ukrainian Christmas was still two weeks off and
asked her what kind of Christmas they would have in Germany,
three hundred sick people being shipped off to an alien foreign
land for **their™ Christmas. | sent this letter to the British press
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and publicized our grievance as much as possible. And we called
on every friend we had—the Archbishop of Canterbury, prelates
in thc Roman Catholic and Anglican churches, all of our friends
in Parliament like Mr. Richard Stokes, Tracy Philipps (who wrote
letters to the editor of the London Times) and many others. We
mobilized everybody that we knew who could possibly help. Most
added their concern to our chorus of protest. And the British press
picked it up. Several hundred articles and columns were given
over to carrying the news of the **gencral strike of Ukrainian vol-
untary workers in Britain.™"

‘This all happened during Parliament’s Christmas break, It
must have struck home because somebody in the Cabinet (I don't
know who) decided that the decision was to be reversed. And it
was. They cancelled the deportation except for two small cate-
gories of men, overall only a very small group. One category was
composed of thirty to forty people who wanted to go back to
Germany of their own free will, since they knew of family or
relatives who now lived among the refugees. They wanted to get
out of the pOw camps in Britain and be reunited with their families.
And there were thirty to forty additional people whose past con-
duct (I"ve never followed this up) made them supposcdly **bad’’
guys, pOws who had really done something wrong and were being
punished by being sent back to Germany. Something had hap-
pened to convince the authorities that these were undesirables as
far as Great Britain was concerned. So these men were chained
and shackled and sent back under escort with the volunteer repa-
triates. Some seventy-nine men in total were shipped back to Ger-
many. We didn’t raise too much of an issue about that since we
were so happy to have saved the remaining 250 or so. We accepted
that as it was. 1 wrote a letter to all of those who had helped us,
thanking them for helping and ensuring that these sick Ukrainians
could now enjoy their own Christmas in the United Kingdom, and
we undertook to look after them collectively.

All of these *‘strikers’’ volunteered to tax themselves one
shilling per pay cheque to create a mutual aid fund. With that
money we bought a farm outside London and set up a hospital.
We then took over caring for these people with the British author-
ities providing only specialized medical and required hospital
treatment. Otherwise, we took over complete responsibility. That
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AtGB Invalids Farm still exists. Many of the people recovered
completely and went on to be productive citizens. That was one
of the biggest highlights of our United Kingdom cfforts, It was
unexpected, but one of those many moments when I stuck out my
neck without second thoughts only because I believed it had to be
done.

CURB Is Liquidated: a New Phase in Canadian Ukrainian
Relief Operations

From that period on, it was on December 11, 1948 that Ann and
Tony wrapped up curB. I had a hand in dissolving cURB also, at
Lcc’s request. Ann Crapleve, Danylo Skoropadsky and I closed
it down. We sold the furniture. We gave the library to AtGs. and
we shipped some of the stuff to Winnipeg. There was a little
problem over AUGB and CURB finances, but it was straightened out.
Anyway we wrapped up everything and cuRrs ccased to exist.
Tony got homesick: he had had enough. It was getting too big for
him alone. He had been cUrB director just prior to this, from when
I resigned to the liquidation. Before when we were each part of a
mission, we all mutually supported each other. One could reap
the harvest of other people’s contribution and so on. But now we
were each separate and alone. That made it tougher on the indi-
vidual. Anyway. he decided he was going back home. So he gave
vcce notice, packed up and left. Ann Crapleve was the only one
left in the British Zone. She became the Ucrr’s director in Europe.

Mr. and Mrs. Stan Wasylyshen came over from Winnipeg as
representatives of the Ukrainian Canadian Relief Fund in March
1949, and Mr. Wasylyshen became director of UCrF in Europe
assisted by his wife and Crapleve. He was a post-World War One
immigrant, a military man. Mrs. Annc Wasylyshen was Canadian
born, I think. In the interwar period he worked for Cunard Steam-
ships for ten to fifteen years and so knew something of immigra-
tion procedures. And he wanted a year in Europe. He was to a
certain extent a godsend to vcc. He certainly pleased Rev. Kush-
nir and Kossar because he was an ardent ouns man. He would,
therefore, be dependable enough to prevent the ucrr from falling
into the hands of any ounr members. My wife and [ made them
fecl at home in England. introduced them around, just before they
went to the Continent. They spent about a year in the British Zone.
He was senior field director at Lemgo with Ann Crapleve as his
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deputy. Later they switched operations to Bielefeld. We cooper-
ated closely. After a short stretch the Wasylyshens also returned
to Canada in 1950, and Ann Crapleve remained in charge alone
until 1952, We eventually formed a central committee of all those
reliel organizations and committees in 1949 called the Co-
ordinating Committee of Central Ukrainian Voluntary Organiza-
tions in Western Europe. We had a number of conferences in
London, Paris and so on. It still exists and is now part of the World
Congress of Free Ukrainians. And we gradually passed on the
entire load of work and responsibility for Ukrainian war victims
onto the local population in each country. This continued untij
1952 when, although | was still deeply involved, I was no longer
indispensable. These people whom we had shepherded for the first
tew vears after World War Two could now take care of them-
selves. Or so they said. I had some doubts, primarily because of
the vicious political squabbling that seemed to become ever more
characteristic of the Ukrainian pps as time went on, from 1945,
For example, by mid March 1949, two organizations had emerged
in the United Kingdom —the atGs and the Federation of Ukrain-
ians in Great Britain (¢UGR). Why had this occurred? It's a good
example of why | grew disillusioned to some extent with these
political emigrés” politics. I remember one letter I sent in early
1949 10 the British Ministry of Labour where | summed up my
teelings about this factional politics in the diaspora:
ALL refugees and ppP's. whatever their nationality, consider them-
selves POLITICAL REFUGEES (although many of them are far
from that) and theretfore feel that their prime and most important
duty and mission as ‘emigrés’ is to carry on political work and
acuivities, for the liberation of, and their own ultimate return to,
their native land... The MAJORITY. however, are really and in
actual tact ECONOMIC REFUGEES as most people who have had
to deal with them.... have learned. as 1 did. Most of them have
always been in scarch of a place to live where they will be better
off....

The so-called ‘politicial refugees’ have often and at every
opportunity IMPOSED and forced their influence on the economic
refugees, and the real and actual WAR VICTIMS, and thus *col-
oured’ afl refugees and DP's. ...

The hardest problem that we had to solve, was HOW TO
ELIMINATE POLITICS from relief and welfare work....
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Internal Struggles in AUGB

Anyway, the split came about while | was president of the AuGB.
In England 1 suppose it started with the Ukrainian Youth Associ-
ation (SUM). SUM was revived in the pp camps of Germany where
they set up branches in every camp. It was totally an ouNr group.
Their only competition at that time was Plast. a boy scout orga-
nization which tended to have an ouNs tinge to it. But we didn’t
see any future for either one in the United Kingdom. Here, we
felt. was new terrain and it was settled by new people. The best
thing to do was to start from scratch. Don’t try to transfer or
transplant European organizations from the pr camps in Germany
or from western Ukraine to Great Britain. This was my feeling. [
said that we should have an organization of youth within the AUGB.
I felt that the young people should be organized, like cuya in
Canada. We didn’t have to follow any pattern and we didn’t have
to transplant anything.

When the ounr’s hierarchy formed sum and presented the
ALGB with a fait accompli—**hcre we arc and we re organized and
we demand certain powers and rights™'—my attitude was opposed
to them, I didn’t appreciate their mode of working, nor did | feel
this was the way we should do it. It should start the other way
around. We would establish the pattern of how to organize our
youth, our women and our schools. They could integrate into that.
That was the beginning of the trouble.

The other thing that was transplanted from Europe to us in
Great Britain and which was unnecessary was the split between
OUNT and Ouns. When we had organized the AuGs we didn't ask
which political group a person belonged to. as long as they were
Ukrainian and in Great Britain they were eligible. That was it.
But each group was still competing for power—who would be
head of a camp committee, camp police, local schools, wellare
committees—who would, in effect. control the emigration. This
struggle spread in tandem with the resettlement from the pp camps
of these people to Holland. Belgium, France, ltaly and eventually,
with further rescttlement. into Canada, the United States, Great
Britain, Argentina, Brazil, Australia, New Zecaland, wherever pes
eventually or finally settled.

There were other political intrigues as well. I was not aware
of all of them as fully, but I never thought they would have any
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serious influence in the AUGB because | was certain that we were
too well established and united. | was wrong. The Hermantsi had
their own group, and one of them was very active on the auvgs
board of directors and with whom [ was quite friendly, even back
to vcsa days—Danlyo Skoropadsky. In 1948 there was a Ukrain-
ian National Rada (Ukrainian National Council) formed in
Regensburg, Germany with the help of Dr. Kushnir. The presi-
dent was Andrij Livytskyj. We were involved as consultants,
UNRada was supposed to be a central representative council of al]
the Ukrainian factions abroad —the continuation of the Ukrainian
government-in-exile which went to Warsaw in the interwar period.
But we were not awarc of the fact that there was a power struggle
going on in this Ukrainian National Council, that sides were being
taken.

On one side were the OUNs with the socialists. On the other
side were the ounr and the Hetmantsi. The Hetmantsi didn’t take
a real leadership role because they said—and | don’t buy this—
that the Council accepted the platform of the last government of
the Ukrainian National Republic that went into exile in Poland—
the Petliura government. Of course, they considered themselves
to be the heirs to governmental legitimacy, for they were sup-
porters of Hetman Skoropadsky's regime, which the Petliura gov-
ernment had ousted.' So they refused to sit on the Council—feel-
ing that to do so would involve having to recognize Petliura’s
Directorate as valid—which they obviously could not do without
betraying their own monarchist background. The Hetmantsi (fol-
lowers of Hetman Pavlo Skoropadsky and, after his death in 1945,
his son Danylo Skoropadsky) never joined the Ukrainian National
Council. Anyway, by 1950, the Banderivtsi withdrew from the
Council, claiming that their ties with the UHVR and the short-lived
government of June 30, 1941 (Lviv) of which Yaroslav Stetsko
had been premier, has the only legitimacy they needed. So why
should they belong to a World War One period government-in-
exilc?

I. Symon Petliura (born May 10, 1879) was a Ukrainian political and military
lcader during the liberation struggles of 1917-21, and head of the Directorate.,
which held power in Ukraine during 1919, He was assassinated in Paris May
25, 1926 by a Bolshevik agent.
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So all this politics was transplanted. As it happened, at the
sccond annual meeting of the AuGs in March 1949—about which
we were very confident for everything had been going nicely up
to then and we had no worries—all at once, after the reports were
heard, a fellow stood up in the audience and says, *‘I move a vote
of confidence to everybody except the president, Mr. Panchuk.
For him no vote of confidence!"" And then they started howling
and whistling. And before we knew it the meeting was all in chaos.
This was so well engineered, so well timed—the ounr had people
at the various spots around the hall. The cat calls, the clapping,
the boos, the cheers, all of it came at the right time. When we saw
what was happcning. 1 got up and made my farewell speech. |
said that 1'd come there as a volunteer from Canada to help. If, in
these circumstances and in this community, my help was no longer
required, well goodbye. And 1 walked out. A sizeable group of
the people in the audience walked out with me, mostly ouNs sup-
porters and East and mainly Orthodox Ukrainians. I didn’t insti-
gate or plan that. | rcally wasn't interested.

So it turned, without any need for it, into an East Ukrainian-
West Ukrainian/Orthodox-Catholic split—an oUNs-oUNT split. The
OUNs people called a meeting right there and then at 49 Linden
Gardens and formed a Federation of Ukrainians in Great Britain
(FUGR). Vyacheslav Kochanivsky became president of the Feder-
ation. I wasn’t interested. I just wasn't interested in Britain any-
more. | was hoping soon to get back to Canada. I wasn'tinterested
in European politics to the extent that I would lead a faction or do
anything like that at all. Kochanivsky was their president for a
few years, an ardent ouNs. The federation still exists today, and
although it is not as big or strong as AuGB, which had a head start
and a captive membership, they are there to stay. The incumbent
president is Andrij Kostiuk.

I wrote a number of letters to various Ukrainians to let them
know what happened in the AuGB. Let me read parts of a few for
you. On March 15 I sent a letter to Ann Crapleve, and this is what
I recorded about the coup d' etat in our British organization:

The Hetmantsi (Skoropadsky and CO.) have formed a very strong
block with the 0OUN(r}—the Banderivtsi, the reason being their
mutual agreed opposition to the Ukrainian National Council. This,
of course, was the root and basis of the entire matter. They resorted
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further to every method, legal and illegal, under the sun in which
to assure that they should control and arranged to have present a
the meeting a large number of guests and visitors who, although
not authorized delegates, supported them very vociferously both in
speech, by hand-clapping, by hooting, howling... at the right
moment and at a general signal. This, of course, created a stampede
in the true meaning of the word (as understood in Calgary) and the
final result was that all the *solid” and dependable people who could
not agree with such methods... walked out... and left them to fin-
ish....

Most of the attacks were directed against my own person since
they feared above all else the fact that 1 might return to power and
thus continue to guarantee the Ukrainian National Council... moral
and material aid and support from the AvGB. The new Council, if
we agree to recognize them (which the majority are still reluctant
to do...) consists of Skoropadskv-Honourary President. Dr. O,
Fundak-President. O. Moncibovych—-Vice-President, T, Danyliw-
Secretary. and then followed by Sylenko, Dolynehy), Korostovetz
and a few more very doubttul and suspicious types, some of whom
are regular visitors to the Soviet Embassy.

[ would say. looking back on all of this, that there were several
characteristics that typified those who forced me out of the augs.
The people who did so were those who were against the Ukrainian
National Council (UNrada), who had a personal dislike for me,
who supported Catholics against Orthodox UKrainians (or vice
versa), who were inspired by communist or other foreign agents,
and. perhaps most importantly. were people devoted to the cause
of keeping Ukrainians separated and disorganized so as to make
them weak, while creating suspicion among the British people
with regard to the quality of these newly arriving immigrants in
Britain. Those hotheads. as [ wrote back to Canada, essentially
felt that | was pro-British and not, in their terms. what they'd call
“arcal Ukrainian, ™

I suppose it all was inevitable. All because the beat, the
measure, the policies. the decisions were all established some-
where outside the United Kingdom. The ounr were convinced that
there was going to be another contlict, another world war, that
this whole stay overseas in western Europe, even in England, was
temporary and that whatever existed abroad had to be under their
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control because they would use that as a base from which to go
back to Ukraine. Which really wasn’t at all realistic. So their aim
was 0 take over control. And they did take over control. In Bel-
gium, thrce months or so after our meeting in London, the same
thing happened. Mr. Hrab and Mr. Kishka were declared persona
non grata even though they had done so very very much to put
their relief committee on its feet, established a base, scholarships.
sent fifteen or twenty students to university. done much good work.
They were more or less booted out. The OUNT also took over con-
trol in France. They cventually pretty well took over control in
Germany. Right now they control most of those points. And they
almost took over the whole of the Division. Likely not a coinci-
dence that by May 1949 they felt secure enough to set up their
LvU here in Canada. All a very well thought out plan.

It had started in the camps really. That's where you had a
caplive audience—human beings were easy victims to mass
behaviour in the camps. Let me give you an example. In 1947-48
the Division was totally pro-Panchuk. If you'd found one person
who criticized me. the majority would have lynched him. But by
1949, well, one-third of them were questioning me. What did 1
get out of helping them get to the United Kingdom? A pay-off
perhaps for making them the slave labourers of the British. still in
camps only now in the United Kingdom. I don’t feel that [ was
betrayed by the pps as a whole, only by a small group of people,
all of whom I could almost name. In the Division Dliaboha. now
deceased. was the ring lcader behind that whole stampede meeting
of March 1949. Even now the ounr in the United Kingdom still
won't recognize that I was once president of atGi. It’s as if |
never existed for them. [ feel disappointed that we spent so much
time and energy on things that we needn’t have worried about,
instead of accomplishing so much more that we could have.

Aftermath: New Ukrainian Organizations Emerge

As soon as this split occurred. [ resigned the presidency of AtGB
and informed Winnipeg. So did the Wasylyshens, who had just
then in March 1949 come to Britain. vcc felt that they still must
have someone overseas, so they decided to open a separate office.
“*We can find money, we'll give you a small budget, we don’t
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expect you to do big things, we don’t want you to travel becayse
we don’t have that kind of money. But we want our own office 1o
be separate from either AUGB or the federation, or any of the polit-
ical immigration movement. We want our Canadian work to be
scparatc, but write a personal private letter to Kushnir.”” He would
bring it up at the meeting as his idea. So Volodymyr Kochan (thep
executive director of tcc—a tormer Sejm representative and
member of the Ukrainian National Democratic Alliance party,
later the Front for National Unity, in West Ukraine—and antj-
OUN) wrote to me, | wrote to Kusnir, Kushnir came to the vee
meeting and said, **We should do this, we should do that.’"

The purpose of having a tcC representative over there was
for lobbying. To help our mission in the field place the refugees.
We lobbied every embassy, e.g., Venezuela, Columbia, Argen-
tina, Brazil. Australia, and spoke to anyone who would listen. |
had one secretary there, Mrs. Luigis, and we operated from 64
Ridgemount Gardens, near the British Museum and London Uni-
versity. It became the Ukrainian Bureau. European Office of ucc,
and | was again in charge. It carried on, cooperating with anyone
who came and asked for help because [ was still the only one who
had the inside track on immigration, starting with Canada and all
the other embassies. | never denied the AuGB any cooperation,
but, ncvertheless, they were very anxious about what [ might be
doing. They tried to take it over. Dr. Fundak, who succeeded me
as president of AuGB and Teodor Danyliw, the first and for a num-
ber of years continuous secretary of AUGB, both tried hard. Danylo
Skoropadsky also remained in the AuGs, he agreed to be re-elected
and became a member of their new board of directors. These three
were all used, they later all left the ArGB, bitter at how the ounr's
cadres outmanocuvred them in the AUGH.

So from 1950-52 Ukrainian Canadians had two Europecan
representations—Ann Crapleve was the ficld representative of the
Ukrainian Canadian Relief Fund on the Continent in the British
Zone of Germany at Bielefeld, attending solely to relief, welfare
and resettlement for pes: and the Ukrainian Canadian Committee
(tcC) European bureau in London, headed by myself and con-
cerned with matters of a more political nature, an office of general
information and with special interest in the Division now civilian-
ized in Britain. In the American Zone Dr. Smook and later Mr.
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Rodeck headed the United Ukrainian American Relief Committce
operations, and we cooperated as much as we could until 1952,
when Ann decided she had no reason to continue on in Germany.
She had married a British army captain (Smith). and she wanted
to return to Canada.

By 1952 all that was left in Europe of refugees and displaced
persons was the residue—the so-called **hard core.” Their ulti-
mate disposal was problematic. Some would be integrated into
the German economy, some were medical cases waiting for fur-
ther treatment, some were large families with clderly or very small
dependants whose resettlement would take time. For us to remain
much longer would be a dedication for a longer period of time.
My wife and [ had two children already. and there wasn’t much
left to do. It was routine social welfare work. tor which one had
to be prepared to stay five to ten vears. The peak of the immigra-
tion had already finished. But what really persuaded me to return
to Canada was a telegram that I got from Ambassador Jean Desy,
who was in Ottawa. He was our Canadian Ambassador in Brazil
during World War Two. When the war ended and ltaly was lib-
erated, Ambassador Jean Desy was transferred to Rome. He also
became our Canadian representative to pCIRO and later to 1rR0. We
had become good friends since 1946, and I had helped him with
his work at pCIRO sessions. The Canadian government decided to
bring him back (sometime in 1951, [ believe) and make him direc-
tor general of the International Service at the Canadian Broad-
casting Corporation (CBC). Prior to that in London, we had been
badgering the British Broadcasting Corporation (BBCy and the var-
ious western governments to do more broadcasting in the Ukrain-
1an language. ucc had carried on a similar campaign for Ukrainian
broadcasting on the ¢BC, with various memoranda and delegations
to the government in Ottawa. When External Affairs decided that
a Ukrainian Section would be opened at the ¢BC, they were shop-
ping around for someone.

Ambassador Desy contacted me about whether I would be
interested in coming back to Canada to set up the Ukrainian Sec-
tion of the International Service at the csc. | replied that of course
[ would. Lester B. Pearson was the Minister for External Affairs
at the time, and he was using John Decore, Mp, as his consultant
in search of a suitable candidate in the Ukrainian community to
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set up and head the Ukrainian Section. When Desy mentioned me
to Decore. he (Decore) jumped at the suggestion. Together they
went to Pearson and | got a telegram as a result o “*come at
once.”” 1 did. I left my wife and children to do the packing and
follow me later.

I took the first plane out of London for Montreal. I had an
interview and started working the next day as head of the Ukrain-
ian Section. My wife and children joined me by boat. That’s how
and why we ended up in Montreal. We informed ucc that we’d
pulled out of Europe. Pulled a ucc on them, treating them just as
they had us when we'd been involved in refugee relief operations,
Even so. [ later felt somewhat guilty because | walked out on ucec.
I suppose eventually everyone turns into **arat.”” And | *‘ratted”
only because I really was tired and had enough.

Ukrainian DPs in Canada: Their Input

New blood—what we all hoped would enliven Canadian Ukrain-
ian life—did not come into our alrcady established Ukrainian
Canadian organizations. Yet we needed that new blood. people
who spoke better Ukrainian than we did. people who could give
us new information. Instead of that, new organizations were formed
and splits within the old ones. Even now they still think as if they
are *‘they.”” and we are ‘*we,”" and east i1s east and west is west,
and that these second- and third-generation Canadians are not the
same sort of people as the newcomers feel themselves to be. They
have the attitude that **We are from the real soil, we are pure
blood Ukrainians''—and they make you fecl bad. lesser than them.
We heard about the Canadian League for the Liberation of Ukraine
iLvU) being formed on May 1. 1949. | was negatively inclined
towards it, not because it was pro-oUNr, but because it was unnec-
essary. I couldn’t have cared less who organized it. My conviction
was, and still is, that there was no need for new organizations for
Ukrainians in Canada after World War Two. We had everything
that we possibly needed here. A pattern of Ukrainian organiza-
tions had developed from the original pioneers, there were reli-
gious and secular organizations. All sorts of organizations existed
before World War Two—the majority had sorted themselves out.
You had Ukrainian Catholic, Orthodox. communists, the noth-
ings, the nationalists around UNF and the small Hetmantsi (UHO)
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group. We'd sorted ourselves out for good or bad. for better or
for worse. Organizations should be formed only according to need.
Many of the new organizations (post-World War Two) were
duplications of what we already had. They were superfluous. so
we thought. Of course, the political refugees, the militants, thought
differently.

So when [ visited the different camps in Europe in 1945,
1946 and later, I told them at the meetings they always called and
asked me to address that we had all the bases they could possibly
need already in Europe. But they insisted that they were a **polit-
ical emigration™ with very clear aims, like the liberation of
Ukraine. What could they do. they asked me, if and when they
gotto Canada? And I told them over and over again, **It you come
to Canada or the United States, or Australia. New Zealand or
Great Britain, you have new ground and you've got to start from
scratch. In France, Belgium and the like, there arc some older
people, although weakening—but in North America we have pretty
well established every organization that we require for our needs.
If you feel in your hearts that you are primarily interested in pro-
moting the Catholic church, then you have that Ukrainian church
there and its atfiliated organizations to support. It you're more
interested in secular matters, there's the vcc. For the nationalists,
there was UNF. For Orthodox pps. the Uski and cuya.”” The field
was there, the same as on the Orthodox side. **Just spread your
wings,”" I said to them, "*and as long as you have the time, energy.
desire and money, you can do anything. The sky's the limit.”* We
Just needed new blood and more hands to work. [ told them to join
what alrcady existed and serve the Ukrainian national cause, united.
Many took my advice and have greatly enriched our existing
Ukrainman Canadian fabric. Most went oft to join their own new-
comers’ groups. We were all of us Canadian Ukrainians, gravely
disappointed to see this happen.

Many pps didn’t agree with my views. When they came here
they founded new organizations, unnecessary ones. LVU is one of
them. SUZERO is another. sUM and obuM were equally unnecessary
when CuyA, YUN and ucyo already existed. But UNk was eventu-
ally taken over, however, by ouns cadres. If Kossar had been a
litle more broadminded—he had tremendous influence-—he might
have brought all Ukrainian nationalists into UNF and dealt with
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their internal problems there. Instcad. he made his decision, a
priori. cven before they started coming, that UNF was to be OUNs,
that the rest were rebels, dissidents, people who were *‘enemies.”
So the ounr had little alternative but to form a new organization,
They could have tried to go into UNF—a few at first did—and tried
to work inside it. Most didn't. Six of one, half dozen of another,
if “*fault’" is to be assigned. The refugees (DPs) could have settled
into our organization. They could have. It was a question of good-
will and adaptation—a logical approach. Some fault for the dis-
ruptive outcome rests on both sides.

At a funeral I attended recently in Lachine, Quebec, there
was a great steel fence in the cemetery, eight feet high, dividing
the cemetery of the old-time Ukrainians from that of the newcom-
crs. There's no difference between the people, but they're buried
on different sides of the fence—an iron curtain between the dead.
What have we learned when you see that sort of barrier? It’s all a
problem of education, as once there was a problem of education
between those who called themselves Ruthenians and the nation-
ally conscious people who titled themselves Ukrainians. The nps
could have merged with the old emigration in Canada. Today in
Lachine the majority of the graves are on the old side—an inter-
esting symbol. It's only in eastern Canada that you really see this
stand out so glaringly. In western Canada you don’t see it. Most
nps settled in eastern urban areas. The pDPs in western Canada were
a minority who fell easily into place, into established patterns. In
the cast. where they came in clusters. bigger groups, they kept
separate. ‘*“Why be swallowed by somebody else?’” they said.
*It’s better to be a big fish in a small pond than a sardine in an
ocean. ™’

So they took over or built new groups, for example, in Toronto
at 404 Bathurst Street where the Orthodox church came to be
dominated by newcomers. We once had a cuva there of two
hundred members. In 1940 when | was going overseas they gave
me a big farcwell. They have a history behind them. Today, it's
a totally. totally new Canadian cathedral—no CUYA, only onuM.
Not much linking the pre-World War Two people to the new ones
except the building. They took over the cathedral. Why? For its
identity. But that identity could have been preserved. continuity
kept, if there had been more of a *'joining together.”” Unfortu-
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nately. we pre-World War Two Canadian Ukrainians couldn’t on
our own produce enough priests. So we imported these DP priests.
But all of them—of the new immigration—had very little in com-
mon with us. So in St. Vladimir's Cathedral in Toronto you have
Rev. Foty, a newcomer, who followed Rev. Sametz. a pioneer.
What happened? The people who were there before left St. Viad's
and went to other Orthodox parishes—Long Branch or Scarbor-
ough—to be with their own and abandoned St. Vladimir's. Five
miles to St. Vlad’s is equal to five miles travelling into Scarbor-
ough. So the old-timers abandoned their church. pulled out. And
now the cathedral is almost totally a bp church. Of course, there's
a different evolution for the Ukrainian Catholics. Most of the
Catholics were West Ukrainians, whereas the Orthodox were psy-
chologically atomized. products of over twenty years of Soviet
rule. East Ukrainians of the postwar vintage are suspicious peo-
ple. It's a different mentality. For the Ukrainian Catholics it was
casier to find common ground. The barrier was really between
East and West Ukrainians, Orthodox and Catholic belicvers, the
OUN of the west, the individualism of the cast.

Thinking Back

[ spent a total of eleven years overscas. What did it cost me per-
sonally? I ended up flat broke and had to worry about my finances
and building my own life anew in Canada. My continual commit-
ment has cost me materially, for I never charged a price for my
labour or asked for a salary while we were overseas serving the
Ukrainian cause. Others became very rich. But who, at that time,
knew I'd be gone as long as | was? When | made the deal in
Winnipeg, | thought I'd be gone for only one year. I'm a good
touch, I guess. Nobody planned. In hindsight now, I don’t know
if I should have done it. By nature 1 think | would have, But 1
would never have married then or had children. | would have tried
to make it on my own. Once | married and we reached the stage
of having a family, it was not fuir to so impose on my family. |
owed them a better life. But the cause was there to be served
there was the principle of saving our fellow Ukrainians at stake.
‘That had been my father’s commitment—serving Ukraine—it was
innatc in me. Happily. I served, and my wife and children stayed
beside me. I'm thankful. For me it is a matter of calling. of feel-
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ing. Itis not tangible. You can’t even pin it down. [ was fortunate,
however, in having an understanding wife who telt much as I did
and went along with me.

[ wasn’t properly rewarded for my services by the Ukrainians
in Canada—barcly remembered—but [ don’t carc. I'm rewarded
by God and my conscicnce. It | had to do the same thing over
again, | suppose |1 would and | wouldn’t regret making such a
choice, nor would I worry about the consequences. | never had an
ulterior motive, never. | never even wanted to be a commissioned
officer except for tcsa’s sake. | gave, or tried to, all of myself to
them as my mother had done for me with her tremendous self-
sacrificc. | felt that here were pcople in nced and | should do
something for them. When [ was in cuya, teaching Ukrainian
school in the rcar and ucsa., | saw lots of Ukrainian work that
needed doing, many desperate souls lying around who had to be
picked up, brushed off and set back to work, helping themselves,
I committed myself and I've kept up. The war created an oppor-
tunity that you couldn’t have created yourself for begging. and we
grabbed it! 1 did what I could. as well as [ could and never for one
moment was there any thought ot personal reward or recognition.
‘There was only the satisfaction of doing something which needed
doing badly. I'm thankful to have served.



Chronology of Events

1914
Fcb. 8

1935
June

1939
Sept. 1

1940
Nov. 7-9
1940-41

1941
December

1943
Jan. 7

Jan. 31

May 2

June 22-24

July 31-Aug. |

Gordon Bohdan Panchuk born on a homestead necar
Peterson, Saskatchewan

Panchuk completes Saskatoon Normal School and
begins teaching in Yellow Creek, Saskatchewan

World War Two begins: shortly after, Panchuk enrolls
at the University of Saskatoon where he also joins the
COTC

vce is formed in Winnipeg

Panchuk transfers to the RCAF and is moved first to the
Munning Depot in Toronto and later to No. | RCAF
Wircless School in Montreal

Panchuk is posted overseas to Bournemouth, England
from where he is sent to Ulster, Northern Ireland

First Get-Together for Ukrainian Canadian service-
men and the Manchester Ukrainian community held at
the Ukrainian Social Club in Manchester; vesa is
formed; the president is Bohdan Panchuk

Panchuk clected president of the Ukrainian Social Club
in Manchester; Mr. J. Lesniowsky is secretary
Second Get-Together to cclebrate Ukrainian Easter and
Mother's Day: Rhys Davies, Mp, is onc of the special
guests present

First ucc Congress held in Winnipeg

Third Get-Together—the first to take place in Lon-
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August

September
Nov. 3

1944
Jan. 6-7

Apr. 13-16
Summer

Junc 6

Nov. 25-26

1945
Jan. 6-7

Jan. 18
Febh. 18

May
May §

May 8
June 21

June 27
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don—held at the Canadian Legion building

vesa selects the Vicarage building at 218 Sussex Gar-
dens, Paddington. where the Services Club is estab-
lished

First issue of the UCSA Newsletter distributed
Corporal Panchuk becomes Pilot Officer Paunchuk

Fourth Get-Together of vCSsA to celebrate Ukrainian
Christmas and first anniversary of the organization; p.
0 Panchuk re-elected president

Official opening of ucsa Services Club in London (the
fifth Get-Together)

Rev. S. Sawchuk (Ukrainian Orthodox) and Rev. M,
Horoshko (Ukrainian Catholic) arrive in England
D-Day—Ukrainian Canadian servicemen begin
encountering Ukrainian pprs; John Karasevich and
Bohdan Panchuk mentioned in the military despatches
First ucsA Get-Together in Brussels with Rev. Her-
maniuk celebrating the Divine Liturgy: Mykola lrab
appointed by CURB to head a Ukrainian relief commit-
tee in Belgium—the first group of this kind

Sixth Get-Together and second uCSA anniversary; a
Rome Get-Together held by Central Mediterranean
Theatre troops with Bishop 1. Buchko officiating
UCRF authorized by the Canadian government
Panchuk reprimanded by ucsa executive in London
for his activities on behalf of the Ukrainian pps; he
resigns in protest (not accepted); he remains president
of tcsa and active in refugee relief work

Stanley W. Frolick in Britain with €CG

Sceventh tesa Get-Together—a joint celebration of
Ukrainian Easter and Mother's Day; Manchester
Ukrainian mothers are especially honoured

v-E Day

On the advice of M. Hrab, Dmytro Andrievsky,
appointed to compile information on Ukrainian vps in
the American and British Zones of Germany, esti-
mated some 4.5 million Ukrainian pDps were there
Memorandum presented to sHAEF arguing that Ukrain-




July

July-Aug.

August

Aug. 20

Sept. 19
Nov. 10-11

Dec. 31

1946
Jan. 5-6

Jan. 19
Feb. 2

Feb. 7-8

1an DPs should be segregated from Poles and Russians,
that Ukrainian-language radio broadcasts should be
produced and that Ukrainian-language newspapers
should be distributed: requested clarification of repa-
triation question

Colonel A J. MofTitt issues orders which, in part, state
that neither the British nor American Military Gover-
nors of Germany recognize Ukrainian as a nationality;
both prohibit the formation of any Ukrainian organi-
zations and state that all Ukrainians will be treated
according to their citizenship: as Poles, Soviets,
Czechoslovaks, or “*Stateless”’

Mass issuing of Ukrainian Red Cross identity cards to
Ukrainian pps in Unterliiss area by L Burianyk and ¥
L Panchuk

Association of Ukrainian Soldiers in the Polish Armed
Forces created with its office at 218 Sussex Gardens
Major Syrotiuk. a Military Government official sta-
tioned ncar Kicel, sends telegram to vcsa London,
regarding the forcible repatriation from Flensburg of
non-Soviet Ukrainians

Operational records of CURB begin

Tenth ucsa Get-Together in London; the official clos-
ing of the Lcesa Services Club

CURB officially constituted by ucc

Rev. B. Kushnir, president of ucC and UCRE, visits
London to inspect CURB and visit the DP camps; the
cleventh vesa Get-Together to celebrate Ukrainian
Christmas

AuGB formed

Gordon R.B. Panchuk marrics Annc Cherniawsky in
London; shortly thereafter he returns to Germany to
continue his duties with the RCAF and the British Army
of Occupation on the Rhine

Meeting of the continental Ukrainian Relief Commit-
tees at CURB headquarters in London: representatives
included: Rev. Kushnir, B. Panchuk, S. Frolick,
D. Andrievsky, Mr. Shumowsky and members of the
Association of Ukrainian Soldiers in the Polish Armed
Forces



Feb. 9

Mur. 25
May 7

May 29

June 4-6
Aug. 10
Oct. 12

Oct. 14-19
Dec. 12

Dec. 17

1947
Jan. 25
Feb. 3
Apr. 5
May 24
July 31

Scptember
Sept. 11

Sept. 23

November
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CURB staff now includes: B. Panchuk as director, S.W,
Frolick as general secretary, Mrs. A, Panchuk as wel-
farc officer and Ann Crapleve as treasurer

First issue of Ukrainian Press Service appears

Mr. and Mrs. Panchuk return to Canada; S.W. Frolick
becomes director of CURB, aided by George Kluchev-
sky, treasurer

Scnate Standing Committee on Immigration and
L.abour holds hearings in Ottawa: debate between ucc
supporters and Ukrainian communists over desirabil-
ity of allowing Ukrainian DP immigration to Canada;
vec-—represented by Rev. Kushnir, Rev. Sawchuk,
John Solomon and B. Panchuk—is successful in its
lobbying cfforts

Second ucc Congress held in Toronto

LCVA presents its Renaissance Plan to ucc

CRM, later known as the Canadian Relief Mission for

-Ukrainian Victims of War, leaves for England; mem-

bers include: Mr. and Mrs, Panchuk. Anthony J. Yar-
cmovich and Ann Crapleve

ctrB again headed by Panchuk; Frolick lcaves for
Canada by November

A. Yaremovich posted to Lemgo in the British Zone,
Ann Crapleve to Frankfurt in the Amcrican Zone
First memorandum about the Ukrainian Division
**Galicia" issued by CURB

First issuc of CURB's The Refugee appears

Panchuk participates in PCIRO meetings in Geneva
The Panchuks visit Ukrainian st:p camp at Rimini
Transter of Ukrainian seps to England begins; by June
6 Panchuk greets first group of them to arrive in Shef-
field. England; skp status changed to pow

CrRM formally ceases to exist: its members placed on
individual expense accounts

Bill Byblow is acting director of CURB

By this date both Yaremovich and Crapleve have
returned to Canada

Panchuk arrives in Montreal and proceeds to Winni-

peg
Panchuk returns to England to be director of CURB;



Dec. 20
Dec. 31

1948
March
Aug.-Sept.

Dec. 11
Dec. 15

Dec. 28

1949
Mar. 12-13

Mar. 15

Apr. 16

May |

1950
Feb. 7-9
Aug. |

his contractual obligation is to remain in this post until
31 April 1948

Yaremovich and Crapleve sign scparate agreements
with UCRF to act as independent field representatives
in Europe

UUARC opens its Munich office with Mr. R. Smook in
charge

ALGB incorporated

Panchuk resigns as director of CURB: Yaremovich takes
over

Panchuk becomes second president of AUGB
Yaremovich resigns from CURB and returns to Canada:
Crapleve takes over as director of CURB

On this date cURB is formally closed by a Liquidation
Committee composed of Mr. Panchuk, Danylo Sko-
ropadsky and Ann Crapleve (chairman)

First issuc of the newspaper Homin Ukrainy published
in Toronto by S.W. Frolick

Mass protest strike called out throughout Britain against
the repatriation of sick and invalid Ukrainian pows to
Germany

Panchuk deposed as president of auGB by a coalition
of Hetmantsi and Banderivisi

Mr.and Mrs. E. Wasylyshen arrive in England on their
way to Biclefeld where Mr. Wasylyshen becomes
director of UCRF operations, aided by A. Crapleve. on
April |

Formation of Ukrainian Self Reliance Groups in the
UK. and Anglo-Ukrainian Clubs in Britain by Pan-
chuk: later FUGB is established to serve as an opposi-
tion to AUGB

Canadian LVU is formed in Toronto; S.W. Frolick
elected vice president

Third uce Congress held in Winnipeg
vcc authorizes Panchuk to be its European represent-
ative and maintain a Ukrainian Bureau in London
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1951
Dec. 21

1952

Fcb. 28
June
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Mr. and Mrs. Wasylyshen return to Winnipeg: Ann
Crapleve remains in Bielefeld as director of UCRF oper-
ations
Members of the Ukrainian Division “*Galicia®" are
finally granted Canadian cabinet approval to immi-
grate

Ann Crapleve leaves British Zone for England

Ann Crapleve leaves England for Canada
Panchuk leaves London to rcturn to Canada and become
head of the cBC's Ukrainian Section, International
Services: conclusion of Ukrainian Canadian refugee
relief and resctticment operations abroad



Appendix

WHAT IS OUR POLICY???
BRITISH ZONE - DISPLACED PERSONS

Prime Minister
Attlee opening
U.N.O. Conference:-

“I am glad that the
Charter of the United
Nations does not deal
only with Govern-
ments and States or
with politics and war
BUT WITH THE
SIMPLLE ELEMEN-
TAL NEEDS OF
HUMAN BEINGS
whatever be their race,
their colour, or their
creed. In the Charter
we reaffirm our faith in
fundamcntal human
rights. We see the
treedom of the indi-
vidual in the State as
an cssential comple-
ment to the freedom of
the State in the world
community of nations,
We stress, too, that

SUBIJECT: - HQ 30 Corps District

UKRAINIANS 219/DP
29 Dec. 45.

To:- Mil. Gov.

Detachments - Hannover, Bassum, Celle,

Oldenburg, Mappen,
Brunswick, Osnabruck.

1. H.M.G. do not recognize Ukrainian as a
nationality, and persons coming from the
Ukraine are classed as citizens of the country
in which they had their residence on 1 Sept,
1939. No rccognition can be given to any
Ukrainian Org. or rep. as such.,

2. All such persons who lived in Soviet terri-
tory arc compulsorily returned to the U.S.S.R.
under the terms of the Yalta agreement as soon
as they are proved to be such.

3. Ukrainians of other than Soviet citizenship
receive education and welfare facilities in the
language appropriate to their citizenship, and
for the time being it is impracticable for a vari-
ety of rcasons to publish books or other litera-
ture in Ukrainian,

4. All Ukrainian Organizations will be dis-
banded forthwith, and where they are estab-
lished outside camps, the representatives will
be brought into camps as normal D.P.'s. All
stationcry pertaining to these organizations will
be confiscated.
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social justice and the
best possible stand-
ards of life for all are
cssential factors in
promoting and main-
taining the peace of the
world.™’

THE TIMES
D. Jan. 11:46.

President of the Prep-
aratory Commission
and temporary presi-
dent of the General
Assembly:-

**The San Francisco
Charter which to-mor-
row we shall start to
bring into effect,
repeatedly stresses the
vital importance of
stimulating  in  the
world real respect for
fundamental libertics,
individual rights, the
dignity of man and the
dictates of justice as an
indispcnsable basis for
the maintenance of
peace and interna-
tional security.”’

The Times
D. Jan. 10/46

ALU.N.O.
Peace Conference.
London.
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S. Continuation of such activities is punisha-
ble under Articles 26 and/or 34 of Ordinance .

Brigadier,
Chief of Staff,
30 Corps District.

Ref;

U.S.A. ZONE - DI

C.H.P.L.D.
U.S.A. A.P.O. 758
Military Wiesbaden.

Government for 27th November 1945,
Gros-Hassen.

SUBJECT: Release of Sovict citizens, subject
to repatriation in accordance with
the Yalta agreement from labour
for the Germans in the American
Zonc.

I. The following information is extracted from

USFET letter AG388/7 GEC - AGO Subject:

Release of Soviet citizens subject to repatria-

tion, in accordance with the Yalta Agreement

from labour for the Germans in the American

Zone dated 7th November 1945.

2. The Scnior Sovict representative for repa-
triation at our main Headquarters claims that
the Sovict Commission on repatriation shows
18.919 persons in the Eastern Military Zone,
and 2,787 persons in the Westemn Military Zone
who he declares are Soviet citizens and subject
to repatriation in accordance with the Yalta
agreement.

He claims further that these persons arc work-
ing in German factories and on farms. He has



formally demanded that our main Headquar-
ters should forbid the German employers from
employing Soviet citizens.
3. You are requested to instruct the Ober-Bur-
grmeister or the ‘Landrat’ of every district that
they should take the necessary steps to forbid
German employers either private or public from
employing any Soviet citizens who may be
subject to repatriation in accordance with the
Yalta agreement. These employers should be
informed that only these persons who were
physically present in the USSR, and who were
citizens of the USSR on the 17th September
1939, and who were removed from the USSR
or left the USSR beginning the 22nd June 1941,
are to be considered as Soviet citizens subject
to repatriation in accordance with the Yalta
agreement.
4. Such Sovict citizens wil be assembled and transferred to the Camp at
Noukirchen organized under Soviet administration. Similarly you will
transfer from camps administered by UNRRA of Soviet citizens subject
to the Yalta agreement to camps organized under Soviet administration.
It is forbidden to support this assembly and transfer by using troops,
but no Soviet citizen subject to repatriation in accordance with the Yalta
agreement will be ablc to benefit from assistance and support in any
Displaced Persons camp after the 8th Dec/4S, except those camps that
are under Soviet administration.

(Sgd.) Robert Wallach, Capt.
for Licut. Col. Newman

U.S.A. ZONE - DISPLACED PERSONS (Continued)

Prime Minister A.P.O. 758
Attlee:- Sth Dec. 1945.

**I think. too, that at  U.S.A. Office of the Mil. Govt.
the prestime the ordi-  Stadtkreis und Landkreis Mannheim
nary men and women Dt. F 16 Ist Mil. Gov. Bn.

in cvery nation have a It is hereby announced that from 0800 hrs.
greater realization of gy December, all foor. shelter, etc.. for those
what is at stake. To  pigplaced Persons who have lived in the Kai-
make this organizalion (e Wilheim Caserne, and who in accordance
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a living reality we must
enlist the support not
only of Governments,
but of the masses of the
peoplc throughout the
world. They must
understand that we are
building a defence for
the common people..
.. Every individual can
be brought to rcalize
that the things that arc
discussed in confer-
ence here are the con-
cern of all and affect
the home life of every
man, woman, and
child. Without social
justice and security
there is no real foun-
dation for pcace, for it
is among the socially
disinherited and those
who have nothing to
lose that the gangster
and aggressor recruit
their supporters. ™
The Times,
D. Jan. 11146,
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with the Yalta agreement are Soviet citizens
are to cease forthwith.

All Soviet citizens are instructed to repon
at once to the Soviet Camp at Stuttgart. Those
who do not report will be considered as having
contravencd Military Government orders, and
will be seized here or in any other part of Ger-
many occupied by the Americans. will be
locked and will brought to Stuttgart under
armed escort. This action is to come into cffect
to 0800 hours, d. 8/12/45.

Similarily orders have been issued to all
forcign camps now in the American occupied
zonc. All local Burgomasters have bheen
informed that Soviet citizens are not to be
cmployed, and the German population must
rcfuse them food.

For the benefit of those who wish to be
transported to Stuttgart, transport lorrics are
available during the momnings of the Sth, 6th
and 8th of December.

Stamp of the Mil. Gov. Det.
at Mannheim.



URGENT AND CONFIDENTIAL

MEMORANDUM
ON
**DIVISIA HALYCHYNA"" A TOTAL OF ABOUT 9,000
SURRENDERED ENEMY PERSONNEL NOW IN RIMINI,
ITALY

Introduction.

In a Camp in Rimini, ltaly, under the control of the British Army,
there are held about 9,000 surrendered enemy personnel who were at
one time in German uniform although they are not classificd as prisoners
of war. The full details on this Division together with the story behind
its formation, the part that it played in the war as well as the reasons, are
well known to the British Foreign Office and to the British War Office.

The Division was organised towards the end of the war from
Ukrainian national, patriotic, humanitarian and religious reasons pri-
marily in order to save Ukrainian youth from being conscripted into the
regular German Forces to be used by the Germans at will and also in
order to assure that in so much as it was humanly possible to prevent,
the Ukrainians would not be used against the Western Allies. In both
these respects some success was attained. Under the pretext of longer
training and organising than was even rcasonable, thousands of Ukrain-
ian youth were saved from actual service in the German Forces and from
uscless sacrifice for a cause for which they had no love or respect. At
the same time by a special agreement forced from the Germans, not a
single one of the men in this Division was ever used in any shape or
form in the West.

Al the first possible opportunity this whole unit surrendered vol-
untarily to the British and American authorities.

Characteristics.
The chief characteristics of the personnel in this unit are:-

(A) they arc all very strongly and permanently Western minded. Many
of them have relatives and friends in Canada and the United States
and in countries in South America.

(B) They are all religious. The majority are of the Eastern Catholic
(Byzantine or Uniat) faith and are very strongly anti-Communist.

(C) They arc all educated and developed in the Democratic way of life.
This is chiefly due to the Polish citizenship which most of them had,
to their relations and communications with their friends and relatives
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in Canada and the United States prior to the war and to their general
Christian principles and Western mindedness.

(D) The majority of them are excellent agricultural and industrial
labourers and potential colonists. Most of them come from peasant
stock.

(E) The bulk of them arc young men between 18 and 30 ycars of age,
strong, virile and healthy.

In consideration of the characteristics listed it is submitted that the
personnel in this Camp at Rimini would make most excellent immigra-
tion material both from the point of view of colonisation and future
citizenship and also from the point of vicw of any Western country’s
sclf-defence.

(3) Their future - indefinite and critical and solution urgent.

In the matter of a few weeks or months at the most, the Treaty with
Italy will be signed. As soon as the Treaty is signed the British authorities
will withdraw their forces from Italy. This group of surrendered enemy
personnel, together with any others that may be in ltaly. in the same or
a similar position, will be left at the mercy of the Italian authorities. It
is felt that the Italian Government will be subjected to severe pressure
from the East. Both from economic and from political reasons it is feared
that the Italian Government might submit to pressure from the East and
that this group might be forcibly repatriated. From all Christian and
humanitarian considerations this would be a great tragedy. It would also
be from economic and political considerations a great loss to the Western
World.

(4) Assistance by the international refugee organisation will not be
granted.

According to the Charter of the 1.R.O. this category of personnel
come within the groups cxcluded from aid by the International Organi-
sation, in keeping with the definitions in Annexe 1 of the Charter passed
by the General Assembly. Any aid or assitance in any shape or form that
could possibly be granted to these 9,000 victims of war whose future is
so critical and uncertain must come from independent governments or
organisations.

(5) Possible solutions.

(A) That these people be moved to some other place of asylum in a
Western country more suitable than Italy as ordinary prisoners of
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(B)

(&)

(D)

war or surrcndered enemy personnel. In this capacity they could be
used as labour for post war reconstruction.

That the personnel of this unit be granted asylum in some country
or countries if not permanently then for a definite period of time
when they can be later moved or migrated again.

That the personnel of this unit be granted special citizenship of the
Vatican City or of some other country in order to make them eligible
for immigration and to give them some form of legal status. Such
legal status could also be obtained by some country rccognising
them as stateless and granting them asylum.

That an opportunity be given to them to immigrate as ordinary immi-
grants (refugees or displaced persons) to some country in South
America or North Amcrica, cither as individuals, groups of individ-
uals or as a unit, where they can settle and as naturalised citizens of
the country of their asylum and adoption they can contribute to the
growth and development of the country concemned.

Our voluntary Relief Organisations in Canada and the United States

who are vitally interested in the fate of these victims of war are prepared
to do everything in their power to provide or assist in providing the
means of transportation for these people provided a place of asylum or
immigration could be found.

From the strongest Christian and humanitarian principles of consid-

eration and with the sincere object and desire to help solve a serious and
critical post-war problem all the above is respectfully submitted.

(B. PANCHUK)
CENTRAL UKRAINIAN RELIEF BUREAU.,

London, England. December 17th, 1946.

139



REFUGEE SCREENING COMMISSION
REPORT ON UKRAINIANS IN SEP CAMP No. 374 ITALY
LACAB/18/RSC/RIC 21 Feb 47,

I. This camp consists entirely of male Ukrainians who were cither cap-
tured in German uniform or were working in Germany as civilians and
attached themselves to the Ist Ukrainian Division shortly before its sur-
render. The proportion of civilians is small, and doubt cxists about exactly
how many come into this category and about cxactly when they joined
up with the Division. | refer to this in more detail in paragraph 7 below.
The number of inmates varies from time to time due to escapes, transfers
to hospitals, etc.. but the figure on which we have been working, and
which was confirmed on 16th February by the British camp authorities
as accurate, is a total of 8,272, which includes 218 permanently employed
outside the camp on working partics. None had been screened previously
by any British authority and no British records either on individuals or
of a general nature were available to us here.

2. Individual screening by us being impossible, it was decided to ques-
tion a small cross section chosen in accordance with their Wehrmacht
formations. A full nominal roll broken up into these formations, was
prepared for us by the Ukrainian camp lcader, Major Jaskewycz, which
gave the following breakdown:-

1203 Offrs and  ORs of the  1st Infantry Regt of the 1st Ukrainian Div,

1,058 2nd Infantry Regt "
1,150 *° * 3rd Infantry Regt '
938 * ' Artillery (actually with 4th Regt) ™'
320 ¢ " Supply Section .
308 ' Engincer Bn.
205 7 ” Signals Unit
2.230 ¢ ' Recruiting Regt
76 " Workshop Coy. "
281 * Fusilier Bn. "
221 v " Sanitary Scction h
156 = " Anti Tank Scction
125 " Divisional Staff
4 v * Army Staff "
8.272

3. At the same time Major Jaskewycz gave us his version of the history
of the Ist Ukrainian Division and the various units that composed it. It
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should be emphasized that all these nominal rolls and the short history
of the Division were supplicd entirely by the Ukrainians themselves and
that we had no information here of any kind against which they could be
checked; and virtually none of the menhad any identifying documents of
any use, such as German Army pay books, though one or two of them
had pre-war Polish civilian identity cards. I feel satisfied, however, that
Major Jaskewycz has done his best to provide accurate and complete
information, as far as he was able.

4. Our next step was to select a cross scction of these people for ques-
tioning. We concentrated on the first three regiments and the Artillery
Regiment in order to try and build up a Battle Order. 50 officers and
men were chosen at random from the nominal rolls of these four regi-
ments, but in actual practice it proved impossible to question only 47 of
the 1st Regiment, 49 of the 2nd Regiment, 46 of the 3rd Regiment and
47 of the Artillery Regiment. A few others were chosen from the Signals
Unit, the Supply Scction and the Engineer Battalion, and 30 from the
Recruiting or Reserve Regiment. Except in the case of Mr. Brown, who
was able to question the men in Russian, Ukrainian speaking interpret-
ers. who were actually inmates of the camp, had to be used.

5. When the questioning had been completed the individual statements
of cach man were checked against cach other and against the information
supplied by Major Jaskewycz about the Division and its various units.
No serious discrepancies were discovered, nor did any particularly sus-
picious individual come to light, except in so far as some of them stated
that they had volunteered for armed service with the Germans as early
as July 1943, whercas the 1st Ukrainian Division does not appear to have
been formed until the late summer of 1944, Nincteen men were therefore
selected for further questioning, which disclosed that they had been
enlisted in the summer of 1943 in the Ist Galician Division or the 14th
Galician Grenadier Division. As it was not clear from the interrogations
whether this was one and the same Division or two separate ones, |
questioned the three senior officers in the Camp on this point, and estab-
lished that it was called by the Germans the 14th Galician Waffen Gren-
adicr Division and consisted of three Infantry and onc Artillery Regi-
ments. | do not see anything suspicious in some of the men not knowing
exactly what unit they were in, and they probably referred to it as the 1st
Galician Division because it was for them the first Division to be formed
out of Ukrainians from Galicia. This Division suffered hecavy losses at
Brody in July 1944 and ceased to exist. The Ist Ukrainian Division was
formed round its remnants. One of the officers of the 14th Galician
Waffen Grenadier Division has stated that it was originally called by the
Germans a Waffen SS Division but the SS was dropped from its title, on
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the Ukrainians protesting, and that it subsequently became an ordinary
German Army Division. It scems, however, to have had some S8 train-
ing, which would account for some of its officers having given their
ranks as **Untersturmfuchrer®’, which is an SS rank and not an ordinary
German Army rank.

6. As far as the Ist Ukrainian Division is concerned, the short history
supplied by Major Jaskewycz was borne out by the individual interro-
gations and we were able to draw up a nucleus of its Battle Order. The
Division appears to have been formed about September 1944 and actually
to have fought for only about one month in the late stages of the cam-
paign in Austria (April 1945); the rest of its time was occupied in training
and guard duties in Austria and Jugoslavia. It surrendered to us in Austria
in May 1945, The men we questioned were nearly all of the simple
peasant type, and made a good impression, showing no signs of either
prevarication or truculence; a high proportion of them, and, from what
we have seen, of the whole camp. are under 30 years ol age. | myself
questioned the three senior officers in the camp. Lt. Cols. Sylenko and
Nikitin, and Major Jaskewycz. The other senior officers. namely two
full colonels and one Lt. Col., were not available, but I feel sure that
their story is similar to the history of the others. These three officers’
stories were much the samc. They were all bom in the 1890°s in Russia,
became regular Tsarist army officers and fought in the 1914 war against
the Germans. After the revolution of 1917 they fought for the Whites
against the Bolsheviks in the Ukrainian Army: and when these hostilities
came to an end all three settled in Poland as political cmigrees with
Nansen passports. None of them has this passport now, but Sylenko
produced, as though it were a highly valuable object d'art, a passport
issued in 1918 by the Democratic Government of the Ukraine. He told
me with pride that this was now very rarc. They kept themselves in
Poland from 1922 to 1939 by working in various civil jobs and continued
in these jobs during and after the German occupation of Poland in 1939.
They claimed that their status as political emigres exempted them from
service in the Polish Army and all were insistent that they had never
acquired Polish nationality. Some of the men, however, admit to having
served in the Polish Army in 1939 and in a few cases were able to
produce authentic looking documents in support of their claim to Polish
nationality. No officer or man that we saw admitted to having served in
the Rcd Army, nor do I think it likely that any of these Ukrainians did
do so. About 10% are of the Orthodox faith. On the crucial point whether
any of them are Soviet citizens by our definition we have no cvidence
other than that supplied by the men themselves. Many of the places
which they have given as their place of birth and/or habitual residence
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are small villages and hamlets which are not likely to be marked on any
but the largest maps; but 1 think we can safely assume that the great
majority of those born after 1919 were born in Poland, and were resident
in Poland on Ist September 1939, and that the great majority of those
born before Poland existed were not resident in the Sovict Union on 1st
September 1939. The general impression which we have formed of all
the men in the camp is favourable, as they strike us all as being decent,
simple minded sort of pcople. The national emblem of the Ukraine, in
the form of a trident, is freely displayed all over the camp, and the
inmates clearly regard themselves as a homogencous unit, unconnected
cither with Russia or Poland, and do not seem conscious of having done
any wrong.

7. Qur attention has been concentrated on trying to build up a Battle
Order and a general picture of the Division, and we have for this rcason
paid no attention to any of the miscellaneous units except the Signals
Unit, the Supply Section, and the Engineer Battalion. Some of the real
villains of the piece, if there are any, may be sheltering behind these
innocuous sounding units, but that is a risk which we have to take. We
did, however, question 30 of the Recruiting or Reserve Regiment, the
largest single unit in the camp. We did not expect these interrogations
to throw much light on the Division as a whole, which proved to be the
case; but we were anxious to question some men in this regiment, as the
camp leader had told us that a fair proportion of them were really civil-
ians such as Todt workers. who had only attached themselves to the
regiment shortly before its surrender, as a means of escaping from the
Germans. 1t so happened that of the 30 men we picked, none admitted
to having been a Todt worker, although six of them said that they had
not been enlisted in the regiment until the early part of 1945, and that
before this date they had been working in various factories in Germany.
Time prevented us from pursuing the matter further, but this omission is
not important, as if any of the men were really civilians that must be
considered a point in their favour rather than the reserve.

8. During the course of our enquiries we discovered that nearly all these
Ukrainians had already been screened by an official Sovict Mission (they
were then in a different camp at Bellaria). The first part of the Soviet
Mission arrived on 13th August 1945, with the primary object of weed-
ing out all the Ukrainians who were not Soviet citizens according to the
Soviet definition, by which all people who were resident in that part of
pre-war Poland bounded on the west by the Curzon line and on the cast
by the then Polish-Soviet frontier were considered Soviet citizens if they
were still resident in that area by the time the Red Army occupied it in
late September 1949(?). 397 officers and men who had claimed not to
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be Soviet citizens, were screened by the Soviet Mission and 127 of them
were passed as not being Soviet citizens and were forthwith removed
from the Ukrainian camp (most of them are now back in it). The remain-
der were kept in the camp. On 17th August 1945 Col. Jakovlev arrived
in order to discuss administrative matters. He maintained that all those
left in the camp after the Soviet screening should be administered on
lincs laid down by the Soviet Union, and that they were eligible for the
scale of rations, clothing and pay to which free Soviet cilizens were
entitled under the Yalta agreement. This contention was rejected. Colo-
nel Jaloclev thereupon decided to begin a drive in the camp for voluntary
repatriation, and to break down the general resistance to such repatriation
by having what he called the **stubborn Fascist minority removed from
the camp. A supplementary Soviet Mission under General Vasilov arrived
on the 20th August for this purpose, but only succeeded in sccuring 50
volunteers for repatriation, who were forthwith removed from the camp
and reclassified as Free Sovict citizens. They arc presumably back in the
Soviet Union. The General and his personal staff left the camp on the
25th August, having met with a hostile reception and having apparently
abandoned any further attempt to secure more volunteers. The task which
General Vasilov had begun of identifying the stubborn Fascist minority
was continued by the original members of the mission who had arrived
on the 13th August and was not completed until the end of September.
Some attempt was made at thoroughness in dealing with the officers, but
most of thc men appear to have been treated in a remarkably high handed
and abrupt manner. When the mission had finished they stated to the
British authorities that a minority in the camp was definitely responsible
for terrorising the great majority from volunteering for repatriation, and
that once this minority had been removed from the camp most of the
remainder would eventually come forward as volunteers. 11 men were
in fact removed at the request of the Soviet Mission, but were subsc-
quently allowed by the British authorities to return. | am satistied that
there are no grounds for the Sovict Mission’s complaint of terrorisation.
No official report of their activitics was supplied by the Soviet Mission
to the local British authorities, and the information given in this para-
graph was supplied by Major Hills, GSI(b) of this Sub-Arca, who was
present when the visits took place.

9. The only effect, which the Soviet Mission’s visit appears to have had
on the Ukrainians, was to convince any waverers there might have been
never to return to the Soviet Union, and to causc a great deal of probably
justificd anxiety to those who still had relatives there. We must. 1 think,
accept as a definite fact, that all those Ukrainians now in Camp 374 who
were screened by the Soviet Mission—that is to say the great majority—
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arc now regarded by the Soviet Government as Soviet citizens, and that
having failed to secure their voluntary repatriation the Soviet Govern-
ment will demand their forcible repatriation as War Criminals when the
Italian Treaty comes into force.

10. Attached you will find the following results or our activities:-

+ i. Nominal rolls of all the inmates of the camp broken up into their
various Wehrmacht Units.

ii. Information about each unit supplied by Major Jaskewycz.

iii. Names of those chosen for questioning.

iv. Casc sheets of the results of this questioning (enclosed in a sep-
arate folder).

v. Summary of information taken from cases.

vi. Battle Order for the first three Regiments, the Artillery Regiment
and the Recruiting Regiment compiled from the individual ques-
tionnaires and from Major Jaskewycz's histories.

+ Note: These are not forwarded with this report.

1. We have thus obtained a reasonably consistant picture as far as it
goes, and as far as it can go within the limits of our time and resources.
The men may be all or in part lying. and even their names may be false.
No attempt at cross examination was made except where some obscurity
of glaring discrepancy was revealed during the course of the interroga-
tion; the work in fact which the screeners have done has largely consisted
of taking down through an interpreter the men's answers to a limited
number of set questions. If, however, we are to get anywhere we must,
and in my opinion, can safely. assume that by and large the men are
what they say they are and did what they say they did. It would seem
therefore that the only further screening processes that can usefully be
applied:

i. To see if any of the men listed in the nominal rolls figure in
UNWCC or CROWCASS lists or have been specifically accused by
the Russian or other Government of War Crimes.

1. To sce if any of the units to which the men belong have particu-
larly bad war rccords.

iti. To see if the short history of the various units and of the Division
as a whole, as ascertained by interrogation, corresponds to the
kKnown facts about them. It might be possible to locate some of
the German officers of the Division and have them questioned.
None are known to be in this area.

If this further screcning confirms the history of the units and pro-
duces no bad units and no wanted men, then the solution of the problem
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resolves itself into taking a decision on the following general consider-
ations.

A.

It seems likely that the great majority, at least of the men, are not
Sovict citizens by our definition. It must, however, be borne in mind
that an official Soviet Mission has questioned nearly all of them,
and that the Sovict Government merely regards nearly all of them
as Soviet citizens; and that there may be among them a number who
are Soviet citizens by our definition. We may therefore, if we get
them all accepted as D.Ps render ourselves liable to a valid charge
of sheltering Russian traitors. (It might be worth while noting in this
connection that on the nationality issue these men are really having
the best of both worlds. They do not qualify as Sovict citizens because
their place of birth and’or habitual domicile on 1.9.39 were in Poland,
and they therefore by our definition escape all punishment by the
Russians for their having assisted the enemy; and they are not pre-
sumably cligible now for punishment by the Polish authorities
because that part of the country from which they came is no longer
part of Poland).

The great majority of them voluntarily enlisted in the German Armed
Forces and fought against our Allies, Sovict Russia and Jugoslavia.
There are some grounds for believing that some of those whom we
have questioned have stated that they were volunteers, because if
they said that they had been conscripted they would then be told that
thcy would have nothing to fear if they returned to the Ukraine. The
number of volunteers may thus be smaller than would at first appear.
None the less, also allowing for intimidation, dislike of forced labour,
the majority for our purpose must be regarded as volunteers. There
arc, therefore, prima facie grounds for classifying them as traitors,
i.c. as ineligible for I.R.O. status according to the Ist section of
paragraph two of the definition sheet. The term ‘traitor’ is vague
and has been defined for our guidance by Professor Royse as
embodying, among other things, ‘civilians who voluntarily offer
their services to the enemy and, in general sense. people who gave
aid and comfort to the enemy’. This definition undoubtedly applies
to most, if not all, of these Ukrainians.

We must however | think take into account their motives for having
voluntarily offered their services to the enemy, even though by so
doing onc might be able, as a reductio absurdum, to prove Quisling
himself as eligible for 1.R.O. assistance. There seem to be four main
rcasons for their having taken this step.

{a) The hope of securing a genuinely independent Ukraine.
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(b) Without knowing exactly what they were doing. e.g. because
other Ukrainians whom they knew had already volunteered.

(c) As a preferable alternative to forced labour etc., or to living in
Sovict controlled territory.

(d) To have a smack at the Russians. whom they always refer to as
‘Bolsheviks’.

They probably were not, and certainly do not now seem to be at
heart pro-German, and the fact that they did give aid and comfort to
the Germans can fairly be considered to have been incidental and
not fundamental.

The desire among their leaders for an independent Ukraine. naive
and unreal as it is, is nonc the less genuine.

They are obsessed by a terror and hatred, bordering in some cases
almost on hysteria, of Soviet Russia. It seems clear that when the
Russians occupied Eastern Poland in 1939/40 many of these peo-
ple’s wives and familics were ruthlessly taken away from their homes
to Siberia and other remote parts of the Soviet Union and have not
been seen or heard of since. They also seem to have suffered a good
deal at the hands of the Red Army during the Russo-German cam-
paign, and also on occasions at the hands of the Germans,

Nonc of them wish to return to the Ukraine, with the exception of
one man, who, after sccuring an interview with one of the Commis-
sioners and stating to him that he did wish to return to the Ukraine,
was subsequently found to be suffering from the last stages of con-
sumption and was not expected to live very much longer. He is now
in hospital.

No one in the camp has been sentenced by any British military
authority to one year's imprisonment or over. Their behaviour indeed
since their surrender to us has been exemplary. They have not
indulged in any subversive activities, nor do I thing they will do so
in the tuture. They seem resigned to the fact that there is now no
place in Europe for them and that those of them who have wives
and families in Soviet Union will never see them again. We must
not, however, cxpect most of them ever to become well disposed
towards the Soviet Union.

12. I am not competent from here to judge the issue as far as our rela-
tions with the Soviet Union (or with Poland) are concerned: nor do |
know whether our policy is to interpret strictly or liberally the instruc-
tions as to who is eligible for DP status and who not. I can only speak
from the experience gained from our actually having seen the men and
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from humanitarian instincts common to us all: and on this basis and
taking into account the long time that has elapsed from the end of the
war, I rccommend most strongly that all these Ukrainians should be
classified as DPs: and I would add. with all the emphasis 1 can command,
that, if this is accepted, immediate action, not high-sounding resolu-
tions, is necessary cither to cnsure that the 1.R.O. or the 1.G.C.R. can
give them effective protection as DPs from being handed over to the
Soviet Government by the Italian Government under the Treaty, or to
have them removed lock, stock and barrel from ltaly before the Treaty
comes into force.

(sgd). D. HALDANE PORTER
Refugee Screening Commission
Incharge S.E.P. Camp 374.

ASSOCIATION OF UKRAINIANS IN GREAT BRITAIN, LTD,
(Registered under the War Charities Act 1940)

49 Linden Gardens, Notting Hill Gate. London, W, 2.
England. 8th April, 1948.

Dcar Sirs,

RELEASE AND RESETTLEMENT OF RIMINI GROUP. (Previously
S.E.P. in Italy and now P.o.W. in U.K.)

After a long period of waiting and endless efforts, pressure, pleas
and intervention, the fundamental principles for the release and rescttle-
ment of this particular category of Ukrainian war victims, which num-
bers over 8,500 persons, is now established. Following are the main
conditions of release.

I. Ukrainian prisoners of war now in Great Britain will be released and
demobilised as voluntary workers in exactly the same character as those
workers at present volunteering in Germany and Austria for employment
in Great Britain. At the time of release they will be issued with civilian
documents on which there will be no record or remarks of any kind
whatsoever to indicate that they had been prisoners of war. However,
all Ukrainians who were prisoners of war and who voluntarily accepted
employment in the U.K. and take their discharge are restricted to
employment in the agricultural industry.

2. All Ukrainian PW Camps will be visited by representatives from the
Ministry of Labour andfor the Ministry of Agriculture, who will carry
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out a form of recruiting and selection. All selected voluntary workers,
after having been accepted, will be medically examined and will be
required to sign a commitment and undertaking similar to that which is
being signed by the voluntary workers selected in Germany and Austria.

3. The British Government fears and regrets that, unless some other
convenient solution can be found, all those who are at present ill or
conlined to hospitals or unfit for labour for one rcason or another, will
be repatriated to Germany'.

4. The British Government does not accept any responsibility and will
make no commitments with respect to bringing to Great Britain the fam-
ilies or dependants of thosc who may accept discharge and employment
in Great Britain.

5. The transition period from their present status of PW to their civilian
status will be gradual and is expected to take a few months, depending
on demands for labour and accommodation facilities.

6. All those who make any arrangements or who have any possibility
of immigrating to Canada or the United States will be permitted to immi-
grate after civilianisation. That is to say. there will be no obstructions
whatsoever raised by the British authorities regardless of the undertaking
that they will have signed upon discharge. All those who have any pos-
sibilities of immigrating to any country in South America or to any coun-
try in Europe or clsewhere and who can give assurance that transporta-
tion is available and produces authorisations for visas,will be immedi-
ately documented and permitted to immigrate. The British Government,
however, will undertake no commitment for transportation und it is up
to the individuals themselves or authorised voluntary agencies or com-
mittees to cover the costs of transportation.

7. There is no question whatsoever concerning forced repatriation any-
where for anybody except, as has also already been stated. for those who
are scriowsly ill and unfit tor employment. These at present are under
the threat of repatriation to Germany so as 10 be loaded off on to the
German economy. All Ukrainians PWs, regardless of their geographical
origin (whether Western or Eastern Ukraine) may rest assured that all
danger of repatriation has now passed.

Itis desirable to add here that, based on conversations with officials
in the various Ministries of the British Government concerned. they have
no objection whatsoever to the Ukrainians remaining here or to their
emigrating onward if they have the possibility. It is difficult, however,
to persuade the Home Office, which is the first Ministry concerned
directly. to assume the burden and responsibility of keeping and main-
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taining the sick, the invalids and thosc who are unfit for employment.
This group consists specifically of the following catcgorics.
a) 238 soldicrs very seriously ill confined to three military hospi-
tals numbers 162, 99 and 231.

b) 122 temporarily ill who are confined to various sick bays in the

different camps.

¢) About 156 cripples, invalids and elderly persons. some of whom

arc completely unfit for physical labour, others are unfit for
heavy labour but could manage in lighter duties.

This roughly gives a tigure of 500 Ukrainians who are threatened
with repatriation to Germany. The fate that they can expect in Germany
is well known to all of us. Who will give them the necessary care and
maintenance? The Germans certainly will not assume any responsibility
for these **foreigners™ . What will happen to them should any changes
come about in the occupation arrangements? What is their hope or pos-
sibility of immigration anywhere. Taking all possibilities into consider-
ation, it is certain and obvious that they are doomed to a slow and tor-
turous death and liquidation. Heavy responsibility lies upon every
Ukrainian who is settled in employment and who is eaming whatever it
may happen to be. Itis estimated that if we were to take complete respon-
sibility for these pcople upon our own shoulders, organising our own
private hospital with our own doctors and stalf (which can easily be
done). a very minimum budget of 10,000 dollars a month is required to
start with. Can the Ukrainians living and employed in Western Europe,
in Great Britain, in Canada and the United States, provide this money?
In what ratio of importance are these S00 people who have offered prac-
tically the supreme sacrifice and who are now doomed only because fate
brought sickness upon them in addition to their other sufferings. Their
sacrifice for the cause of frecdom and in the battle against communism
is cqual. and perhaps much greater, than the sacrifice of any soldier who
fought during the war in the Allied Forces.

Action must be immediately started in order to persuade the British
Home Office to permit these men to remain in the United Kingdom and
to remove for ever the threat of their repatriation to Germany or any
other country where it would be humanly impossible for us to give them
the help that they so rightly deserve.

Action must, however, be started immediately and the general com-
paign sct in motion in order to obtain funds in order to give these people
the care and maintenance that they so rightly deserve. The comrades of
these unfortunates from among their fellow prisoners of war, those who
are stronger and healthier and whose chances of employment and free-
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dom have now been assured, have already agreed to tax. themselves at
a rate of l/—per week (1 dollar per month) for as long as it may be
required, and if necessary for ever, until such time as these men require
that help. Obviously, these payments can only be made after the soldiers
concerned have taken on employment. There is no doubt about it, that
the Ukrainian Voluntary Workers who have come to Great Britain from
Germany and Austria will also tax themselves in a similar manner and
perhaps an equal ratio. Based on the highest expectations and the greatest
faith in our fellow countrymen. we can count on only 50% of them being
able to honour their commitment. We are forced, therefore, to appeal to
all Ukrainians in Canada and all Ukrainians in Great Britain, to our
churches. to our organiscd committees, to all society wherever it may
be and to all our fricnds among the British, among the Canadian and
among the American citizens, to give to us that help. We are forced to
appeal to every human being who has any sense of appreciation for what
these men have suffered and sacrificed in the past. Practically every one
of them has lost his entire home and family to the unparalleled destruc-
tion spread by the communists. Their only hope for the future are their
fellow countrymen who were fortunate cnough to have reached Canada
or the United States or have come to Great Britain. Their only further
hope is in all those non-Ukrainians but friends of all suffering mankind
who can understand the plight of the refugees. displaced persons and
unfortunate victims of war following this last war. Any assistance that

you or any of your friends can give us in this present urgency,
a) by sending cables and petitions to the British Home Office in
order to persuade the British Government that these unfortun-

ates be permitted to remain in the U.K.. and

b) in order to gather funds and press hard a compaign which will
providc us with the ways and means of guaranteeing care and
maintenance and medical attention for these unfortunates,

would be sincerely and gratefully appreciated.

Yours
(G.R.B. Panchuk).



Memorandum
re:
UKRAINIAN **DIVISIA HALYCHYNA"’, (UKRAINIAN P.O. W,
IN GREAT BRITAIN). PREVIOUSLY “"SURRENDERED ENEMY
PERSONNEL'" IN RIMINI, ITALY.

Part 1. Introduction.

It is necessary and desirable to place on record certain fundamental
facts and information concerning this particular group of war victims
who constitute a particular category in themselves.

It is hoped that the information hercin contained will prove of value
and of interest and will aid in gaining favourable consideration with
regard to the suggestions and recommendations made in the conclusion.

Part I1. Historical Background.

1. The Division was organised towards the end of the war by the Ger-
mans in circumstances well known to everybody, exploiting in particular
the natural and inborn anti-communist and anti-Russian feclings and
convictions of the Ukrainians.

2. When it appeared incvitable that the Germans would organise such a
Unit, leading and outstanding Ukrainians for national, patriotic, human-
itarian and rcligious rcasons. interested themselves in the Unit in as
much as it was possible for them to do so.

3. The first conversations that the Germans had with the Ukrainians
concerning the formation of such a Unit were in March 1943, Prior to
that, the only Ukrainians serving with the German forces were:
a) individuals scattered throughout various German Units who had
been drawn in between the period 1941 to 1943,
and
b) the so-called **Ukrainian Legion®* which constituted a battalion
of about 800 persons formed originally illegally and under-
ground in 1940-41 preparatory for the Russian-German clash.
In 1941 small parts of this Legion were legalized and came to
Galicia with the *‘regional’” units of the German Wehrmacht.

Note: The conviction among all Ukrainians at that time was that the
Germans would assist, or if not assist then at least tolerate, the establish-
ment of an **independent Ukraine’. This, however, was soon proved to
be a false hope. The **temporary Government™ which established itself
in 1941 (without public support) was disbanded, all leading nationalists
werc arrested or liguidated and the remnants of the **Ukrainian Legion™
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were disbanded, arrested and placed into concentration camps. Those
who managed to get away went underground into the Ukrainian partisan
army.

4. The first announcements of the formation of the Ukrainian Division
"*Halychyna™ were madc to the Ukrainians in May 1943 by the Ukrain-
ian Central Committee. In the first announcements it was clearly pointed
out that the Unit was the beginning of the Ukrainian National Army and
that the service was for the Ukraine. A popular motto used in the recruit-
ing was **if you are being given arms — take them™". Another was, **take
advantage of your only opportunity to destroy communism and free your
native land’".

5. The appeals were dirccted firstly and primarily to the Ukrainian war
veterans of the 1918-1922 independence struggle and it was these vet-
erans who formed the nucleus of the Unit.

6. Posts were established throughout Galicia by the Germans where
“‘volunteers’’ could submit their applications. The methods in which
young men were “‘recruited’’ and the motives which prompted or per-
suaded men 1o join this Unit are dealt with in more detail further in this
memorandum. The Germans insisted, however, that regardless of how
the man happened to be **recruited’” and regardless of what the motives,
reasons or circumstances, he was compelled to sign an **application
torm’” declaring that he **voluntarily applicd to serve in Divisia Haly-
chyna®'.

7. Recruiting was restricted mostly to Ukrainians from Galicia and mostly
from the districts around Lviv. The chosen emblem for the Division was
the Lion which is the historical and national emblem of the Province of
Galicia (Lviv). Only later was recruiting extended to take in Ukrainians
from other regions and territories.

8. On July 17th the first transport of about 2,(X) was despatched for
training to Czechoslovakia. Training was conducted by the Germans in
German training centres.

9. In November 1943, two companies were despatched for training in
Francc in the Bay of Biscay regions which, after training, were brought
back and stationed in the area around Tamopol.

10. By agreement made between the Ukrainian Icaders and the German
high command, rhe Ukrainian Division was to be used only and exclu-
sively on the Eastern Front against the Russians. This agreement was
publicly announced and proclaimed and is on record as announced by
Himmler on the instructions of Hitler, Records of the proclamation are
still available in the Vatican,



11. The oath required to be taken by the Ukrainians was (freely trans-
lated), **1 swear before God and my native land to continue the fight
against communism to the bitter end....”"

12. In March.1944 the Division was beginning to take form. The smaller
units which were scattered for training purposes in various parts of
Czechoslovakia were assembled together at NEUHAMMER in Western
Poland (SCHLESEN ncar BRESLAU). In accordance with the general
policy for all non-German “*foreign™” units, the unit was termed Waffen
S.S. This should not, however, be mistaken for the actual German S.S.
in which only **pure bred”” Germans could serve. The Ukrainians were
permitted to have priests in their units, they were not given any S.S,
identity marks whatsoever and the terminology of their ranks and titles
were those of the Wehrmacht.

13. In June 1944 the first and only *‘pre-action’* manoeuvres were held
at Neuhammer. It was during these manoeuvres at a conference of all
officers when Himmler proclaimed the agreement made that **the Feuhrer
had consented to the demand of the Ukrainian Committee und agreed
that the Ukrainian Division Halychyna would be used only and exclu-
sively on the Eastern Front against the communists™”.

I4. The Division was incorporated into the Second Corps of the German
Wehrmacht and on July 14th 1944 sent to the front lines and took part
in its one and only major action at Brody, East of Lviv in Galicia. At
this time, the unit consisted of about 14,000 men, together with a rescrve
of about 2,000. It was during this period. one will recall, that the first
signs of brcakdown in the German political and war machine were evi-
dent. This was the period of the attempted attack on Hitler. the beginning
of the major Russian offensive, the period when large numbers of Ger-
man units were crossing over both to the Russian side on the east and to
the Allies on the west.

15. In the Battle at Brody. most of the Germans, as a result of the chaos
and conflicting reports which came down concerning the attempted attack
on Hitler, deserted the front line units and pulled out. The Ukrainian
Division was left alone to hold the line and in the battle was practically
annihilated. Many were destroyed in action; many were captured by the
Russians and immediately destroyed and massacred; a very small num-
ber. after being taken prisoner, managed to save their lives by pretending
to be Germans, (Ukrainians were automatically killed and were not taken
prisoners); many committed suicide and a very large number went under-
ground to join the Ukrainian partisan units in the Carpathian mountains.
About 3,000 of the entire 16.000 managed to save themselves and broke
through, reassembled themselves gradually via Kracow and points in
Hungary at Neuhammer.
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16. Upon their return to Neuhammer, they were all placed in concentra-
tion by the Germans who considered and treated them as *“traitors™".

17. During the last part of August and the carly part of September 1944,
instructions were reccived to form a new Division and fresh reserves
were brought up from the *‘recuits™” who were still being asscmbled from
everywhere.

18. For this **Second Division®" the recruiting campaign was **all out™
and spread in every direction. Ukrainians who had been serving individ-
ually in other German units were all transferred to the Division whether
they wanted to or not. There was **all out™ recruiting from labour camps
in Germany, Austria and all parts of Western Europe occuped by the
Germans, as well as from concentration camps in Germany and Austria,
cte.. and every means and method was used to compel every Ukrainian
physically fit to join the unit. It will be remembered that during this
particular period the Germans were very hardpressed for manpower (for
the Eastern front in particular) and all **alien”" and non-German man-
power was being mobilized to the utmost.

19. Training continued during the latter part of September and the carly
part of October. On September 23rd one battalion of the unit was moved
to Slovakia where they continued training and in addition their job was
to recruit “volunteers®” from the Slovak partisans to the Wehrmacht,
20. Itis desirable at this point to clear up a fallacy which intentionally
or unintentionally is spread, to the effect that the Ukrainian Division was
used by the Germans to help crush the Warsaw uprising. This is a com-
plete fallacy and cannot be substantiated since from every point of view
it was physically impossible for the Ukrainians to have taken part in any
action whatsoever during that period. The uprising took place on August
28th 1944 which was shortly after the Battle of Brody. During the time
of the rising the Ukrainian Division had just gone through its annihilation
and scattered units and individuals were making their way chaotically
back to Neuhammer for reorganisation. The Division was nor rcorgan-
ised in any form until during the latter part of September.

21. During the months of October, November and December, and the
carly part of January, the entire Division was gradually moved to Slo-
vakia to continue training. They remained there until the latter part of
January 1945,

22. On January 27th, general evacuation started westward in the direc-
tion of Vicnna and the Province of Corinthia in Austria. In Austria the
unit continucd training and was also used in mopping up operations
against the Tito partisans. The unit remained in Austria from early Feb-
ruary until the capitulation in May.
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23. During this period. a number of attempts were made to cross over
to the British who were coming up from Italy and contacts were ¢stab-
lished with the British forces. After one such attempt in March, the
Germans disarmed the centire unit and placed them under concentration,
but with the approach of the Red Army arms were returned.

24. On April 8th, the united was again in minor action against the Red
Army at Feldbach and area.

25. On May 8th the unit was successful in crossing to join the British
forces and on May 6th the first official meeting was held with British
officers at Klagenfort. The surrender took place at Klagenfort, Feld-
kirchen and other points in the Province of Corinthia. Arms were not
removed from the unit; in fact. in many cases more arms were issued
and the unit was instructed to cross over to ltaly. The move beginning
on May 28th ended up (via Udine, Balaria, etc.), at Rimini.

Part I11. Methods and Sources of Recruiting and Criteria for
‘‘Volunteering”’.

I. Itis a historical fact that the Ukrainians have always strived for their
political independence and have endeavoured to take advantage of every
opportunity which might give them the slightest hope of making a con-
tribution towards the independence of Ukraine. These efforts were best
exemplified during the period 1918-1922 when the independent Ukraine
was established and recognised.

2. A fair number of World War | veterans took advantage of the oppor-
tunity to get arms and ammunition and additional military training in
order to fight against thc communists which were always considered as
the greater of two evils,

3. A very large number of youth were encouraged to take advantage of
the opportunity to get arms, ammunition and training in order to subse-
quently join the underground partisans.

4. Until the outbreak of war in 1941 the Ukrainians were equally con-
sidered by the Russians (Eastern Ukraing), the Poles (Western Ukraine)
and by the Germans themscelves, as a dissident clement that could not be
trusted and, therefore, they were not admitted into any of the regular
units for military scrvice. Ukrainians took advantage of the first and only
opportunity available and possibly hoping thus to form the nucleus of a
Ukrainian Army, as they had after the first World War, in order to con-
tinue the struggle for Ukrainian independence.

5. Slave workers in Germany *‘voluntecred’” in order to take advantage
of the only opportunity to get out of the slave labour camps.
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6. Pcasants and the sons of peasants *‘volunteered'” so as not to be
“*home™ when the Russians returned. having already experienced Rus-
sian occupation in 1939-41.

7. Young men **volunteered™” in order to escape being drafted into other
German units since the Germans were mobilizing all youth physically
fit.

8. Those who were in concentration camps or who were threatened with
concentration camps *“*volunteered’. 1o escape from the threat or the
camp.

9. Ukrainian prisoners of war held by the Germans were offered the
opportunity to “*volunteer™ to go into the Ukrainian Division.

10. Ukrainians who had previously been drafted to other German units
were offered the opportunity to **volunteer'” for transfer from these Ger-
man units to the Ukrainian Division.

Il. An organised secret plan and agreement existed among the Ukrain-
lans themselves whereby Ukrainians from the underground partisan army
**volunteered™’ to join the Division, took training and deserted again.
12. Frequent raids were conducted by the Germans throughout the
Ukraine and all young men picked up during such raids were given the
choice of either slave labour in Germany or to **volunteer™ for service
in the Division.

13. Civilian stragglers and camp followers attached themselves to the
Division during the move from Slovakia to Austria in order to evacuate
themselves before the approaching Red Army.

14. Special **privileges™ and the right of evacuation for families and
dependants were offered as an incentive to tempt and to encourage sons
and husbands to *‘volunteer’ to preserve and save their familics and
dependants.

15. During their time in Slovakia, young boys who had previously been
mobilized for *‘Fatherland Service' in such duties as anti-aircraft, pioncer
corps, light general duties, cte., were transferred to the Division and
given an opportunity to **volunteer™.

16. German Police and Wehrmacht made regular and periodic raids on
villages, searched for youth and drove them away in lorries to **volun-
teer”’ for slave labour or military service.

17. During the German retreat. it was the policy of the Germans to
forcibly evacuate all males before them. These were either mobilized on
the spot during the evacuation or concentrated in points and then mobi-
lized. All of these were given an opportunity to *‘volunteer’’. All
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Ukrainian *‘partisans’” who were captured by the Germans were faced
with immediate execution or given the opportunity to “*volunteer’ for
the Division.

18. A few thousand stragglers. camp followers and deserters from slave
labour camps and other working units in Austria. attached themselves to
the unit after capitulation in order to take advantage of the opportunity
to cross over into Italy.

19. Many Ukrainians from the Polish Army in ltaly deserted to join their
own nationals, preferring to suffer the same fate. and often to join their
relatives or close friends. No doubt a certain number of individual **for-
tune hunters’ and adventurers **voluntecred™ for domestic reasons, for
personal reasons, in order to find some **hope’” for **security'” for them-
sclves or for their familics and dependants or because they had nowhere
clse to go and no other alternative.

Part IV, Statistics and Chief Characteristics.

I. INTRODUCTION On the basis of a survey conducted recently, cer-
tain information concerning the various camps in the United Kingdom
where Ukrainians are located might prove of interest. It should be pointed
out that while the informations is not final and complete, it does give a
fairly good overall picture of the chief characteristics.

2. The final date of the survey is March 3rd 1948, At that date there
were 8,361 Ukrainian POW in the U.K. They were distributed through-
out camps and hostcls as follows:-

Camp No. 16, Haddington, -965, Camp No. 85,  Bly, -29¢6,
Camp No, 17, Sheftield. - 73, Camp No. 85,  Cheveley, - 88,
Camp No. 51, Allington, -595, Camp No. 85,  Saham, - S0,
Camp No. 53, Sherburn, <139, Hosp. No. 99, Shugburough Park. -84,
Camp No. 56, Botesdale, -840, Camp No. 122, Scrubs Lanc. - I8,
Camp No. 79, Tattershall Thorpe,  -474, Camp No. 153, Spalding, - 50,
Camp No. 82, Fakenham, -878, Camp No. 156, Wellingore, -698,
Camp No. 82, Cooley Cley, -551, Hosp. No. 162.  Nabum. -104,
Camp No. 82, Langham, -180, Hosp. No. 231, Redgrave Park. - 99,
Camp No. 82, Matlaske, -346, Hosp. No. 232, Blockley, - 5
Camp No. 85, Victona. -462, Camp No. 249,  Carburton, 625,
Camp No. 85, West Tofts, -293, Camp No. 298, Barony Camp, 452,

3. According to qualifications and professions of the various camps. the
following roughly was the distribution:-

Agricultural workers -4,322
Ordinary unskilled labour - 8l6
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Technicians and skilled workers
Tradesmen

Teachers

Administrators

Other trades

680

4. As an additional supplementary survey, there is the attached appen-

dix showing in detail the various trades and skills available.

S. Classification according to age:-

Under 20 years

Between 20 and 25 years
Between 25 and 30 years
Between 30 and 40 years
Between 40 and SO years
Over 50 years

Unknown (information not available)

44

-3.341
-2,586

-1.574

-

456
110
250

6. Information concerning dependants. close relatives and next-of-kin-

figures given refer to PWs.
Those who have:-

(a) Dependants and close relatives in the Ukraine or in vadous other

termitonies of the USSR (Siberia, etc.).

(b) Dependants and close relatives in other countries under Soviet uccupation,

(¢) Dependants in Germany.

(d) Dependanis in Austria,

(¢) Dependants in other European countries,
(N Dependants in Canada,

(g) Dependants in U.S.A.,

th) Dependants in Argentine,

(1) In other non-European countries,

Without dependants or immediate close relatives,
Unknown, (information not available),

7. The following is a classification according to marital status:-

Marmied and having children
Married, without children
Unmarmied

Not known

8. According to religion the following is the classification:-

Ukrainian Greek Catholic (Uniat)

Ukrainian Greek Orthodox (Autocephalic)

Other religions
Unknown (no information)

-1,327

498

-6,286

250

7,234

-

860
17
250
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9. It is interesting to note how the study of the English language has
improved since the last survey made in October. At present the picture
is somewhat as follows:-

Those who know English well - 232

Those who know well enough to read and understand - 835

Those who are studying it and know clementary panciples  -2.600

10. Classification according to health was as follows:-

Seriously ill. some long term -170
Mild illness -135

Invahds and those partially or
wholly unfit for heavy labour -182
Total 487

Note Since their arrival in the U.K. 12 persons have died. 117 persons
have been “*repatriated’ on their own request to Germany.

1. The following was the picture with regard to employment:-

Those employed in physical labour outside of camps -4,262
Those employed in camp administration -1.434
No information concerning - 965

12. Social, Cultural and Spiritual Welfare.

a) Throughout the camps available for the use of the PWs was a total of
20 church chapels, 17 theatrical halls, 21 suitable halls tor reading rooms,
ctc., 13 suitable sports grounds, two suitable classrooms, 2 billiard halls,
In addition to these, 7 different camps had permanent organised exhibi-
tions of arts and handicratt.

b) 19 camps or hostels had libraries. (no information is available from
5 camps). These libraries contained a total of 2,979 Ukrainian books,
2,537 English books, 2,739 German books and smaller quantities of
books in other languages.

¢) Among the enterprises organised and operated by the men were 13
choirs, 11 orchestras. 6 dramatic groups, 5 dance ballets, 7 wood carving
clubs, 14 football tcams, 2 ping-pong tcams, as well as various compe-
titions in chess, ctc.

d) Since their arrival in the UK., the following entertainment has been
organised and provided:-

6S concerts and festivals,

36 stage and dramatic revues,
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525 picture shows,

205 speeches and 32 shows provided by guest artists.
In addition to these, the PWs have given a total of over 25 concerts for
charity and welfare purposes to voluntary workers and to the British
public, usually sponsorcd and organiscd by the local churches. neigh-
bouring EVW hostels or by the Association of Ukrainians in Great Brit-
ain.
¢) 8 camps have their editorial boards and publish bi-monthly journals
in the Ukrainian language, 2 camps have organised daily radio broadcast
of news to every hut and one camp publishes its wall newspaper.
1) No permanent educational courses were conducted but 18 camps held
fairly regular courses for teaching English, 3 camps operated courses to
teach driving and chaffeuring, 4 camps had organised self education and
social welfare, 1 camp operated a secondary school. 2 camps conducted
studies of English literature, | camp organised a study group in history,
I operated a study circle in physics and mathematics and | operated a
class in national folk dancing,
13. Emigration The following were the emigration sentiments shown
by the men:-

a) Voluntarily preferming to remain in the United Kingdom, -2.618

b) To immigrate to countries 1n Westem Europe, - 296

¢) To immigrate to Canada, -2,980
(only 644 huve the necessary affidavits of support)

d) To immigrate to U.S.A., -1,185
(only 365 have the necessary affidavits of suppon)

¢) To immigrate to Argentine, - 551
(only 55 have the necessary affidavits of support)

N To immigrate to other countries, - 186

(of these 8 had affidavits of support)
2) Undecided,
14. General Characteristics.
a) All the men are very strongly and permanently Western minded and
fairly well educated and developed in the democratic way of life as
understood in the West. This is chiefly due to the large number of rcla-
tives and friends in Canada, the United States and in countries in South
America. and also to the fact that most of them ere pre-war Polish citi-
zens (Ukrainian Province of Galicia). Their religious Catholic training
also had bearing on these characteristics,
b) They arc all very religious, mostly of the Eastern Catholic (Byzantine
ritc). Their demands for spiritual welfare surpass all our means and abil-
ities to provide these services.

.
N
&
N
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¢) Politically they are almost violently anti-communist and opposed to
all forms of autocratic Government. They have practically all experi-
cnced Russian occupation during the period 1939-41 and practically
cveryone has suffered directly (either personally or through his family)
from the communist regime in the USSR. Although slightly to a lesser
degree, they equally dislike the Germans and the Poles — for the same
historical reasons.,

d) The majority are of peasant stock with agricultural training or cxpe-
rience to a greater or lesser degree. All of them are potential settlers and
colonists.

Part V. Effects of the Past Three Years.

1. The Division crossed over from Austria to Italy during the latter part
of May and the early part of June 1945. While about 2,000 or so strag-
glers, camp followers and workers from labour camps, etc.. attached
themselves to the unit in order to get across to ltaly, a large number of
soldiers from the Division itself did nor go the Italy but stayed behind in
Austria. Of these about 5,000 went straight into civilian life and became
DPs. having joined with their families or relatives or friends who had
also evacuated westward as refugees, while about another 3.(X0) were
taken by the Americans as POW, kept as POW from a minimum of 6
months to a maximum of [ year and subsequently released as civilians,
These latter also became DPs and went into DP camps.

2. Of those who went across to ltaly and were subsequently interned in
the SEP cage at Rimini, about 1,000 to 1,50 left the camp during the 2
years in Italy. Most of these made their way across the Alps back to
Austria or Germany; others **settled’’ in ltaly; still others were picked
up by the ltalian Quaestura and placed into ltalian concentration camps
such as Lipari, etc.

3. Of those who were successful in getting across to Austria and Ger-
many and legalizing themselves there as DPs, a fair number have emi-
grated to various countries. Some are coming to the U.K. as EVWs,

4, The group of 8,500 who are now in the U.K. are the remainder of
those who were most disciplined, most honourable, most loyal to their
unit and to the traditions of solidarity which they had always displayed,
and those who chose to follow the truc, honest and legal path. They had
opportunitics to stay behind in Austria but they remained with the unit.
Muny more could have cscaped from ltaly but they remained loyal to
British discipline. They could have been much more ditficult to hundle
and had many opportunitics and rcasons for complaint, but they managed
to restrain themselves and to control themselves. The fact that many oth-
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ers of their wartime comrades have long been free and many of them
rescttled is well known to them and they rightly ask themsclves now —
docs it pay to be honest and loyal and disciplined?

5. During the 2 years in Italy they were kept as “*Surrendered Enemy
Personnel™ (SEP). This did not give them the common privileges of pay
for officers, etc.. allowed to prisoners of war under the Geneva Conven-
tion. On the other hand, they psychologically felt themselves a category
higher than prisoner of war, not having at any time fought against the
Western Allies and not having been captured as war prisoners. To a
certain extent, therefore, they felt that even the classification of SEP was
to some extent acknowledgment and reward for having voluntarily sur-
rendered and for not having even taken part in any action against the
Western Allics.

6. On being brought over to England in May and June of 1947, they
were classified as ‘‘Prisoncrs of War™' (POW), their date of capture
being their date of arrival in the U.K. or departure from Italy. This
category of classification they rightly feel has been a “‘lowering'* of
status and they wonder why?

7. The Jugoslavs who constituted a similar unit of about 12,000 were
movced to the British one at the same time when the Ukrainians were
moved to the U.K. a vear ago. Thev were all released almost immedi-
ately in the British Zone as DPs, many of them have emigrated and are
still emigrating under [RO auspices. Many are coming to U.K. as EVWs,

8. Literally thousands of Jugoslavs (ex-German forces) who *“went into
civilian status® on their own initiative in Italy were granted DP status,
made eligible under IRO constitution and have emigrated at IRO expense.
Those who could not or would not, are still in DP camps under IRO care
and maintcnancc in ltaly.

Part V1. Important Considerations.
I. These persons are not German, have never lived in Germany, have
nothing in common with Germany and Germany to them is a foreign
country.

2. There is no qucastion of *‘repatriation® for after all **patria’” mcans
Motherland and their Motherland is the Province of Galicia of the Ukraine.

3. The question of the threatened deportation to Germany of those who
might not prove suitable or physically fit for agriculture, (the sick, the
invalids and any other similar categories.) is a very important question
of PRINCIPLE. If it is accepted that persons having been employed in
Great Britain are subject to be deported to a foreign country in the event
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of their contracting an ailment, it is feared the same fate may meet all
who may now volunteer to remain and who would prove suitable. This
threat, that on the basis of a precedent the same situation may recur
again, is now becoming more and more widespread among foreign work-
ers.

4. Decisions with respect to this group of unfortunate war victims are
long overduc and must be taken soon. For two years they were kept in
Italy as ‘*Surrendered Enemy Personnel™ without any decision being
taken. For almost a year now they have been in this country as **Pris-
oners of War®'. Those who did not go to Italy or who chose *‘repatria-
tion’’ to Germany havc since then emigrated and become resettled. The
War Office has received strong instructions that all PW camps in this
country must be closed as soon as possiblc. General public opinion is
also pressing in the same direction. It is, therefore, urgent and pressing
that a quick and final decision be taken with respect to the entire group
in principle and with special respect to the sick. the invalided and those
partially fit for employment whose future is uncertain.

5. Itis known that Soviet Russia demands the REPATRIATION of all
such people and especially those from Polish Ukraine, but by Russian
decree they are forbidden to return to Galicia (Halychyna) which is their
native land and province and which has now been annexed to Russia
although it never in history belonged to Russia.

6. The high standard of education and agricultural training which is so
evident among these people is largely, and perhaps entircly, due to the
fact that this territory (Galicia), which was their homeland, has for over
200 ycars been under the influence of Vienna.

7. This group of war victims does not come within the mandate of the
IRO and any of them who might be deported to Germany are not at
present eligible for IRO care. maintenance and protection.

8. Should any be deported to Germany and placed into British camps,
for which NO provision has been made, the British taxpayer would still
be responsible for their care and maintenance.

9. If, as contemplated, some of these non-Germans are deported to Ger-
many and handed over to the Germans, who are already overburdened
with German refugees, the Germans will seek the first and cvery oppor-
tunity possible to get rid of them by handing them over to Soviet Poland,
which in fact means Soviet Russia. Cases have been known where even
sick people have been handed over to the Russians.

10. There is no need to stress and emphasize the lamentable feeling and
sense of social insecurity which would spread among all the other mem-
bers of the unit in question and among the foreign workers generally in
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this country, if it becomes public knowledge that persons are deported
for health reasons to a foreign country after having been for three years
kept as prisoners of war,

Each and every Ukrainian worker in Great Britain, as well as all the
other stronger and healthier men among the prisoners of war. together
with thousands of Canadian and American citizens of Ukrainian origin.
are at present disturbed concerning the future of this group of war vie-
tims.

Part VII. General Suggestions and Recommendations.

I. That immediate action should be taken to start demobilizing and dis-
charging these men to civilian status, unconditionnally.

2. That, except for those who for security or other reasons might be
considered unsuitable or unsatisfactory as settlers in this country (none
arc envisaged), all those who wish to accept employment in the U.K. be
given the opportunity. This would save the trouble of recruiting in Ger-
many and costs of transporting voluntary workers from Germany to this
country.

3. The decision alrcady taken that the majority should be engaged in the
agricultural industry meets with general agreement and approval. Some
cxception must be made with regard to those who for onc rcason or
another are unfit for agriculture but can be well utiliscd and employed
in some other industry, such as mining, textiles, domestic. industrial
(factory) work, ctc.

4. That the help and co-operation of the voluntary agencies at present
cxtending relief and welfare to Ukrainian War Victims in Western Europe
should be solicited and utilised in the general civilianisation and resct-
tlement programme and. if necessary. that they should be permitted to
materially assist in the care and maintenance of those who might other-
wise entircly become a charge on the country and Government.

5. That thosec who can make their own arrangements to immigrate to
Canada or the United States or Argentine or any other country in order
to join their close relatives or families. should be given every opportunity
and facility to do so.,

6. That the Association of Ukrainians in Great Britain, which organi-
sation is directly and immediately responsible for their present particulur
welfare should be given the rlg_,ht and opportunity to set up a private
camp or hostel, privately and independently operated, in order to assist
in the care. maintenance and resettlement of the hard-core of the group,
whose ultimate resettlement and employment will take a considerable
time.
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7. That such a private camp or hostel be given cvery necessary assist-
ance and support from the Government authoritics from the point of view
of obtaining supplies, facilitics, pecrmission to place in selected employ-
ment, permission to organize private self-supporting enterprises, etc.

8. That more sympathetic consideration be given o permitting entry to
the U.K. for the wives and children of those who volunteer to remain in
this country as voluntary workers in the U.K.

(G.R.B. Panchuk).

218 Sussex Gardens,
Paddington,
London, W.2.

May 31st, 1948.
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